B
H HUABAO

HUABAO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
a0 B B e A R A A

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
(7 B RAE G Mo 2 AR AN AT
(Stock Code IR {3 1X3% : 00336)

Annual Report

2021
B



Contents

Bk

N

N

11

41

49

72

76

120

129

131

132

133

135

137

260

262

P

Corporate Information

NSIE-¥cs

Financial Highlights

B %51 2

Company Profile and Corporate Culture
SEEN REEXE

President’s Report

BEBESE

Management Discussion and Analysis
EIRE S kAT

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
BEXNERERERE

Corporate Governance Report

rEERRS

Investor Relations Report

REEBERS

Directors’ Report

ExeRs

Independent Auditor’s Report

¥8 3 A% BRI

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
magRRR

Consolidated Income Statement

raliaEmk

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
merzmkER

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FARREHE

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
FARTRER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR EmR M Q
Five Year Financial Summary

hEMBHRE

Glossary
o=
Ellea:

_;;;;@A




Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady & CEQ)
Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman)

Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman & President)
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President & Company Secretary)

Ms. LAM Ka Yan
Ms. CHOY Man Har

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Ms. MA Yunyan
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu (Chairman)
Ms. MA Yunyan
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu (Chairman)
Ms. MA Yunyan
Mr. XIA Liqun

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady)
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Ms. MA Yunyan

Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN

Ms. LAM Ka Yan

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok FCG, HKFCG, FCPA (Aust.)

AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor

LEGAL ADVISOR
Herbert Smith Freehills

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k AR 2 7] 2021 Annual Report &5

DNEEH

Exg

BITES

AMBELL (ZEREEHITE)
METERE (BELE)
BB E (B ERAEE)
BB (BERFLARE)
MBI L

EXNBXL

BYEHITES
ZRIREE

i B L

Jonathan Jun YANZE 4

EZEE®

TR E(EE)

il & 3% 2 +

Jonathan Jun YAN%E 4

FHEES
FHEE (FE)
i B 3 2+
BAEEE

REZE®
IMELZ T (£/E)
TR E

EFut

Jonathan Jun YAN%: 4
MEMT L L

DNAEME

SERBE 4% HE FCG, HKFCG, FCPA (Aust.)

B ED

7 SR oK B & A AR S5 A
I ES- ]
AR T 2 B R AP
EEEB
SEEREBEMEHFT



Corporate Information
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Financial Highlights

MBERE

2021 2020
—E=-—-F —ETFF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBF T
Revenue - 3,882,683 3,854,058
Gross profit EH 2,296,662 2,442,407
Gross profit margin EFIE 59.2% 63.4%
Operating profit e E A 1,114,477 902,792
EBITDA margin#* EBITDAZR# 43.5% 43.4%
EBIT margin EBIT= 28.7% 23.4%
Selling and marketing expenses to sales HELMMGHEERNESELX 7.5% 8.2%
Administrative expenses to sales THEZGHES TR 21.7% 21.3%
Profit for the year NG 895,784 668,439
Adjusted profit for the year” KRR 2 RNFERF 1,189,054 1,163,937
Profit attributable to the equity holders of the ZAN/NCIE - EE SRS DN X
Company 675,131 418,399
Adjusted profit attributable to the equity holders #E % 2 AR FIRERIFTAE A
of the Company* FEAE BT 968,401 913,897
Basic and diluted earnings per share (RMB cents) GRRER REE AT (AREH) 21.70 13.46
Adjusted basic and diluted earnings per share KRB BRERNEERR
(RMB cents)* (AR%5)- 31.12 29.41
Net cash generated from operating activities EEESELE RS T 1,413,246 1,455,231
Net cash* FIRE* 2,578,651 3,627,366
Total equity 1B 15,718,819 13,694,249
Final dividend per share (HK cents) FHREIAR AR S GBI 2.0 9.0
Total dividend per share for the year FRFERE (GBI 8.4 15.0
Dividend payout ratio for the year* FERE R 32.3% 95.7%
Debt ratio* B &t x 6.9% 22.8%
Current ratio (times) MENEL & (fF) 4.2 4.6
Liquidity ratio (times) REY LK (F) 3.7 4.2
Inventory turnover (days) FEFE#EX(A) 199 228
Trade receivables turnover (days) FEUWBR KA R (H) 87 91
Trade payables turnover (days) FETERFRAE R (H) 65 73

[EBITDAZ | ZR [ F « FILE - #TE - #55 I
B BEEZ B & REE R ET 8 EF R E
eI

L “EBITDA margin” equals to “Earnings before taxes, interest, *
depreciation, amortisation, share-based compensation expenses and
impairment of goodwill” divided by “Revenue”

Wk EZE2021F 1231 H 1F F/Z.2 528 E A
293,270,000 202012 H31H 1F F /&
Z B (B A K #495,498,0007T ° "

* Excluding impairment of goodwill of RMB293,270,000 for the year  *
ended 31 December 2021 and RMB495,498,000 for the year ended
31 December 2020.

[FHRE2 ) ER G ERFHI M E2RE 2
FEYIBEH -

* “Net cash” means “Short-term time deposits” plus “Cash and cash *
equivalents” minus “Borrowings”.

[BELFIERHEEL (EEREREBRFRE
BRI [t (T2t #m)]

# “Debt ratio” means “Total borrowings (include current & non-current — *#
borrowings” divided by “Total Equity (exclude non-controlling interests)”.

[FEREE | B FRELXRBERF|TE -

+ “Dividend payout ratio for the year” is calculated based on the “Basic ~ *
and diluted earnings per share”.
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture SEENMREEL
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CORPORATE PROFILE SEEN

Huabao International Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the ZFEERERIZRERATILENBAR ([KAEH])
“Group”), consisting of flavours and fragrances segment, tobacco TR EHBIRIE ~ E B R ERIR - F Rk R
raw materials segment, aroma raw materials segment, condiments & FK ZHIRIE T B EEFR - BEAERE -
segment, is mainly engaged in the R&D, production, distribution and  ZFE £l - M FK My - £ EMEE - I
sales of flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw B & OEEBEETZTIEIRE 2 —FE
materials, as well as condiments. The Group also makes diversified RABEKE X HERMBENETELEREER -
investments around its core businesses. It is an industrial holdings

group based on China’s taste-based consumer goods market.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =2 B ZAARR A E] 2021 Annual Report 3 5



Company Profile and Corporate Culture

The Group is a market leader in China’s flavours & fragrances
industry. It owns many famous flavour brands, including “Huabao
Flavours” on the A-Shares platform, “Hedon”, “Huabao”, "H&K",
“Tianhong”, “Huafang”, "Owada”, “Amber” and so on. The Group
has internationalised product development and manufacturing
capabilities, owns production bases in regions such as Shanghai,
Guangdong, Jiangsu, Yunnan, Jiangxi, Fujian, Hong Kong and
Botswana in Africa, etc., has a R&D centre in Holzminden, Germany,
a state-level enterprise technology centre in Shanghai, and R&D
departments in Guangdong, Yunnan and Fujian. Member(s) of the
Group takes on leadership roles in a number of industry associations
which are relevant to flavours and fragrances business, including the
Vice Chairman of China Food Additives & Ingredients Association,
Deputy Director of China Association of Fragrance & Flavour and
Cosmetic Industries, Deputy Director of China Association of Bakery
& Confectionery Industry, and Chairman of Shanghai Food Additive
& Batching Association.

The Group is also one of the market leaders in China’s tobacco raw
materials field, where its production capacity and sales account
for a significant market share and its production technology and
product quality have taken the leading position at domestic level
and reached advanced international level. Guangdong Jinye, a
subsidiary of the Group, is one of the RTL R&D bases authorised by
the STMA. In November 2012, the second phase of RTL production
line of Guangdong Jinye was completed, put into production
and accepted by the STMA, which became the first landmark
of paper-making RTL production line certified by the STMA. Its
production technology has been recognized by the STMA to
have reached the highest technology level in terms of domestic
paper-making RTL production, while its major technical parameters
have also reached advanced international level. In 2016, the “Key
Laboratory for RTL Technology Research in Tobacco Industry”, which
was jointly founded by Guangdong Jinye and Guangdong Tobacco,
was recognized as the sole key laboratory in the RTL field in China.
In terms of new materials, Shanghai Huabao Biological Technology
Co., Ltd. has developed rapidly in the cigarette new materials field,
which is represented by tobacco flavour capsule and core line.
Newly established bases Jiangxi Huabao Xinhui Technology Co.,
Ltd. in 2017, as well as Yunnan Dianhua Benxiang Technology Co.,
Ltd. which was established by joint venture with Yunnan Tobacco
New Materials in 2018, became two flavour capsule business bases.
Both of the bases expanded the Group's flavour capsule production
capacity. In 2021, the Group has completed the construction of a
factory in Indonesia, which will mainly produce HNB RTL to seize the
opportunity of global development of HNB cigarettes.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k AR 2 7] 2021 Annual Report &5
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture

The Group is also one of the leading enterprises in China’s aroma
raw materials field. The principal products include many natural
aroma and synthetic aroma products. Its production capacity and
sales account for a significant market share in the industry, and
its production technology and product quality have reached the
leading domestic and international level. The Group acquired Jiangxi
Xianghai in 2017 and completed the production process optimization
in 2021. The acquisition played a positive role in the establishment
and layout of the Group’s aroma raw materials segment. The Group,
by virtue of its own industry advantages of the leading position and
strong scientific research strength, plans to build a leading aroma
raw materials production base in Asia and even the world.

In 2018, the Group made strategic adjustments to its business.
Through the acquisition of Jiahao, the Group entered into the
compound condiment market that is of great growth room, and
also further completed the Group’s business structure and sources
of income. At present, the Group has successfully established an
industry chain with full coverage from raw materials, processing,
to consumption, which brings the Group’s competitive strength
in taste-based fast-moving products industry to a new level. The
Group will also combine its industry expertise and integration
capability with the social capital, through the multi-capital
platforms, multi-collaboration channels, as well as multi-investment
collaboration models, to create more value for the shareholders.

SEEMTREEL

AEBERTEAERHMBENBELE L —
TEEMBERZERABHAMAREN - &
EERINMBEERETENEBEEM SN
HMOAETENEREEDNEIBEAIEL
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fEBMERORAES TESTMNHER
REAXNBRHEERM -

“E)N\F AGEEHEHETREEHE -
BRWERR AEEEAEBERERET
BEAHAKMmME P ZEAKEX
BER RERAIEEZWARIR B A
AREBEKRDZRTIRA NI BE]—8
EHNE2EXHEEZ AERBRHERTEN
BFENE-—FRBE - AKERSEERLES
BEATE ZAIERE RZEREAHER
ABEMANEXNE B NELEER
BE - REREIEEKRER-
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Company Profile and Corporate Culture SEENMREZENL

SPIRIT
Flavour Your Life ’ &’% a/ *EE #

ERAEESIEE Innovative, pragmatic,

loyal and cooperative

BIFh - BE B Wi

CORE VALUES
BOEEE

Client first, value creation and
shared achievements

E}E:I:J: {ETEEU & - /\%/\EEJL

STRATEGY
B S

o Adhere to the “concentric diversification strategy” and develop into the world’s leading
taste-based consumer product industrial holdings group

o Consolidate the existing market of flavours and fragrances and explore new markets with
product and technology innovation

o Seize the opportunity of integration in aroma raw materials industry and strives to achieve the
goal of “Being the global leader in the aroma raw materials industry”

o Closely monitor international markets and expand the market of tobacco raw materials

o Consolidate the Group’s leading role in the niche segment in the condiment industry, leverage
enriched product mix to build condiment business as the Group’s growth point

. %T%FIE/D%?MEEW%J CBRARERBENKBEREEREXZEREH

c REEREBNEFE CEBERMRMAIF - HREETS

. T)ﬂﬁ%%’r’#ﬁ%%éﬂ’ﬂé‘é@ CRAIRAREREENERHEBRCE]E—RERELE
o BYIRMIBKRTS  ARERRHTSHE

o ZREEFARMMBSALRENREMAL  FAELSLENERSE  HE
PRSI bR

Dﬁ
S0
HME
¥
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President’s Report
Dear shareholders,

In 2021, due to the repeated outbreak of the Pandemic, the global
economy experienced a number of unfavourable factors such as
supply chain crisis, rising logistics costs and higher raw material
prices, which affected the operation and development of enterprises.
Under the business environment where the Pandemic was recurring,
we increased our investment in digitalization and safety protection
of employees, formulated strategies to cope with supply chain crisis,
and calmly addressed the challenges faced by the Group during its
operation. With the efforts of all employees, the Group achieved
a revenue of approximately RMB3,883 million, representing a
year-on-year increase of 0.7%, and the profit attributable to equity
holders of the Company amounted to approximately RMB675
million, representing a year-on-year increase of 61.4%.

The Group’s revenue from the flavours and fragrances segment
and tobacco raw materials segment was mainly derived from the
traditional tobacco-related business. Under the circumstances that
the traditional tobacco market was stable but lack of growth,
our R&D, production and sales teams cooperated to research the
technologies and market of innovative tobacco-related products
to explore new growth points. In the field of HNB cigarettes, we
have developed suitable flavour products, together with our RTL
production lines with slurry and dry techniques, to achieve the
mass production of HNB RTL, and have achieved product sales. At
the same time, through continuous investment in R&D, we have
produced the innovative HNB filter products with independent
intellectual property rights, which equipped us with the ability to
provide overall solutions in the field of HNB cigarettes. In the field of
electronic atomization products, we continued to pay attention to
industrial development and changes in domestic policies and carried
out active technology reserves so that we could be well prepared for
the implementation of policies and the orderly development of the
industry in the future. In addition, we proactively carried out business
internationalization and landed in overseas markets. The initial
construction of the RTL factory in Indonesia has been completed,
and we have formed partnerships with international customers, and
initially have the ability to serve global customers. We have been
keeping up with the steps of consumption upgrade and proactively
deployed the innovative tobacco business, laying a solid foundation
for the Group’s future development.

In the segments other than tobacco-related businesses, our revenue
in aroma raw materials, condiments, food flavours, and fragrances
recorded a year-on-year increase. For the aroma raw materials
segment, the construction of the production base of Jiangxi Xiang
Hai has been fully completed and would be put into production in
2022. In the condiments segment, we saw higher product sales,
improved brand awareness and an increase in revenue. The food
flavours and fragrances business have been constantly innovating
and their competency is increasing day by day. At the same time,
we have actively invested in the industrial chain of "green, nutritious

REBHRES
&R

2021F R BEBEREBEFE  2HREBELE
THEESGK WMREKALA EMEER
ERE—ZRINTFEEZ  FETLENLE
MBEE ELEBREMNELIBET  RIMIR
ATEHEHFLLER BIZ2HEIFEHEK
A HIETREREHERRRAKE  §8E
HTSEEKEBEPEHENEE - T£28
BEINENT SEERHEEVRAHDARE
38.83fE L RLLIERO7% BN A Al #
mRFAEANEBNH AR 75E T - FLLig
£61.4% o

SENERREMERRHRBKRAETERK
BREREERBER EEREBEDSER
EERZIERNOBRT  RATERHEE
B  HMOE  EEMBEEEKBIE
Bd  HMHLEERBEMNRIMMTE -
FRZE T RV IE R A o AN RGBS IE RS
BAAELTAENERER EAHMN
MEEMTEZBEERLER  BERT MA
THEBEEENEE YTHAEKHEERER
FEKRAE BERERHEE -RE BBF
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Fra R - RO BAVEERG R ER

B BB mEG  EHENBEER
TREKLNTERTK I EERE P K
BIEREE X EBETRGEEREFPNEN -
BAMERBEFARNLE  BBESRMBH
MESXRE REBRAXNERITTRER
B o

FEEMERBERREDE  RMANERE - HK
m REANMABEREBRARLER-
ERER®E  IAESEEEMEKEE2ET
PR WEA2022F /R ALE - AR miR
WMEMMBEEM mENBERT  BAR
8 o Rn A B AL BB R B RR R
BEHEBEE AR ZMESMZe &
B RBEINEXRBETTEENREMRE

LL?“ EEEFNTAREXRLINESRQ
ETAE KRTETRMARMEFE

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& B2t AR A7 2021 Annual Report %3k



10

President’s Report

and healthy", and collaborated with outstanding companies in the
industrial chain through controlling shareholding and joint ventures
to jointly create our capabilities to provide integrated solutions
in natural ingredients, flavours, nutrition and functions to food
customers. As the economy of China keeps growing, customers'
demand for high-quality raw materials and condiments has been
increasing. By continuously improving our technologies, product mix
and marketing strategies, we have gained the trust of our customers
and strengthened the relations with them.

Despite the prolonged Pandemic, the trend of consumption
upgrade remains unchanged. The consumers' demand for healthy,
delicious and nutritious products has remained the same as it used
to, in either the tobacco-related segments or non-tobacco related
segments. We have developed the innovative tobacco-related
products, manufactured the natural aroma raw material products
and introduced salt-reduced seasonings to cater for the demand
of consumers and improve their health, sensual enjoyment and
consumption experience.

Since China is becoming the world’s largest market of consumer
goods, the competition in the country is inevitably fiercer, but there
are also many opportunities. It is necessary for enterprises to make
more efforts in their business sectors to provide higher-quality
products and services to target customers and help them solve
problems and add value to them, so as to improve their brand
loyalty. | believe that, as long as we are oriented by consumer
demand and keep improving our product R&D capabilities,
service quality and management level, we will be able to provide
more deliciousness to consumers’ lives, and grasp development
opportunities to drive up our performance.

With a clear development strategy and sufficient capital reserves,
I am full of confidence in the Group’s development in the coming
year. On behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my gratitude
to all shareholders, customers, business partners, management and
employees. Next, we will work together to ride the wind and waves.

XIA Liqun
President
Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

Overview of the tobacco industry

During the Reporting Period, the STMA developed the 14th Five-Year
Plan for the Tobacco Industry and related special plans, and
established the direction and target for high-quality development
of the industry. While cigarette brands and specifications were
streamlined and refined, key brands continued to develop and
market prices remained stable. According to the data from National
Bureau of Statistics, the cigarette production volume in China
reached 48.3648 million cases in 2021, representing an increase
of 1.3% year-on-year. The tobacco industry has paid a total of
RMB1,244.2 billion to the treasury department, representing an
increase of 3.36% year-on-year.

During the Reporting Period, significant progress has been made
in the supervision of e-cigarettes. In particular, the STMA has
formulated the National Standards for Electronic Cigarettes (Draft
for Comment), which sets the standards and regulations for
smoking paraphernalia, atomization and emissions of e-cigarettes.
The Administrative Measures for Electronic Cigarettes (Draft)
subsequently issued entry threshold for regulating product marketing
process and import and export management in each section of the
e-cigarette industry chain. Such regulations have been introduced
to define the scope of supervision over e-cigarettes, which not only
protect the health and legal rights and interests of consumers more
effectively, but also are able to change the chaos in the e-cigarette
industry, so as to enable the industry to develop in a regulated
and orderly manner in the future. In terms of HNB cigarettes, since
the harm reduction effect is recognized by foreign regulators,
international tobacco companies have changed their development
strategies and invested more funds in the R&D and improvement
of HNB cigarettes, in order to increase the proportion of related
products in future sales. In China, consumers have a deeper
understanding of HNB products through offline experience stores.
Meanwhile, investors are increasingly interested in the HNB cigarette
industry chain with increasing investment opportunities.

Overview of the food and beverage industry and daily-use
chemical industry

Although the Pandemic repeatedly broke out in 2021 due to
variation, the PRC government has maintained normal operation of
various production and economic activities by adopting elaborated
anti-epidemic measures. According to the National Bureau of
Statistics, the economy in China grew by 8.1% year-on-year and
consumer demand rebounded, together with an increase in the
demand for food and beverages. During the Reporting Period, the
gross output of the agricultural product processing industry with
enterprises of designated size or above grew by 7.7% year-on-year,
while that of the food processing industry grew by 8.0%
year-on-year. The output value of the alcohol, beverage and refined
tea processing industry grew by 10.6% year-on-year.

EEENWR DT

TE/MR

BEETEMRR
HWEBAN - RERFE T(EETEI+TMA
MEDFEBAEERE MY TTERLEEE
BOARAMEBEZE - BEHREFNBRBEEE
It EFREBFEERE  MHERRBETE -
BERRXFGTRHEE 2001FFEBEESE
£ 54,836.488 %8 - R LB H01.3% : E&
B ANRE12,4421B70 - BILLIER3.36% °

BEHAN EFEEEELRBENER -
BERGIE T(EFRERFE (BIKER
) HEFENER  BLOARERY
ERETERENRE - BROGN(EFEE
BHA (BRR)) S E FEEXESER
EEEAFIE EmEHREMNE D O EE
ETTHE ELEEERINLaRETH
EFENEEHE ERHREEBEENRZ
BMAERENRE b WNEE T IETT
XARRENIR ETXERKRL A
Fri 3R - NN REE T | - iR INE
THREBENREFEASIBEIIEERBED
R EREEQREEERRRE  RARE
ZESANMENECNATREBEER -
MR EMERKRNBEESELL - EPE
BAOREEBEBRTHNREREHMATK
B 8 2 fn B R AR B IR A o Bt R B - 4%
BEAEMBTIMEBEERENREKS
A0 B R B R o

RmEB A BETEMR

XEFTETREEEFE  RIFE2021F TE
RE-BEWMON DPERFBERNEZH
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the Reporting Period, the development of the food and
beverage industry was characterized by healthy products, segmented
consumption scenarios, diversified flavours and popularity of
plant-based products. Consumers require food and beverage
products to have fewer additives and retain more nutrition, and
expect to be able to consume such products in different scenarios
such as work, leisure and sports, as well as to diversify their tastes.
Plant-based foods and beverages are starting to appear more
frequently in various supermarkets, restaurants and online stores,
and consumers’ interest and acceptance of “plant-based” products
have gradually increased. The food and beverage industry is
developing toward a trend that reflects consumers’ pursuit of health,
deliciousness and sustainability. Flavour and fragrance manufacturers
are required to improve their capabilities in the supply chain, R&D
and seasoning according to consumers’ needs, so as to provide
consumers with natural, healthy and cost-effective products and
solutions.

In the daily-use chemical industry, various fragrance products that
are able to give a better and pleasant mood are popular among
consumers due to their increasing demand for room comfort. Due
to the booming pet market, deodorant and cleaning products for
pets have become a bright spot in the daily-use chemical industry.
In addition, as Chinese consumers attach more importance to
oral health, oral care products are sold through online stores and
live-broadcasting platforms, many domestic and foreign brands have
engaged in the competition for oral care fragrances.

Overview of the condiment industry

According to the National Bureau of Statistics, the revenue of the
catering industry in the first half of 2021 was RMB2,171.2 billion,
representing a year-on-year increase of 48.6%, while the revenue
in the second half of the year was RMB2,518.3 billion, representing
a year-on-year increase of 1%. The revenue of the catering industry
in the second half of the year grew much more slowly as compared
with the same period last year, mainly because the recovery of
the catering industry was disrupted by the repeated occurrence of
the Pandemic. The total revenue of the catering industry in 2021
amounted to RMB4,689.5 billion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 18.6%, which was roughly flat as compared with that of
RMB4,670.0 billion in 2019.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Benefiting from the recovery of catering demand in the downstream
market, the business environment for condiment enterprises
was improved, and the market demand for condiment products
rebounded. Nonetheless, as the prices of commodities and raw
materials rose due to global inflation, the production cost of
condiment enterprises increased as a result, and their profit margin
did not increase with the rebound in demand. In order to mitigate
the cost pressure, some condiment enterprises announced price
increases. However, for those smaller businesses with weaker
brand and product power, increasing price resulted in the loss of
distributors and customers, while those condiment enterprises with
strong comprehensive competitiveness would have stronger pricing
power and occupy more market shares.

Although the Pandemic had a negative impact on the catering
industry, the demand and habits of consumers for dining out
remained unchanged. The catering industry will continue to develop
towards a standardized, chain and diversified trend with a bright
future, and will continue to be the industry that has the highest
demand for condiments, bringing development opportunities for
condiment enterprises.

RESULTS

During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved a revenue of
approximately RMB3,883 million (2020: approximately RMB3,854
million), representing a year-on-year increase of 0.7%; the gross
profit margin was approximately 59.2% (2020: 63.4%), representing
a year-on-year decrease of 4.2 percentage points; operating profit
reached approximately RMB1,114 million (2020: approximately
RMB903 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 23.4%;
operating profit margin was approximately 28.7% (2020: 23.4%),
representing a year-on-year increase of 5.3 percentage points. The
profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company amounted
to approximately RMB675 million (2020: approximately RMB418
million), representing a year-on-year increase of 61.4%, while the
basic earnings per share was approximately RMB21.70 cents (2020:
approximately RMB13.46 cents), representing a year-on-year increase
of approximately 61.2%.

During the Reporting Period, based on the applicable accounting
principles on a prudent basis, the management recognised an
impairment of goodwill of RMB293,270,000 for the CGU of the RTL
as of 31 December 2021. For details of the goodwill impairment of
RTL CGU, please refer to the section “Analysis of RTL CGU’s goodwill
impairment”. The Board considers that the valuation methodology
and key assumptions used in the impairment tests on goodwill of
RTL CGU have been consistently adopted by the Company, and are
fair and reasonable. Meanwhile, the basis of the calculation and the
key assumptions used have been projected and determined by the
management based on the past performance of RTL CGU, and in
conjunction with the management’s knowledge and experience of
the market and the actual situation, which are fair and reasonable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Excluding the goodwill impairment of approximately RMB293
million of RTL CGU in the current year and the goodwill impairment
of approximately 495 million of Jiahao CGU in 2020, the Group’s
operating profit would be approximately RMB1,408 million (2020:
approximately RMB1,398 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of 0.7%; operating profit margin would be approximately
36.3% (2020: approximately 36.3%), which would be the same
as compared to last year. The profit attributable to the equity
holders of the Company would be approximately RMB968 million
(2020: approximately RMB914 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of 6.0%, while the basic earnings per share would be
approximately RMB31.12 cents (2020: approximately RMB29.41
cents), representing a year-on-year increase of 5.8%.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Reporting Period, through the joint efforts of all
colleagues, the Group has achieved relatively good development
and achievements in various business segments such as flavors,
tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials and condiments. At the
same time, the group practiced the corporate mission of “green,
nutritious and healthy”, and actively carried out investment layout in
the industrial chain of related industries. On the one hand, through
investment and cooperation with related enterprises in the industrial
chain such as Hunan Jiapin Jiawei Technology Development Group
Co., Ltd., Shanghai Yifang Agricultural Technology Co., Ltd., and
Yunnan Nongken Plateau Food Co., Ltd., the group has initially
completed the layout in fruit ingredients and functional solutions in
natural animal and plant extracts, jams, fruit pieces, and popping
peads, which effectively complemented and created synergies with
the Group's core business, and created the Group’s capabilities to
provide food customers with natural ingredients, flavors, nutrition
and functions, and integrated solution capabilities. On the other
hand, the Group focused on the innovative tobacco field, invested
in the establishment of Shenzhen Collaborative Innovation Research
Institute dedicated to mastering core technologies with independent
intellectual property rights, and formed a joint venture with
outstanding supply chain companies in this field by investing in
shares and jointly establishing joint ventures, aiming to strengthening
the Group’s layout in the innovative tobacco field and enhance its
customer service capabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of flavours and fragrances business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the flavours and fragrances
business of the Group amounted to approximately RMB1,927
million (2020: approximately RMB2,085 million), representing a
year-on-year decrease of 7.6%, and accounting for approximately
49.6% (2020: 54.1%) of the Group’s total revenue. Operating profit
of the segment amounted to approximately RMB1,104 million (2020:
approximately RMB1,259 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 12.3%; and EBIT margin recorded approximately
57.3% (2020: 60.4%), representing a year-on-year decrease of
approximately 3.1 percentage points. The decrease in the revenue
and EBIT margin from the business segment was mainly due to the
changes of the demand of downstream market and the adjustment
in product mix.

(1) Flavours

In terms of tobacco flavours, the Group has maintained a
stable cooperative relationship with customers and customized
products for customers according to the characteristics of their
products to improve the aroma and taste of the products.
Since HNB cigarettes have been increasingly concerned by the
market and consumers, the Group has optimized the flavouring
and production process according to the characteristics of HNB
cigarette cartridge, and developed and tested tobacco flavours
suitable for HNB products. Based on the test results, the Group
has re-analyzed the HNB tobacco flavour and improved the raw
materials and formulations, so as to enhance the performance
of the product in practical applications.

In order to better develop the food flavours business, the
Group has established a laboratory in Tianjin, focusing on the
R&D of savoury flavours that are popular with northerners,
and has developed new customers. The Group has vigorously
developed meat products and savoury flavours used in wet
and spicy snack foods, greatly increasing the sales. In terms
of sweet flavours, the microcapsule paste flavours pioneered
by the Group are highly competitive in the market due to
their outstanding temperature resistance and serialization of
flavours, which are recognized by customers. According to the
characteristics of plant-based meat, the Group has introduced
a temperature-resistant product that can remove the bean
smell, enabling the plant-based meat products to maintain the
taste of real meat, which is popular with and recognized by
customers.
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2

(3)

Management Discussion and Analysis

As the strategic point of the Group’s global industry chain
layout, Huabao Asia Pacific in Singapore had completed the
construction and team establishment of the R&D centre, and
it had officially started operation. In the future, Huabao Asia
Pacific will play an important role in establishing a global
technology and innovation platform, introducing international
advanced technology and talents, exporting high-quality
products overseas, and the overseas layout of the industrial
chain. During the Reporting Period, Huabao Asia Pacific had
established business relationships with food manufacturers in
many Southeast Asian countries, which laid the foundation for
future exposure to overseas markets.

Fragrances

During the Reporting Period, Xiamen Amber vigorously
developed hotel customers and provided them with fragrance
products that could improve the hotel environment according
to their needs. Taking the advantage of the R&D and
product competitiveness in respect of incenses, the Group
has successfully entered into cooperation agreements with
some chain hotels. The “Lemon”, “Lavender” and “Red
Pomegranate” flavours introduced by the Group have been
well recognized by customers. In addition, the Group has
cooperated with overseas fragrance companies to jointly
develop new fragrance products, covering various sectors such
as fabric washing and personal care, so as to enhance the
Group’s R&D capabilities.

Investment progress of the proceeds raised by the
flavours and fragrances segment

In April 2021, the Group adjusted the use of the funds raised
from the initial public offering of Huabao Flavours in 2018 and
the implementation plans for the investment projects in order
to better respond to the industry changes and the Company’s
development. The Group will continue the construction of
“Huabao Yingtan Flavours and Ingredients Production Base
Project” (“Huabao Yingtan Project”), cease the “Lhasa Pure
Land Healthy Food Project” and transform the “Huabao
H&K Food Flavours and Food Technology Development
Project” into the “Huabao Technology Innovation Centre and
Supporting Facilities Project” (“Huabao Techinno Project”),
as well as launch the new “Huabao Digital Transformation
Project”(”Huabao Digital Project”).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As at 31 December 2021, the cumulative amount dedicated
for the Huabao Yingtan Project was approximately RMB158
million (31 December 2020: approximately RMB101 million),
representing an investment progress of approximately
15.29% (31 December 2020: 9.75%); the cumulative amount
dedicated for the Huabao Techlnno Project was approximately
RMB1.68 million (31 December 2020: not applicable),
representing an investment progress of 0.37%(31 December
2020: not applicable); the cumulative amount dedicated
for the Huabao Digital Project was RMB3.53 million (31
December 2020: not applicable), representing an investment
progress of 5.89% (31 December 2020: not applicable). As
of 31 December 2021, the balance of unused IPO Proceeds
(including accumulated interest income received) amounted
to approximately RMB1,685 million (31 December 2020:
approximately RMB1,682 million). As of 31 December 2021,
the IPO Proceeds utilized amounted to approximately RMB832
million (31 December 2020: approximately RMB770 million),
accounting for approximately 36.0% of the total proceeds
from the initial public offering in 2018 of RMB2,310 million.

Phase | of the Huabao Yingtan Project has been completed,
and the construction of phase Il is in progress. The Huabao
Techlnno Project is in the process of planning and designing
and going through the approval procedures for change of
land status, filing and environmental impact assessment with
relevant government authorities, and the expected time to
be in production of the project has been changed from 31
December 2022 to 31 December 2025. A number of software
modules are needed to be developed for the Huabao Digital
Project and the time horizon is long so the expected time of
the project to be in production has been changed from 31
December 2023 to 31 December 2024.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Review of the tobacco raw materials business

During the Reporting Period, revenue of the Group’s tobacco
raw materials business was approximately RMB565 million (2020:
approximately RMB622 million), representing a year-on-year
decrease of 9.0%, and accounting for approximately 14.6% (2020:
16.1%) of the Group’s total revenue. The operating loss of the
segment amounted to approximately RMB80.09 million (2020:
operating profit approximately RMB250 million), representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 132.1%. Excluding the
goodwill impairment of the RTL CGU, the operating profit of the
segment would be approximately RMB213 million, representing a
year-on-year decrease of approximately 14.6%. The decrease in
revenue of the segment was mainly attributable to the traditional
RTL oversupply and the decline in the sales price of cigarette
capsules. Operating loss was mainly due to the goodwill impairment
of RTL CGU.

(1) RTL

During the Reporting Period, the traditional RTL supply
exceeded the demand and the clients’ procurement demand
decreased, which led to the drop in the demand for traditional
RTL and resulted in a decline in the production and sales of
traditional RTL. Due to the high fixed cost of RTL production,
the decrease in production has caused the fixed cost not
effectively diluted, resulting in a decrease in the gross profit
margin of RTL.

Under the unfavourable business environment of the traditional
RTL business, the Group focused on the development of
the HNB RTL business. In the domestic market, the Group
has completed the construction of production lines for
manufacturing of HNB RTL with three techniques, namely
drying technique, slurry technique and granules technique,
which are able to meet the customers’ demand for various
products. The Group has achieved the mass production of
HNB RTL to meet customers’ demand. In the overseas market,
the Group has completed the construction of a factory in
Indonesia, which will mainly produce HNB RTL, and has signed
cooperation agreements with international customers. The
factory is the first foreign factory of the Group to produce
HNB RTL, with the designed annual production capacity of
1,000 tonnes. After the factory is fully put into operation, the
Group’s annual production capacity of HNB RTL will increase
to approximately 2,600 tonnes. The factory is currently in trial
operation and is expected to be officially put into production in
the first quarter of 2022. After the commencement of official
production, the factory will provide high-quality HNB RTL to
international customers. The Group will gradually expand
production capacity based on business development to meet
market demand. In addition, the modified papermaking RTL
production line can also produce RTL products suitable for HNB
cigarettes. Through ongoing investment in the R&D, global
deployment and the in-depth cooperation with international
customers, the Group has consolidated its technical advantages
in the supply chain of HNB tobaccos, so that it will be able to
seize the opportunities for the development of HNB cigarettes
globally in future.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

(2) Tobacco new materials

In terms of cigarette capsules, with the advancement and
popularity of capsule making technology, more and more
players have tapped into the capsule market, leading to fierce
competition and oversupply in the industry. The lower selling
price of capsule products resulted in a decrease in revenue.
The Group has shifted its technologies and production
capacity for manufacturing of cigarette capsules to food
capsules, and sold capsule products to food and beverage
customers in order to increase its revenue. For cigarette filters,
Hunan Jishou has developed the binary compound-structured
cooling cigarette filter, smooth cellulose acetate cigarette
filter for filling and other cigarette filters that are used in
HNB cigarettes. These filter products have been supplied
to some customers for testing. According to customers’
feedback, Hunan Jishou has improved and upgraded the filters
used for HNB cigarettes to enhance the performance and
competitiveness of the products.

Analysis of RTL CGU’s goodwill impairment

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company engaged a
valuer to conduct an impairment test on goodwill of RTL CGU as at
31 December 2021. According to the test results, an impairment of
goodwill of approximately RMB293 million was recognized for the
RTL CGU.

Background of the goodwill impairment of RTL CGU

In November 2010, the Group acquired 100% equity interest in
Guangdong Jinye Group, which was principally engaged in the
R&D, production and sales of RTL in the PRC, from independent
third parties at a consideration of approximately RMB1.147
billion. Guangdong Jinye Group has become the RTL CGU of
the Group since then. Guangdong Jinye Group is one of the few
designated production bases authorized by the STMA specializing
in the manufacturing of RTL and is also one of the largest RTL
manufacturers in the PRC. The completion of acquisition marked
that the Group had strategically entered the sector of traditional RTL
with broad development prospects.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Changes had taken place in the traditional RTL industry after 10
years of development. On the demand side, the market demand
for traditional RTL continued to decline. Firstly, the STMA has
continuously promoted the de-stocking of tobacco leaves for the
past few years, by increasing the use of natural tobacco leaves and
reducing the use of traditional RTL, an additive, in the production
of cigarettes, which resulted in a shrinking market size of traditional
RTL. Secondly, since innovations in the tobacco industry are
emerging endlessly, slim, short and medium cigarettes are well
received by consumers, which are smaller in size as compared to
those in traditional size, resulting in less usage of traditional RTL. In
addition, with the increasing voices for tobacco control and smoking
ban in the society, the sales of cigarettes have only maintained a
stable level in recent years. In the absence of growth momentum in
sales of cigarettes, the demand for traditional RTL has not increased.

Although the demand for traditional RTL declined, the production
capacity of the traditional RTL industry remained high under such
business environment. On the supply side, the annual production
capacity of the traditional RTL was approximately 180,000 tonnes,
which far exceeds the annual demand of the traditional RTL industry,
resulting in an oversupply in the industry.

Reasons for the recognition of goodwill impairment of RTL
cGu

Based on the audited accounts of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021, the revenue of the Group’s RTL CGU decreased
by approximately 20% to approximately RMB351 million from
approximately RMB438 million for the corresponding period last
year. When the Group negotiated with customers for the upcoming
year's traditional RTL business at the end of 2021, it was aware
that the customers’ future purchase intention was lower than the
Group’s expectation. The impact of the oversupply in the traditional
RTL industry has gradually emerged over the past few years. Based
on the results of the Group’s discussion with customers at the end
of 2021, the management of the Group re-evaluated the supply and
demand situation of the traditional RTL industry and considered that
the oversupply in the traditional RTL would remain for a relatively
longer period of time, while based on the principle of prudence
and conservatism, a conservative forecast on the future sales of the
traditional RTL was made with the expectation that the RTL CGU
would incur an impairment loss on goodwill.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Goodwill Impairment Test

In accordance with HKAS 36, the Company performed a goodwill
impairment test on RTL CGU on 31 December 2021 (the valuation
benchmark date), and conducted a value analysis to determine
the recoverable amount of RTL CGU. According to the standard,
the recoverable amount of the CGU is determined on the higher
of the fair value less the costs of disposal (“FVLCOD") and value
in use (“VIU"). In the goodwill impairment test carried out by the
valuer, FVLCOD and VIU of RTL CGU was assessed by using market
approach and income approach respectively. According to the result
of the test, VIU was higher than that FVLCOD and therefore VIU
was adopted to be the recoverable amount of RTL CGU, which was
RMB293,270,000 lower than the carrying amount of RTL CGU. As a
result, goodwill impairment loss of RMB293,270,000 was recognised
in the consolidated income statement of the Group for the year
ended 31 December 2021.

The methodology, key assumptions and basis used in
calculating the VIU of RTL CGU

The Company has engaged the valuer to carry out an impairment
test on goodwill of RTL CGU as at 31 December 2021. The valuer
used the income approach to access the VIU in the goodwill
impairment test, which was consistent with the valuation
methodology used in the impairment test of RTL CGU for end of the
last year. It was based on a five-year net cash-flow projection of RTL
CGU and cash flows beyond the five-year period were calculated
using the terminal growth rate, and the present value of such net
cash-flows were calculated using an appropriate discount rate.

The key assumptions and basis used in calculating RTL CGU’s VIU
were as follows:

1. Forecast growth rate — as determined by the management
based on past performance, the latest external economy and
business environment, combined with their projections of
market development;

2. Terminal growth rate — long-term average growth rate of RTL
CGU as estimated by the management;

3.  Budgeted gross profit margin — as determined by the
management based on the past performance and the expected
development of the market;

4. Pre-tax discount rate — the discount rate for impairment test,
with reference to the actual situation of RTL CGU, the market
condition of the same industry and its specific risk premium,
calculated with the applicable cost of equity capital and cost of
debt capital to come up with weighted average cost of capital
("WACC") based on the company’s capital structure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Changes in key assumptions

Comparing certain key assumptions used in determining the VIU of
RTL CGU as at 31 December 2021 against those used in assessing
the VIU of RTL CGU as at 31 December 2020, major changes are as
follows:

Key assumptions
BERR
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VIU assessment as at 31 December

R12A31B 2 ERAEEFE
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Forecast five-year sales growth rate
RFEFHEERE

Reasons for change

The sales of the RTL CGU of the Group dropped approximately
20% from approximately RMB438 million for the year ended 31
December 2020 to approximately RMB351 million for the year
ended 31 December 2021, which was mainly due to the significant
decline in sales of traditional RTL of about 27.2% as compared
with the corresponding period last year. When the Group discussed
with customers for the upcoming year’s traditional RTL business at
the end of 2021, it was aware that the customers’ future purchase
intention was lower than the Group's expectation. Therefore, the
management of the Group re-evaluated the supply and demand
situation of the traditional RTL industry and considered that the
oversupply situation in the traditional RTL industry would remain
for a relatively longer period of time. As a result, the management
downward adjusted the forecast sales for the period between 2022
to 2025 by 11.5% to 22.7% from the forecast for the same period
made at the end of 2020. Due to a reduced base amount for 2021,
the corresponding forecast sales growth was adjusted to 3.9% to
20.6%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Key assumptions
HAREBRR
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VIU assessment as at 31 December

M12A31B 2 FEAEEF G
2021 2020
20214 20204

Budgeted gross profit margin
B EF%

Reasons for change

Due to the reduced forecast sales of traditional RTL and the gross
profit margin of which was higher than the gross profit margin of
other products in the same CGU, the composite gross profit margin
of the RTL CGU will decline since the sales of traditional RTL with
relatively higher gross profit margin accounted for a lower proportion
in the CGU. Therefore, the management downward adjusted the
budgeted gross profit margin for the forecast period between 2022
to 2025 by approximately 5.0 to 5.7 percentage points, from 54.5%
to 58.6% of the forecast made at the end of 2020 to 49.1% to
54.3% of the forecast made at the end of 2021.

Key assumptions
BAREBRR
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VIU assessment as at 31 December

R12A31B 2 EAEENME
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Pre-tax discount rate

IR RS

Reasons for change

The valuer determined the post-tax discount rate based on WACC.
Considering the increased risk resulted from the oversupply situation
of the traditional RTL industry would remain for a relatively longer
period of time, RTL CGU's risk premium was increased by 1%.
The equity risk premium also increased during the period. After
considering these factors and the combined effect of other factors,
the post-tax discount rate was calculated as 14.5%, which was
increased by 1.1 percentage points as compared with the post-tax
discount rate of 13.4% adopted at the end of 2020. With reference
to the post-tax discount rate, the valuer calculated the corresponding
pre-tax discount rate according to pre-tax cash flows through an
iterative process.

Pre-tax discount rate of 16.5%
(approximately equivalent to
post-tax discount rate of 14.5%)
HATALER £16.5%
(WIERTEBEIRE14.5%)

Pre-tax discount rate of 15.3%
(approximately equivalent to
post-tax discount rate of 13.4%)
TRTAL IR % 15.3%
(HERTIZEEIRE13.4%)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

RTL Business Prospects

Although the Group recognized an impairment of goodwill on
Guangdong Jinye CGU, it also proactively took measures to find new
growth points. In the past few years, HNB tobacco has attracted
the attention and received the popularity of consumers around the
world due to its much less harmful effect. The tobacco leaves used
in HNB tobaccos are tailor-made HNB RTL, which can release the
aroma of tobacco leaves without burning them, thus reducing the
harmful ingredients in smoke and satisfying consumers’ demand
for taste and health. According to the forecast of a professional
market research company, the global market share of HNB tobaccos
will continue to increase in the future, and may probably replace
traditional tobaccos. As the Group has noted the development
trend and changes in the RTL industry, it has put more efforts in the
R&D of HNB RTL, built factories overseas and successfully explored
international customers. The Group believes that, leveraging on its
experience, technologies and talents, the Group is well positioned to
develop the HNB RTL business and improve the performance of the
RTL business.

Review of the aroma raw materials business

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s aroma raw materials
business recorded a revenue of approximately RMB714 million
(2020: approximately RMB639 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 11.8%, and accounting for approximately
18.4% (2020: 16.6%) of the Group’s total revenue. Operating profit
of the segment reached approximately RMB59.096 million (2020:
approximately RMB47.909 million), representing a year-on-year
increase of approximately 23.4%; and EBIT margin was 8.3% (2020:
7.5%), representing a year-on-year increase of approximately 0.8
percentage point. The increase in revenue and profit of the business
segment was mainly due to higher sales volume of the products
resulting from the rising demand of downstream market and the
release of production capacity.

In 2021, the recovery of domestic and foreign customer demand
released the production capacity of the Group’s aroma raw materials,
and the production volume of the products increased compared with
the same period last year. Due to the increase in production volume
and the dilution of fixed costs, the profit and profit margin of the
segment recorded a year-on-year increase.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As stated in the 2018 and 2019 annual reports of the Company, the
Group completed the acquisition of Jiangxi Xianghai in September
2017, and improved the production technology and process to
reduce production cost and enhance the price competitiveness of
products. During the Reporting Period, the plant construction and
equipment installation of Jiangxi Xianghai were fully completed.
With the designed annual production capacity of 8,500 tonnes, the
Group’s annual production capacity will be significantly increased
to approximately 10,000 tonnes per annum after the completion of
plant construction and equipment installation. As a new production
base for aroma raw materials segment, Jiangxi Xianghai will become
one of the main production bases of the Group in the future.

Government authorities and regulators impose strict safety
requirements on enterprises in the chemical industry. Jiangxi
Xianghai has established an intelligent production center to improve
production safety and efficiency, organized employees to study the
New Production Safety Law in depth to increase their awareness of
production safety, and formed a “Voluntary Fire Team” to enhance
the ability to respond to safety incidents. By taking these measures,
Jiangxi Xianghai has established a sound safety system, which has
ensured the safety of employees and strengthened the company’s
capability of sustainable production, thus laying a solid foundation
for future business development.

Review of the condiment business

During the Reporting Period, the revenue of the Group’s condiment
business was approximately RMB676 million (2020: approximately
RMB503 million), representing a year-on-year increase of 34.6%, and
accounting for approximately 17.4% (2020: 13.0%) of the Group’s
total revenue. The increase in revenue from the segment was mainly
due to the rising demand as the catering industry recovered. During
the Reporting Period, the operating profit of the segment was
approximately RMB137 million, as compared to the operating loss of
approximately RMB432 million for the same period last year, which
was mainly attributable to the goodwill impairment of the condiment
segment of approximately RMB495 million in 2020, and there was
no such expense during the Reporting Period. Excluding the impact
of goodwill impairment, the operating profit of the condiment
segment in 2020 would be approximately RMB63.008 million, the
operating profit of the condiment segment during the Reporting
Period would increase by approximately 117.2% year-on-year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2021, the effective anti-pandemic measures taken by the
government and people in China have greatly eased the Pandemic
as compared with 2020. As the catering industry in the form of
gathering consumption saw a recovery in 2021, the demand for
condiments picked up. By taking the opportunity arising from
the recovery of the catering industry, the Group has improved its
revenue and profit through the targeted product mix, management
of sales channels and marketing strategies.

In terms of product structure, the Group has two product
types: umami-enhancing and flavour-enhancing products. For
umami-enhancing products, the Group has launched chicken sauce,
chicken powder and chicken essence products with various flavours
based on different taste preferences in different regions around
the country, so that the dishes of customers can meet the local
consumers’ requirements for umami. Regarding flavour-enhancing
products, since salty, fragrant, hot and spicy flavours are very popular
across the country currently, the Group has intensified the R&D and
analysis on these flavours, and introduced mustard, juice, gravy and
sauce which have been well received by customers. Through product
segmentation, the Group has consolidated its strength in the area of
umami making and improved its competitiveness in the condiment
sector.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of sales channels, due to repeated outbreak of the
Pandemic, the catering industry was facing more uncertainties, and
catering companies had to suspend operation due to the spread of
the Pandemic. In order to reduce this risk and better manage the
inventory level, distributors purchased goods in a more conservative
manner. The Group understood the situation of distributors and
proactively developed industrial customers and specialized take-away
customers to expand its sales channels. As of 31 December 2021,
the Group’s condiments business had sales channels covering all
provinces, autonomous regions and municipalities in the country
except for Taiwan province. The flagship store of the Group on Tmall
mainly sells products to some cooks and individuals following the
theme activities of the platform.

As to marketing strategy, the Group has planned a series of activities
based on the two popular cuisines, i.e. Sichuan and Hunan dishes,
prevailing in the market to introduce to customers how to enhance
the flavour of dishes by using the Group’s products. The Group
has cooperated with outstanding emerging brands in the fields of
Hunan and Sichuan cuisines to create dishes that can be quickly
replicated, so as to help customers improve their operating efficiency
and reduce their operating cost. The food solutions provided by the
Group have not only been recognized by customers, but also won
the praise of consumers.

The Group is confident of the future development of the catering
market and condiment market in China in the long run. With
the increasingly fierce competition in the condiment industry,
the Group will consistently review the Group’s overall business
development condition and the capital market’s sentiment, and
adopt flexible strategies to further the development of Jiahao, and
make preparations for establishing diverse capital platforms for the
business.

Review of R&D

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s investment in R&D was
approximately RMB251 million (2020: approximately RMB265
million). R&D expenses accounted for approximately 6.5% (2020:
6.9%) of revenue, representing a decrease of approximately 0.4
percentage point as compared to that for the corresponding period
last year. All (2020: 100%) of the R&D expenses were expensed,
with no R&D cost capitalised (2020: Nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

In terms of flavours and fragrances, the Group continued to maintain
its leading position in the flavour and fragrance industry in China.
Huabao Flavours, the subsidiary controlled by the Group, won the
awards of “Top 10 Enterprises in the Flavour and Fragrance Industry
in China”, “Top 100 Light Industry Technology Enterprises in China,
etc.. Huabao Flavours was granted a total of 33 utility and invention
patents, including, among others, “A kind of fragrant walnut oil
microcapsule and its preparation method”, “A kind of moisturizing
essential oil lotion and its preparation method and application”,
and etc. In 2021, the Group reached a strategic cooperation with
SAP, by integrating the Group’s profound historical accumulation
in the field of fragrance, leading technological advantages and
systematic theoretical system, as well as SAP’s core advantage in the
field of machine learning and artificial intelligence. With the help
of the SAP business technology cloud platform, the labeling and
modeling of the fragrance, characteristic fragrance and emotional
expression of the raw materials was achieved, and the classic
fragrance type and training model are used to continuously adjust
and optimize the formula and material combination to enable the
model to intelligently create fragrance. The extended application of
the intelligent fragrance creation technology can not only accurately
meet the needs of customers for fragrance, but also greatly improve
the efficiency of fragrance customization and sampling, and provide
a feasible solution for the upgrade of the business model of C2M
and C2B2M in the field of taste. In the future, the Company will
continue to deepen the intelligent fragrance creation technology,
and will further explore innovative applications in the field of food
flavours.

In respect of tobacco raw materials, the Group has further increased
investment in R&D in innovative tobacco-related fields. In May 2021,
the Group established the Collaborative Innovation Research Institute
in Shenzhen, bringing in a number of international and domestic
experts and talents to strengthen the pod materials, smoking
sets, electronic technology, physics and chemistry, etc., seeking
breakthroughs in core technologies, and master core technologies
with independent intellectual property rights. During the Reporting
Period, the Group applied for a total of 29 patents, including,
among others, “A method and product for preparation of RTL using
the thick slurry technique”, “A RTL production system by drying
technique and paper-making technique”, and “Cooling elements
used in HNB cigarettes and HNB cigarettes”, of which 24 patents
were granted, including, among others, “A smoke cooling device
for HNB tobacco and HNB cigarettes” and “A production device for
solidifying plant-based sections of HNB tobaccos” granted in China,
“A device for manufacturing RTL by dry technique and paper-making
technique” granted in Brazil and “A filter tip of HNB cigarettes, HNB
cigarettes and how to use it” granted in Russia. Such patents applied
for and granted reflect the Group’s competitiveness in the HNB
tobacco materials, laying a solid foundation for the development of
innovative tobacco business of the Group both at home and abroad.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As regards aroma raw materials, Guangdong Zhaoging was granted
the invention patent of “A method for recovering ethyl maltol from
ethyl maltol production wastewater”, and Yancheng Chunzhu was
granted a total of 12 invention and utility model patents, including
the invention patent of “A preparation method of cinnamyl
cinnamate” and the utility model patent of “A recyclable filter device
for synthesizing fragrances”. In terms of condiments, Guangdong
Jiahao was granted the invention patent of “A preparation method
of boilable chicken powder seasoning for hot pot”, which has further
improved the production technology and level of umami-enhancing
products.

Human Resources and Corporate Culture Construction

As at 31 December 2021, the Group employed a total of 3,583
(2020: 3,458) employees in mainland China, Hong Kong, Germany,
Indonesia, Singapore and other places.

In 2021, the Group has taken specific measures to improve its
human resources policies and corporate culture construction,
to reserve talents for the Company’s business development and
enhance the motivation of employees at all levels.

In respect of human resources, according to the actual development
of each business segment, the Company has implemented a specific
share incentive scheme for some business segments. The share
incentive scheme has strengthened the sense of responsibility
and mission of the management, core technical personnel and
outstanding employees for the Company’s business development,
and motivated them to work hard by aligning their personal
development with the Company’s interests. Regarding the job
level system, the Group has further streamlined its in-house levels
and promotion paths, so that employees clearly understand the
opportunities and potential for their career development, allowing
them to set clear targets at work. In the recruitment and training
of management trainees, the Group visited various universities
to establish connections with them and introduced to graduates
its corporate vision, brands and strategies, in order to attract
outstanding students to join the Group as management trainees.
For those management trainees recruited, the Group has formulated
a comprehensive training plan which enables the trainees to fully
understand the Company’s development history, business, culture
and organizational structure, and to dedicate them into work as soon
as possible after the training, so as to contribute to the development
of the Group. As to employees’ welfare, the Group conducted
guestionnaires to understand employees’ needs for benefits. Based
on the results of the questionnaires, the Group has analyzed the
welfare needs of employees and developed an improvement plan for
welfare schemes, so as to provide better protection for employees
in the future and thus to enhance their sense of belonging to the
Company.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

As regards corporate culture, the Group enhances the
communication between the Company and its employees and
shortens the distance between employees through culture
discussions, award evaluation, corporate communication, brand
optimization and sports events. For culture discussions, all business
departments of the Group held seminars to express their opinions
on the Group’s vision of “The Leader of Delicious Food"”, so as to
deepen their understanding of the position and mission of the Group
as a leading flavours and fragrances company, thus providing better
services for customers and consumers through hard work and more
efforts. For award evaluation, the Group has specially set up the
“Huabao Award” to recognize outstanding employees at different
levels, and to pass on their spirit of diligence, pragmatism and pursuit
of excellence to more employees, so as to inspire all employees’
motivation to work. For corporate communication, the Group
has further improved its press release system, and communicated
the Company’s recent development to its shareholders, investors,
analysts, employees, suppliers and other parties caring about us
through the Company’s website and WeChat public account, so
that they get more knowledge of the Group’s products, services and
culture. Regarding brand optimization, the Group made uniform
promotion and visual designs for external publicity, enabling it to
have a uniform external image and enhancing the communication
strength and influence of its brand. In addition, the Company also
shot promotional videos in both Chinese and English to introduce
the Group'’s vision and business more vividly. Moreover, the Group
also organized a badminton match and encouraged all its employees
to participate in the event. The intense match not only improved the
physical health of employees, but also increased the opportunities
for communication between them, as well as enriched their lives.

Digital Transformation

Facing the challenges and opportunities of the digital economy
era, as well as the needs of the rapid development of the industrial
chain , the Group signed strategic cooperation agreements with
SAP, Siemens, etc. With the help of the world’s leading cutting-edge
technology, management ideas and successful experience, the
Group aims to build an innovative digital management platform for
consumer goods industry clusters that take flavor and fragrance as
the core, laying a digital foundation for the effective implementation
of the group’s concentric diversified development strategy focusing
on “green, nutrition, and health”.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k AR 2 7] 2021 Annual Report &5

EEENWR DT

EEXETE  NEBEBEXCH - 218
P bEEE REELELNBEERLH
KMBAREET ZHMNER WEETEH

Mz BB - XMW A NEEE
EBHPIMERATHAEE  BHAEE XK
EESIFE NREREREBCHNER - Emm
REBAEEERALEREN QRN
MEwm BRECFYINLEHEHNRER
FABEEE - BENGHE  ~AEBERFHR
VOEER CRETRABRNEFSEL K
MMBHERE BRFUNBHEEREELE

ZHWET  HBARIENE N -EEE
BL AEEE-—FPTETRAANNEEE
HE WRBARBWMMMELR MA@
ARAEIMKRER -REA -SFE - BT #HE
HMEBGREARRNNBAE  EMhfIE B
AEBENEM RBMNXE - EmEEL
P AEER-THINEENE ERANE
%E%*%@T%%%%%%—’%ﬂﬂﬂ
mENEENENZEN - RAERE T F
BXHEER BENEHONEBAEENE
RMEB - I REEBEFRIAEZTPE
REE BFELAEEMBEEIREZ2E -
EROLEETERATEINSBRERE

HgENTETI AN RkE 25 TE8T
B AE o

FreEa

EEEF BB ERE  ARER
BRARBRAOFT R - AEEESAP - A TF
HEE A FiE - BB RIRBRAG N
EERBMEKINER  BREABREN BZ
DHRBERHEMEXSHNEFLERR
ﬁ%A AREBRE RE E85 RFEH
RLZTERBENABEMEETHFIL
g o



Management Discussion and Analysis

In 2021, the Group completed the overall plan for digital
transformation and built an operation platform centered on SAP
ERP digitalization to meet the integration of the Group's strategic
management and control business and finance. Based on different
management models, operation platforms adopt different financial
management models to timely monitor and manage risks so that
they could provide an international, systematic and standardized
digital platform for the business operations of various business
segments. Through the construction of the digital operation
platform, the Group has initially achieved the integration of financial
resources and the visualization of financial data. In addition, the
Group has comprehensively sorted out and reshaped its internal
R&D management system. Through the standardized management
of R&D data, the group achieved in-depth mining of technical
assets; through closed-loop process driving, the Group achieved
multi-disciplinary and cross-regional collaborative R&D; in the future,
through the connection with ERP and other systems, the Group
will connect research, supply, production and sales in the industry
chain and effectively enhance the Group’s operational efficiency.
At the same time, the Group has also established a team of digital
management talents to prepare a talent pool for future digital
projects.

Digital transformation is one of the core engines of the Group’s
strategic development, and the construction of the first phase of
the plan had been successfully completed in 2021. The Group will
continue to deepen the digital construction work, and continuously
improve the Group’s management and control and empowerment
capabilities, supply chain operations and external collaborative
innovation capabilities. Internally, the Group will focus on the
reconstruction of the R&D system, realize the effective connection
between the R&D system and various business sectors, and deeply
empower efficient production and intelligent manufacturing;
Externally, the Group will establish a data center, connect suppliers,
customers and consumers, and jointly create a digital ecological
platform for a delicious life.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Outlook

Entering 2022, the intensification of geopolitical conflicts will lead
to rise in commodity prices and inflation, the operating costs of
enterprises will further rise, consumers’ spending power, consumer
confidence and willingness to consume will decline, and the risks
and uncertainties of global economic recovery will increase. In China,
due to the recurring of the Pandemic, the pace of normalization of
economic activities has been interrupted again, business production
and consumer demand have also been negatively affected to
a certain extent, and the pressure on economic recovery has
also increased. Overall, the pressure on the global and Chinese
economies in 2022 should not be underestimated.

Under such macroeconomic situation, the Group will actively adopt
various strategies to cope with the challenges brought about by
changes in the external environment, and at the same time continue
to optimize strategies to stabilize the Group’s development.

The Group embraces the vision of “flavour your life” and undertakes
the mission of “green, healthy, and nutritious”, and continue to
implement the concentric and diversified strategy in the taste-based
consumption market. In terms of business, the Group will focus on
the development of the products and services related to innovative
tobacco products, and further the Group’s development in those
non-tobacco related business segment such as foods, beverages,
fragrances, aroma, and condiments by the combination of organic
growth and merger and acquisitions. In terms of market layout, the
Group steadily further its domestic business and also proactively
improve its business in Asia, Africa, and other countries and
regions to serve international clients better and faster. In terms
of management, the Group will further its digital management,
establish digital management platform, connect internal and external
resources, realize the effective exchange of resources of online and
offline resources so that the Group could boost its management and
operation efficiency to further improve the Group’s business.

For flavours and fragrances business, the Group will enhance the
ability to screen aroma raw materials and flavouring technology
according to the characteristics of tobacco products, to launch
competitive products and stabilize the customer base. For HNB
tobacco flavours that are concerned by the market, the Group will
strengthen the communication with customers and develop products
that meet their needs, and for testing by customers. Through
unremitting efforts, the Group’s revenue of food flavours and
fragrances have gradually increased for the past few years with a
good development momentum. The Group will enhance its capacity
in savoury flavours for meat products and wet and spicy products
and focus on the research on temperature resistance technology
of sweet flavours. For daily-use chemical fragrances, the Group will
focus on expanding the markets in Northern China and Eastern
China, and meanwhile put more efforts on the exploration of
e-commerce and live broadcasting customers.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k AR 2 7] 2021 Annual Report &5

EEENWR DT

R EE
#A2022F - MK BURE R MBI E KRS
MERMBREA  CENCERANBEE—
S EBERNEBE D BBELOMM
BERTR 2REEEHRAKRIE KR T8
FHEZ - EHPEH AREBRE  &EE
FMELESLOSERNBRIEITEH %4
EMEEES KOS —THEEFE &
EEBBENLEGIN - BE€MS » 2022F
2Bk K A B 45 7 T RS 9 R ) EB S BT /NG o

FhZBEELET SESBEEBRNEE
RES LSNP RIF TR EE - B
EELRE RESERE-

SENEREESIRE I RBER - UIRE
R 2B I RED BEBEERBERHE
mAENRLOZ TR EXF L B
REEHRMNUEEMBOEMMRYE - [
FEBRNEMIEHBREESNT A - HE
ERMm #F - B BRAMBKREL
FEEXBRANBER -EWMEHR L &
BREHEEABRATISER RESEGRELRE
TSMMEMNEECRRMBENER - B if
ERMWRBEERE, -EERE L SEHER
HETEEHT/ BEAFLEERFR H
BASMNBEIR  BRK LR TERARER -
RABEEMGERE B R A XK R A E
B o

EREBKITE AEEBREBEERNE
EHoORMAMEFTRHMOE N MAE XM -
HEEBFINER REXPEH XD
SRITNNATREZERER  ~AEESMN
BERFPHZIN AELNAEFPFRNE
mo HWEFPETAR -BETBE N K%
BNRMABBMBLEEREBELFN
WARTER  BRBBERF - AKEGIRE
TTHEARBIRRELOBAKEENE
EHTREREFRBOMARM - R A{A
B AEEEEMMRELMERTS
RS MARZEEAMERENETPS



Management Discussion and Analysis

For tobacco raw materials business, the Group mainly will focus on
the application field of innovative tobacco. In terms of products, on
the one hand, the Group will continue to deepen and strengthen
its achievements in the layout of HNB cigarette products, continue
to invest in R&D around pod materials , filter rods, smoking sets
to strengthen customer cooperation; With the implementation of
relevant policies on electronic atomization products in China, the
Group will also extend its layout in this field, and accelerate its
development through its own expansion and parallel cooperation
with related enterprises. In terms of market layout, the Group
will continue to steadily promote the development of domestic
business, and at the same time, more actively and rapidly promote
the layout in other overseas countries and regions, and increase
overseas investment. At present, the RTL factory constructed by the
Group in Indonesia has been put into production. With this factory
as the base, the Group will increase its efforts to develop and serve
international customers, and enhance the brand awareness and sales
volume of its products overseas. In addition, the Group will further
expand the construction of overseas production bases, increase
the production capacity of RTL, build the production capacity of
other related products in the innovative tobacco field, and build
an international service team to provide overall solutions for
international customers.

For aroma raw materials, the Group will enhance the awareness
and capability of all subsidiaries in the segment in respect of
production safety, to ensure safe operation in the segment. With
the increasingly fierce competition in the industry, the Group will
improve its brand power and maintain the bargaining power of
its products while ensuring the product quality. The production
base of Jiangxi Xianghai has been fully completed. Leveraging on
the modern facilities and production lines of the production base,
the Group will improve the production efficiency and quality of its
products.

For condiments business, it is expected that the repeated outbreak of
the Pandemic may be normalized, which will lead to higher demand
of catering customers for pre-made dishes and related condiments.
As a condiment supplier, the Group will provide catering customers
with products that can immediately enhance umami and flavour
according to their needs, so as to improve the efficiency of
customers in making dishes. Meanwhile, the Group will consider
selling products to retail customers to observe the needs of end
consumers more closely, and improve its products and marketing
strategies based on the feedback.
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USE OF THE PROCEEDS FROM SHARE PLACEMENT

On 20 December 2021, the Group completed the “top-up”
share placement to place 122,090,000 shares at the placing price
of HK$17.88 per share, raising net proceeds of approximately
HK$2.16 billion. The proceeds raised are mainly used as follows: (1)
approximately HK$ 1,522 million for repayment of bank loans (“Bank
Loans Repayment”); (2) approximately HK$300 million for acquisition
of or investment in business(es) which leverage on the competitive
advantage of the Group should suitable opportunities arise
(“Acquisition and/or Investments”); and (3) approximately HK$338
million for general working capital requirements and expansion of
existing businesses (”General Working Capital”).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has utilised approximately
HK$1,274 million of the proceeds mainly for Bank Loans Repayment,
representing approximately 59% of the net proceeds, and the
unutilised proceeds amounted to approximately HK$886 million. As
at 31 December 2021, all of the unutilised proceeds were deposited
in licensed banks in Hong Kong.

Intended use of the proceeds

In HK$ million
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Intended use of proceeds Net proceeds of proceeds 2021
BE
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Bank Loans Repayment EEIRITER 1,522 1,265 257
Acquisition and/or Investments U bE & SR E 300 - 300
General Working Capital —REBER 338 9 329
Total #BEt 2,160 1,274 886
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Analysis of annual results for the year ended 31 December
2021

Revenue

The Group's revenue amounted to RMB3,882,683,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2021, representing a slight increase of
0.7% as compared with RMB3,854,058,000 for the corresponding
period last year. The increase in the revenue was mainly due
to the successful prevention and control of the Pandemic in
China after the outbreak of the Pandemic in the early 2020, the
catering industry began to recover since the second half of 2020.
As a result, revenue of condiment segment in the current year
reached RMB676,481,000, representing an increase of 34.6% as
compared with the corresponding period last year. Meanwhile,
due to the macroeconomic recovery and the rebound in demand
from downstream customers, revenue of aroma raw materials
reached RMB714,026,000, representing an increase of 11.8% as
compared with the corresponding period last year. However, due
to the changes in demand from downstream customers, revenue of
flavours and fragrance segment declined by 7.6% year-on-year to
RMB1,926,749,000. Also, due to the oversupply in the traditional
RTL industry and intense competition in the cigarette capsule industry
that resulted in a declining sales volume and price of capsule,
revenue of tobacco raw materials declined by 9.0% year-on-year to
RMB565,405,000. As a result, the increase in revenue was offset
largely.

Cost of goods sold

The Group’s cost of goods sold amounted to RMB1,586,021,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021, representing an increase of
12.4% as compared with RMB1,411,651,000 for the corresponding
period last year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

For the year ended 31 December 2021, gross profit of the group
amounted to RMB2,296,662,000, representing a decrease of
approximately 6.0% as compared with RMB2,442,407,000 for the
corresponding period last year. The decrease in gross profit was
mainly attributable to the decrease in gross profit margin of the
current year. The Group’s gross profit margin for the current year
was approximately 59.2%, representing a decrease of approximately
4.2 percentage points as compared with 63.4% for the same period
last year. It was mainly attributable to the changes in products’ mix
of the Group and the adjustments of selling price of products in
response to the fierce competition in the market.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income and other gains - net

For the year ended 31 December 2021, other income and other
gains (net) of the Group was RMB248,519,000, representing an
increase of RMB148,022,000 as compared with RMB100,497,000
for the corresponding period last year. The increase in other income
and other gains was mainly due to the fair values gain on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss reached approximately
RMB104,568,000 in the current year, representing an increase
of RMB90,763,000 as compared with RMB13,805,000 of the
corresponding period last year. The increase of the fair values gain
on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss was mainly due
to increase in investment of wealth management products and the
related fair values gain and increase in fair values of fund investments
in the current year. Also, the currency exchange loss of this year
decreased by RMB57,518,000 year-on-year. It was mainly due to the
Group's secured long-term loan was fully repaid during the current
year (balance as at 31 December 2020: RMB1,692,855,000). Such
loan was borrowed and settled by the Company in RMB, whereas
the functional currency of the Company was HKD. The exchange
rate of RMB against Hong Kong dollar rose during the current year
and last year, thus currency exchange loss was incurred. However, as
the remaining balance of such loan was reduced in the current year,
the currency exchange loss generated was reduced accordingly.

Selling and marketing expenses

The selling and marketing expenses of the Group comprised mainly
travelling expenses, advertising and promotion expenses, salaries
and office expenses, etc. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
selling and marketing expenses of the Group was RMB292,244,000,
representing a decrease of 7.8% as compared with RMB317,001,000
for the corresponding period last year. Selling and marketing
expenses for the current year accounted for approximately 7.5% of
the total revenue, representing a decrease of 0.7 percentage point
as compared with approximately 8.2% for last year. The decrease in
such ratio and the decrease in the selling and marketing expenses
were mainly attributable to the Group’s proactive control of
expenses and the delivery expenses of goods being accounted for in
the cost of goods sold.

Administrative expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s administrative
expenses amounted to RMB841,663,000, representing an increase
of 2.6% as compared with RMB820,221,000 for the corresponding
period last year. It was mainly attributable to the increase in
employee benefit expenses during the current year. Administrative
expenses for the current year accounted for approximately 21.7%
of the total revenue, which was basically the same as approximately
21.3% for the year ended 31 December 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Operating profit

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s operating profit
was RMB1,114,477,000, representing an increase of approximately
23.4% as compared with RMB902,792,000 for the year ended 31
December 2020. It was mainly because Jiahao's goodwill impairment
of RMB495,498,000 was recognised in the same period last year,
whereas RTL's goodwill impairment of RMB293,270,000 was
recognized in the current year. The operating profit margin was
approximately 28.7%, representing an increase of 5.3 percentage
points as compared with approximately 23.4% for last year.

If the goodwill impairment of the current year and last year were
both excluded, the operating profit for the current year would
increase by 0.7% as compared with the corresponding period last
year; the operating profit margin for the current year would be
approximately 36.3% and similar with that for the corresponding
period last year, which was mainly due to an increase in other
income and other gains (net) for the current year as compared with
the same period last year, but it was largely offset by the decrease in
gross profit.

Income tax expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2021, income tax expenses of the
Group was RMB251,593,000, representing a decrease of 10.3%
as compared with RMB280,382,000 for the corresponding period
last year. Income tax rate of the current year was approximately
21.9%. If the goodwill impairment loss of the current year and last
year were both excluded, income tax rate of the current year would
be approximately 17.5%, representing a decrease of approximately
1.9 percentage points as compared with approximately 19.4%
for the last year, which was mainly attributable to the decrease in
withholding income tax on dividends distribution by subsidiaries in
mainland in the current year.

Profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the profit attributable to the
equity holders of the Company was RMB675,131,000, representing
an increase of RMB256,732,000 as compared with RMB418,399,000
of the same period last year, or an increase by 61.4%. It was mainly
due to the goodwill impairment of the current year was decreased
by RMB202,228,000 as compared with the same period last year. If
the goodwill impairment of the current year and last year were both
excluded, profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
for the current year would increase by approximately 6.0% as
compared with the same period last year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Net current asset value and financial resources

As at 31 December 2021, the net current asset value of the Group
was RMB6,738,947,000 (31 December 2020: RMB7,145,001,000).
The Group generates its working capital mainly through its
operating activities to maintain a sound financial position. As at 31
December 2021, the Group’s cash and bank balances amounted
to RMB3,553,409,000 (31 December 2020: RMB6,335,596,000),
over 60% of which was held in RMB. In addition, the fair value
of the Group’s investment in bank wealth management products
that remain outstanding as at 31 December 2021 amounted to
RMB3,256,499,000 (31 December 2020: RMB540,492,000) was
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Bank borrowings and gearing ratio

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had bank borrowings of
RMB962,774,000 (31 December 2020: RMB2,708,230,000),
approximately RMB459,950,000 of which was denominated in RMB
and approximately RMB502,824,000 of which was denominated
in HKD, all of which were unsecured loans and due within one
year. The Group had secured loan of RMB1,692,855,000 as at
31 December 2020 which had been fully repaid during the year
ended 31 December 2021. For the current year, the average
annual interest rate of the secured loan was 5.7% (year ended 31
December 2020: 5.7%), and the average annual interest rate of
the unsecured loans were 2.9% (year ended 31 December 2020:
2.6%). As at 31 December 2021, the Group’'s gearing ratio (total
borrowings, include current and non-current borrowings, divided by
total equity (excludes non-controlling interests)) was 6.9%, which
was decreased significantly by 15.9 percentage points from 22.8%
as of 31 December 2020. It was mainly resulted from repayment
of approximately RMB1,693 million secured loan related to the
acquisition of Jiahao during the current year.

Investing activities

The Group’s investing activities included the purchase of property,
plant and equipment, financial assets investment and merger
& acquisition activities related to the strategical development
strategies. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the net cash used
in investing activities amounted to RMB2,095,235,000, mainly used
in the purchase of wealth management products. For the year ended
31 December 2020, the net cash generated from investing activities
amounted to RMB1,175,188,000.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financing activities

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the net cash used in
financing activities amounted to RMB672,724,000, mainly
comprised of proceeds from shares placement of approximately
RMB1,763,888,000, payment of cash dividends of approximately
RMB394,705,000 paid to shareholders of the Company and cash
dividends of RMB206,075,000 paid to non-controlling interests,
repayment of bank loans of RMB3,284,355,000 and addition of
bank loans of RMB1,557,156,000. For the year ended 31 December
2020, the net cash used in financing activities amounted to
RMB1,031,641,000.

Trade receivables turnover period

Trade receivables turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade receivables as at the beginning and at the
end of a relevant financial period divided by the total revenue for
the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. The Group
generally offers its customers a credit period of approximately
0-180 days, depending on the business volume of, and the length
of business relationship with the customers. For the year ended 31
December 2021, the Group's average trade receivables turnover
period was 87 days, which basically remained the same as 91 days
for the corresponding period last year.

Trade payables turnover period

Trade payables turnover period is calculated on the basis of the
average amount of trade payables as at the beginning and at the
end of a relevant financial period divided by the cost of goods sold
for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days. Credit
periods granted by suppliers to the Group ranged from 0-180 days.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group’s average trade
payables turnover period was 65 days, representing a decrease of
8 days as compared with 73 days of the corresponding period last
year.

Inventory and inventory turnover period

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s inventory balance amounted
to RMB897,226,000, representing an increase of RMB42,480,000
as compared with the balance of RMB854,746,000 as at 31
December 2020. For the year ended 31 December 2021, the
Group’s inventory turnover period (calculated on the basis of the
average amount of inventory balances as at the beginning and at
the end of a relevant financial period divided by the total cost of
goods sold for the corresponding period and multiplied by 360 days)
was 199 days, decreased by 29 days as compared with 228 days of
the corresponding period last year. The decrease of such ratio was
mainly due to the effective management of inventory.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Foreign exchange and exchange rate risk

The principal businesses of the Group are located in Mainland
China and the majority of the sales revenue is denominated in
RMB, with the exception of only a certain amount of imported raw
materials and equipment which are denominated in foreign currency
such as USD or EUR, etc.. The Group’s bank deposits are mainly
denominated in RMB, USD and HKD. Management concurs with the
views of the People’s Bank of China on the RMB exchange rate, that
is, the RMB exchange rate has the capability to continuously remain
basically stable within reasonable range of equilibrium.

Pledge of assets

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group's equity
interest in Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd. and its land and
buildings in Zhongshan China used as collateral for the secured bank
loan had been released. Meanwhile, the secured bank loan was fully
repaid by the Group as at 30 June 2021 and the related pledged
equity interest in Jiahao Foodstuff Limited was formally released
in July 2021. Apart from the above-mentioned, the Group had no
pledged assets as at 31 December 2021.

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had capital commitments in
respect of the purchase of property, plant and equipment, intangible
assets, investments in a jointly controlled entity and financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, contracted for but not
provided in the financial statements amounted to approximately
RMB251,181,000 (31 December 2020: RMB177,040,000).

Contingent liabilities

According to the information available to the Board, the Group had
no contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EE R SR EEEREE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu, aged 52, the Chairlady of the Board, CEO, Executive
Director and the Chairlady of Nomination Committee of the Company.
Ms. Chu has been a member of the Board since March 2004. Ms. Chu is the . |
mother of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (the Co-Chairman of the Board and an Executive

Director of the Company) and Ms. LAM Ka Yan (an Executive Director and

a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company). Ms. Chu is

also a director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “C1”

as set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. Ms. Chu

has extensive experience in formulating strategies and making executive
decisions on business operation, investments and market development. She

was a member of the Fourth and Fifth Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference Committee (Shenzhen, Guangdong Province). Ms. Chu, through

the corporations controlled by her, is the beneficial owner of Company as set

out on pages 91 to 92 of this annual report headed under Directors’ Interests

in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures.
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Mr. LAM Ka Yu, aged 29, the Co-Chairman of the Board and an Executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Lam has been a member of the Board since
November 2013. Mr. Lam is the son of Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (the Chairlady of the
Board, CEO, Executive Director and Controlling Shareholder of the Company),
and the brother of Ms. LAM Ka Yan (an Executive Director and a member
of the Nomination Committee of the Company). Mr. Lam is also a director
of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “L1" and the legal
representative of those companies marked with “L2" as set out in Note 33 to
the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Lam was educated in the United
Kingdom and the United States of America. For corporate management
experiences, Mr. Lam is currently a managing director and legal representative
of a private company, which is engaged in e-commerce business in China. He
previously served as a director and the general manager of a company which
is engaged in advertising media business in China. Mr. LAM Ka Yu
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EE X SR EEEEE

Mr. XIA Liqun, aged 55, an Executive Director, Vice Chairman, President
and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Company. Mr. Xia
has been a member of the Board since September 2006. Mr. Xia is also a
director of the Company’s principal subsidiaries marked with “X1” and the
legal representative of those companies marked with “X2" as set out in
Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Xia holds a Bachelor’s
degree in economics and is a certified accountant, certified tax specialist
and certified appraiser in China. Mr. Xia has over 20 years of financial and
corporate management experience. He previously worked in domestic
accounting firms in China and was a senior management member of a foreign
invested enterprise in China. Mr. Xia is currently the honorary chairman of the
Shanghai Food Additive & Batching Association.
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Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, aged 59, an Executive Director, Vice President and
the Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Poon has been a member of the
Board since March 2004. Mr. Poon was awarded the postgraduate diploma
in laws by the University of London. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in laws, a
Bachelor’s degree in business studies and a Master’s degree in international
accounting. He is a fellow of CPA Australia Ltd., The Chartered Governance
Institute, and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute and a member
of its Technical Consultation Panel, China Focus Group and a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute and its associate
instructor. Mr. Poon has extensive experience and knowledge in areas of
compliance, corporate finance and corporate governance of listed companies.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management EE R SR EEEREE

Ms. LAM Ka Yan, aged 24, an Executive Director and a member of the
Nomination Committee of the Company. She has been a member of the
Board since February 2022 where she is involved in the formulation and
implementation of the Group's strategy and involved in the strategic direction
and positioning of the Group’s innovative businesses. Ms. Lam had joined the
Group in July 2020 where she was engaged in the sales and marketing of the
Group's condiment segment. Ms. Lam is the daughter of Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (the
Chairlady of the Board, CEO, Executive Director and Controlling Shareholder
of the Company), and the sister of Mr. LAM Ka Yu (the Co-chairman of
the Board and an Executive Director of the Company). Ms. Lam obtained a
bachelor’s degree in economics from Columbia University (U.S.).
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Ms. CHOY Man Har, aged 55, an Executive Director of the Company. She
has been a member of the Board since February 2022. Ms. Choy joined the
Group since 2006 and has held various positions within the Group. She has
been the deputy chief financial officer of the Group since 2018 and was
mainly responsible for the financial reporting and financial management of the
Group. Ms. Choy has over 30 years of experience in accounting and financial
management related disciplines. Before joining the Group, Ms. Choy worked
in quasi-governmental organizations in Hong Kong. Ms. Choy holds a bachelor
degree in Business Administration of the Chinese University of Hong Kong and
is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the United Kingdom, a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, and a fellow member of The Chartered Governance
Institute and The Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, aged 64, an Independent Non-executive Director, the
chairman of both of the Audit Committee and Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company. Mr. Lee has
been a member of the Board since May 2006. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom
and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience in commercial accounting and
corporate finance. Mr. Lee has principally engaged in corporate finance and
regulatory aspects in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. He was an assistant vice
president of the Listing Division of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, and his
duties included regulating and monitoring the Hong Kong listed companies in
relation to their compliance with the Listing Rules and processing new listing
applications. He also served as a senior consultant of an investment bank for
more than 5 years.

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
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Ms. MA Yunyan, aged 60, an Independent Non-executive Director and a
member of each of the Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee of the Company. Ms. Ma has been a member of the
Board since September 2004. Ms. Ma graduated from the Law School of
Peking University in 1984 and obtained qualification as a lawyer in China in
1986. She is the senior Partner of Shu Jin Law Firm. She is a member of the
First ChiNext Listing Committee of the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (appointed
in June 2020), and was a member of the Fourth, Eighth and Ninth Listing
Committee of Shenzhen Stock Exchange. From August 2009 to August 2011,
she was a member of the Growth Enterprises Board Public Offering Review
Committee of China Securities Regulatory Committee. She has been dedicated
to teaching and doing research in the Law School in relation to international
commerce and investment aspects for 10 years. She has years of experience
in the legal field in relation to the capital markets, including investment,
merger and acquisition, issuance of securities, etc., and has lead-managed the
issuance of shares and convertible bonds and major restructuring of numerous
companies listed in PRC and Hong Kong.

Ms. MA Yunyan
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Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN, aged 59, an Independent Non-executive Director
and a member of each of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee
(appointed in February 2022) of the Company. Mr. Yan has been a member of
the Board since May 2019. Mr. Yan graduated from University of Technology,
Sydney with a Master of Management. Mr. Yan previously served as the
Director of the MBA (Mandarin International) Education Centre of the
University of Technology, Sydney from 1998 to 2000, the General Manager of
Insearch Consulting (Shanghai) Ltd. from 2001 to 2005, the General Manager
of Ecole Fashion Consulting (Beijing) Ltd. from 2006 to 2013 and the Director
of Global Finance Development Education Center of PBC School of Finance,
Tsinghua University from 2013 to 2020. Mr. Yan is the president of China
Global Philanthropy Institute (CGPI) since September 2020.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. YUAN Xiaogin, aged 53, a president of Huabao Flavours, joined the Group
since August 2006. Ms. Yuan is also a director of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries marked with “YX1” and the legal representative of those companies
marked with “YX2" as set out in Note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.
Ms. Yuan holds an MBA degree and is a qualified engineer. Before joining the
Group, Ms. Yuan served as an executive in a Hong Kong listed state-owned
enterprise. She has over 20 years of experience in senior management position.
Ms. Yuan is currently the deputy director of China Association of Fragrance
Flavour and Cosmetic Industries, deputy director of China Association of Bakery &
Confectionery Industry, chairman of the Food Additives and Ingredients Industry
Association in Shanghai City and consultant of the Federation of Industry and
Commerce in Chaoyang District, Shantou City. She was a representative of the
People’s Congress in Shantou City, Guangdong Province and a member of the
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in
Chaoyang District, Shantou City.

R T S Ms. YUAN Xiaogin
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Mr. ZHAO Dexu
HEEE LA

Mr. ZHAO Dexu, aged 45, a vice president of the Group, joined the Group
since July 2020. Mr. Zhao is also a director of the Company’s principal
subsidiaries marked with “ZD1" and the legal representative of those
companies marked with “ZD2" as set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. Mr. Zhao graduated with a Master’s degree in Computer
Science from The Brandenburg University of Technology Cottbus—Senftenberg
in Germany and had previously worked in Germany. Mr. Zhao was selected
as a member of China’s “Thousand Talents Plan” (Xinjiang Project), as an
“overseas high level talent” of Jiangsu Province and as a “high-end foreign
talent” in Shanghai. He was presented the “2012 Best Value CIO Award”
in 2012 and was named as one of China’s digital transformation leader in
2018 and 2019. Since 2019, he also serves as the sixth batch of postgraduate
advisor of Jiangsu Province and an industry professor of Jiangsu University.
Before joining the Group, Mr. Zhao held executive position in large diversified
organizations. He has extensive experiences in the fields of corporate
management, strategic and information management.
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Mr. CHOY Man Fai, aged 58, a vice president of Huabao Flavours, joined the
Group since August 2006, responsible for the technical aspect of marketing
and sales of tobacco flavours. Mr. Choy is also a director of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries marked “FC1" as set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. He holds a diploma of applied chemical technology of
Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr. Choy served as a marketing manager
in a number of world renowned flavours and fragrances companies. Mr. Choy
has over 20 years of experience in flavours and fragrances marketing and
management.
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Mr. Alan DAVIES
Alan DAVIES %t &

Mr. Alan DAVIES, aged 74, the chief flavourist of Huabao Flavours
and general manager of Aromascape Development Centre in Germany,
joined the Group since February 2007. Mr. Davies is also a director of the
Company'’s principal subsidiaries marked with “AD1" as set out in Note 33
to the consolidated financial statements. Mr. Davies holds a Higher National
Diploma in food science of Grimsby College of Technology, United Kingdom.
Mr. Davies served as a senior flavourist in charge of creation and applications
in a number of world renowned flavours and fragrances companies and
tobacco factory, including BBA, Carreras Rothmans, Dragoco and Symrise.
Mr. Davies has over 35 years of experience in tobacco flavours.
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Mr. REN Miao, aged 42, a vice president of Huabao Flavours, joined the

Group since September 2016. Mr. Ren is also a director of the Company’s
principal subsidiaries marked with “RM1" as set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. Mr. Ren graduated from Taiyuan University
of Technology with a bachelor’s degree in Machinery Design, Manufacturing
and Automation. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Ren held several executive
positions such as marketing director, vice president, etc. at various companies,
and has extensive practical experience in marketing strategy management.
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Mr. GAO Xu
St

Mr. GAO Xu, aged 38, the president of Tobacco Raw Materials Business
Division and general manager of the Company’s subsidiaries namely, Shanghai
Huabao Biological Technology Co., Ltd., Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology
Development Co., Ltd. ("Guangdong linye”) and Hunan Jishou Minzu Materials
Co., Ltd, joined the Group since April 2007. Mr. Gao is also a director of the
Company'’s principal subsidiaries marked with “GX1" and the legal representative
of those companies marked with “GX2" as set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. Mr. Gao holds a bachelor’s degree in Food Science and
Engineering from Nanjing University of Finance and Economics and a master’s
degree in Food Science from Jiangnan University. Since joining the Group in 2007,
Mr. Gao has held different positions, namely technician of tobacco flavour market
service center, deputy general manager of Yunnan Tianhong Flavor and Fragrance
Co., Ltd., assistant to the chairman of Guangdong Jinye, vice president of Tobacco
Raw Materials Business Division and president of Tobacco Raw Materials Business
Division. He has extensive operational and managerial experience in tobacco raw
materials.
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Ms. LI Xiaojun, aged 52, a vice president of Huabao Flavours, joined the
Group since June 2000. Ms. Li is also a director of the Company’s principal

subsidiaries marked with “LX1” and the legal representative of those
companies marked with “LX2" as set out in Note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. Ms. Li holds a bachelor’'s degree and is a qualified
Intermediate Accountant. After joining the Group, Ms. Li served as a financial
manager in the Group and presidents of several subsidiaries. Since August
2020, she is also the chairman of Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical Technology
Co., Ltd. (a subsidiary of the Group listed on the National Equities Exchange
and Quotations). Ms. Li has about 20 years of extensive experiences in the
field of corporate management.
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Corporate Governance Report

Corporate governance refers to the rules and incentives by which the
management of a company is directed and controlled to maximize
the profitability and long-term value of the firm for shareholders
while taking into account the interest of other legitimate
stakeholders (UK Cadbury Report 1992). The Board recognises the
importance and benefits of good corporate governance practices
and has adopted certain corporate governance and disclosure
practices aiming at a high level of transparency and accountability.
The Company is committed to continuously improving its corporate
governance practices as part of its own corporate culture.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2021 (the
“Financial Year”), the Company had complied with the code
provisions in the CG Code and, where appropriate, adopted the
recommended best practice as set out in the CG Code, except for
code provisions A.2.1 and A.4.1:

Code provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (“Ms. Chu"), Chairlady of the
Board and Executive Director of the Company, took up the position
of CEO since 9 April 2013. As the Board meets regularly to consider
matters relating to business operations of the Group, the Board is of
the view that the above arrangement will not impair the balance of
power and authority of the Board and the executive management.
The effectiveness of corporate planning and implementation of
corporate strategies and decisions will generally not be affected.

Code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should
be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election. The
INEDs of the Company were not appointed for a specific term as
they are subject to retirement by rotation no later than the third
annual general meeting of the Company since their last appointment
or re-election and are eligible for re-election in accordance with the
Company’s bye-laws. As such, the Company considers that sufficient
measures have been taken to ensure that the Company’s corporate
governance practices are no less exacting than those set out in the
CG Code.

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of
applying and complying with the CG Code but about promoting
and developing an ethical and healthy corporate culture. The
Directors will continue to review and, where appropriate, improve
the standard operations of the Company on the basis of the
experience and regulatory changes to enhance the confidence of the
Shareholders, and to safeguard Shareholders’ interest for assuring
healthy business developments.
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Changes in Information in respect of Directors

In accordance with Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes
to information required to be disclosed by Directors pursuant to
paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of Rule 13.51(2) between 20 August
2021 (being the date of approval of the Company’s 2021 interim
report) and 25 March 2022 (being the date of approval of this
annual report) are set out below:

1. Mr. WU Chi Keung ceased to be an independent non-executive
director of the Company with effect from 30 September 2021;

2. Ms. MA Yunyan was appointed as a member of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 30 September 2021;
and

3. Mr. POON Chiu Kwok ceased to be an independent

non-executive director of Honghua Group Limited with effect
from 1 December 2021;

4. Ms. LAM Ka Yan was appointed as an executive director of
the Company and as a member of the Nomination Committee
with effect from 14 February 2022;

5. Ms. CHOY Man Har was appointed as an executive director of
the Company with effect from 14 February 2022; and

6.  Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN was appointed as a member of the
Nomination Committee with effect from 14 February 2022.

THE BOARD

Board Composition

The Company has a well-balanced Board. As of date of this report,
the Board comprises six Executive Directors and three INEDs. The
members of the Board are as follows:

Executive Directors

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEO)

Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman)

Mr. XIA Ligun (Vice Chairman and President)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and Company Secretary)
Ms. LAM Ka Yan

Ms. CHOY Man Har

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
Ms. MA Yunyan
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN
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There is no relationship (including financial, business, family or other
material relationship) between any members of the Board, except for
Ms. Chu being the mother of both Mr. LAM Ka Yu and Ms. LAM Ka
Yan (all are Executive Directors of the Company). Biographies of the
Directors are set out on pages 41 to 45 of this annual report. The
present Board has experience, expertise, and qualifications in aspects
of production and operation, management, accounting and finance,
legal and regulatory both in Hong Kong and China. One out of three
INEDs possesses recognised professional qualification in accounting.
The INEDs bring independent judgment, professional knowledge and
experience appropriate for the Board'’s deliberations. All Directors
have relevant qualifications in relevant field of expertise and have
exhibited personal and professional ethics and integrity. The diversity
of experiences and backgrounds enable the Board to enhance better
corporate governance and performance standard and to bring in
valuable contributions and objective advice for the development of
the Group's businesses.

During the Financial Year, the Board met the requirements of
the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of independent
non-executive directors representing at least one-third of the Board,
with at least one independent non-executive director possessing
appropriate qualification, or accounting or related financial
management expertise (in compliance with Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules). During the Financial Year, two of the INEDs, Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
("Mr. Lee”) and Mr. WU Chi Keung (“Mr. Wu"), both retired by
rotation and, each being eligible, offered themselves for re-election
at the AGM held on 18 May 2021.

Mr. Lee joined the Company since May 2006 and has been serving
as an INED for more than nine years. Mr. Lee is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United
Kingdom and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Mr. Lee has over 30 years of experience
in commercial accounting and corporate finance. Throughout
Mr. Lee’s directorship with the Company, Mr. Lee has participated
in numerous Board meetings to give impartial advice and exercise
independent judgement, served on various committees of the Board,
but has not engaged in any executive or management role in the
Company. Taking into consideration of his independent scope of
work in the past, the Board (including the INEDs other than Mr. Lee)
considered that the long service of Mr. Lee would not affect his
exercise of independent judgement and was satisfied that Mr. Lee
has the required character, integrity and experience to continue
fulfilling the role of an INED.
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Mr. Wu joined the Company since August 2013. Should Mr. Wu be
re-elected as director of the Company at the 2021 AGM, Mr. Wu
would have been serving as the independent non-executive Director
of the Company for more than nine years. Mr. Wu is a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in
the United Kingdom and an associate of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wu has over 30 years of
experience in financial audit, corporate restructuring and merger
and acquisitions. Throughout Mr. Wu's directorship with the
Company, Mr. Wu has participated in numerous Board meetings
to give impartial advice and exercise independent judgement,
served on various committees of the Board, but has not engaged
in any executive or management role in the Company. Taking into
consideration of his independent scope of work in the past, the
Board (including the INEDs other than Mr. Wu) considered that the
long service of Mr. Wu would not affect his exercise of independent
judgement and was satisfied that Mr. Wu has the required character,
integrity and experience to continue fulfilling the role of an INED.

As such, the Board (including the INEDs other than Mr. Lee or,
where appropriate, Mr. Wu), considered Mr. Lee and Mr. Wu to be
independent under the Listing Rules despite the length of each of
their service. The Board (including the INEDs other than Mr. Lee or,
where appropriate, Mr. Wu) believes that the continued tenure of
Mr. Lee and Mr. Wu would bring considerable stability to the Board
and that Mr. Lee's and Mr. Wu's understanding of the Company’s
operations and business, their compliance experiences, and their
continuous participation in professional development training to
update each of their professional knowledge will enable them to
continue to contribute new perspectives as well as impartial and
independent views to the Board.

The Company has complied with the code provision A.4.3 of the CG
Code that the election of each of Mr. Lee and Mr. Wu as INEDs was
subject to separate resolutions. Mr. Wu resigned as an independent
non-executive Director on 30 September 2021.

The Company has received, from each of the INEDs, an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Board has assessed their independence and concluded
that all the INEDs are considered to be independent pursuant to the
Listing Rules.
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Chairlady and Chief Executive Officer

Ms. Chu is the Chairlady of the Board (responsible for the
management of Board’s operation and development of the Group’s
strategic planning) and Executive Director of the Company. She took
up the position of CEO (responsible for important management
and business decisions making of the Group) since 9 April 2013.
Ms. Chu has extensive experience in business operation and strategic
planning. The Board believes that Ms. Chu, by taking up the roles
of the Chairlady and CEO concurrently, is beneficial to the business
development and management of the Group.

Mr. XIA Liqun as Vice Chairman and President, is responsible for the
daily operational management of the Group and reports to the CEO
directly. With the support of Mr. XIA Liqun as the Vice Chairman and
President, Mr. POON Chiu Kwok as the Vice President and Company
Secretary, the Chairlady shall ensure that all Directors are properly
briefed on issues arising at board meetings and receive adequate,
complete, reliable and timely information for making decisions.
Apart from the above, the Chairlady is also responsible for the duties
as specified in code provisions A.2.4 to A.2.9 of the CG Code.

Roles and Responsibilities of Directors

The primary objective of the Board is to maximize the profitability
of the Company and to safeguard and enhance long-term value of
the Company for the Shareholders. To this end, the Board assumes
the responsibilities for leadership and control of the Company and
oversees the businesses, strategic development direction, financial
performance and corporate governance of the Group. All new board
members have been given information on the general business
background and policy of the Company on joining the Board. All
Directors have been provided with regular trainings by external
experienced lawyers to update and refresh the applicable legal and
other regulatory requirements and enhance the knowledge and skills
required by directors to perform their duties.

The Board, led by the Chairlady, is collectively responsible for
formulating and approving the business strategies of the Company,
setting objectives for management, overseeing its performance
and assessing the effectiveness of management strategies. The
Executive Directors are responsible for the day-to-day management
of the Company’s operations and conduct meetings with senior
management of the Group at which operational issues and financial
performance are evaluated.
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The Bye-laws set out the responsibilities and proceedings of the
Board. Significant operational policies have to be discussed and
approved by the Board. To enable the Directors to meet their
obligations, an appropriate organizational structure is in place with
clearly defined responsibilities and limits of authority. The Company
has arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and
senior management of the Company in respect of legal action that
may be brought against them in the course of execution of their
duties in good faith.

Board Meetings

The Board conducts scheduled board meetings on a quarterly
basis to discuss strategies and business issues, including financial
performance of the Group. Details of attendance of the Directors at
the physical meetings are set out on page 71 of this annual report.

Notices of board meeting are given to each member of the Board
at least 14 days prior to the meeting, whereby the Director can put
forward his/her proposed items into the agenda. The agenda and
the relevant board papers are then circulated to the Directors at least
3 days before a board meeting is convened to enable them to make
informed decisions at the meeting.

Drafts of the board minutes and board committee meeting minutes
are circulated to all Directors and the relevant board committee
members respectively for their review and comments before
finalization. The final version of such minutes will be kept by the
Company Secretary and are open for inspection by the Directors
and committee members. If a Director has an interest in a matter
to be considered at a board meeting, the Board will ensure that
an adequate number of independent directors are involved in the
consideration of the relevant resolutions, and the relevant director(s)
having an interest in the matter will abstain from voting.

Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and relevant
materials and have unrestricted access to advice and services of the
Company Secretary/Legal Department and Compliance Department
of the Company with a view to ensuing that board procedures and
all applicable rules and regulations are followed. Directors are able
to seek independent professional advice as and when required at the
Company’s expense. INEDs are encouraged to take an active role in
board meetings and serve on the sub-board committees.

During the Financial Year, the Chairlady has held a meeting with the
INEDs without the presence of other Directors.
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Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

Although all the Directors were not appointed for a specific term,
every Director shall, in accordance with bye-law 87 of the Bye-laws,
retire from office by rotation no later than the third annual general
meeting of the Company since their last appointment or re-election
and are eligible for re-election.

Directors’ Interests and Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the code of conduct
regarding dealing in the securities of the Company by the Directors.
Having made specific enquiries of all Directors, the Company has
received their written confirmations that they have complied with
the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout the
Financial Year. Full details of the Directors’ interests in the Shares are
set out on pages 91 to 92 of this annual report.

Delegation of Directors

The Board may from time to time delegate all or any of its powers
that it may think fit to a director or member of senior management
of the Company. The Board has formulated specific rules and
policies on such delegation of power to facilitate efficient operation
of the Company and is supported by three committees which are
the Remuneration Committee, Audit Committee and Nomination
Committee.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has maintained the Remuneration Committee, Audit
Committee and Nomination Committee. Each of these committees
has specific written terms of reference which deal clearly with their
authority and duties. The chairman of the committees will report
their findings and make recommendations to the Board after each
meeting.

Remuneration Committee

On 30 September 2021, Mr. WU Chi Keung resigned as an
independent non-executive Director and ceased to be the a member
of the Remuneration Committee. As of the date of this report, the
Remuneration Committee consists of two INEDs, namely Mr. LEE
Luk Shiu (the chairman of Remuneration Committee) and Ms. MA
Yunyan, and one Executive Director, Mr. XIA Liqun.
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The Remuneration Committee’s responsibilities include making
recommendations for approval by the Board with respect to matters
relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors and senior
management. In discharging its responsibilities, the Remuneration
Committee has performed the following works:

o To review and make recommendations on the Company’s
policies and structure for the remuneration of the Executive
Directors and senior management;

o To evaluate remuneration packages of the Executive Directors
by reference to market conditions, performance of the Group
and the individual and corporate goals and objectives as set by
the Board from time to time, and make recommendations on
the remuneration of the INEDs for the Board's approval; and

o To review and evaluate the Company’s share option scheme (if
any).

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee was
published on the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk and
on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Directors will abstain from voting in determining their own
remuneration packages. During the Financial Year, the Remuneration
Committee met once to, among other things, review the emolument
packages of the Directors and senior management. The individual
attendance of Remuneration Committee members at meetings is
set out on page 71 of this annual report. Details of the emolument
of the Directors are set out in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements while details of the Share Option Scheme to the Directors
and senior management are set out on pages 83 to 85 of this annual
report.

Audit Committee

On 30 September 2021, Mr. WU Chi Keung resigned as an
independent non-executive Director and ceased to be a member
of the Audit Committee. As of the date of this report, the Audit
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Mr. LEE Luk Shiu (the
chairman of Audit Committee), Ms. MA Yunyan and Mr. Jonathan
Jun YAN.
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The principal responsibilities of the Audit Committee include assisting
the Board in maintaining a high standard of corporate governance,
developing and reviewing the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and making recommendations to the Board,
particularly by providing independent review of the effectiveness
of the Company’s financial reporting process and material internal
controls, including financial, operational, compliance and risk
management controls and, to maintain good and independent
communications with the management as well as auditors of the
Company. The Audit Committee is also responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties set out in the terms of reference
under code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code as delegated by the
Board. In discharging its responsibilities, the Audit Committee has
performed the following work:

o To review the financial budget and planning including
the annual and interim financial statements and results
announcements during the financial year/for the reporting
period;

o To discuss with the external auditors and the management on
possible accounting risks;

o To review the effectiveness of the Group’s financial controls,
corporate governance, internal controls and risk management
systems;

o To review the sufficiency of manpower, resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget
of the Company’s accounting, internal audit and financial
reporting functions;

o To approve the audit fees and terms of engagement of the
external auditors;

o To review the independence of the external auditors and make
recommendations to the Board on the re-appointment of the
external auditors; and

o To review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with corporate governance and other legal and
regulatory requirements, and to report to the Board on their
decisions or recommendation.

The terms of reference of Audit Committee was published on the
Company's website at www.huabao.com.hk and on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.
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The Audit Committee meets regularly with the Company’s external
auditors to discuss accounting issues, and reviews the effectiveness
of risk management and internal control systems. During the
Financial Year, the Audit Committee met twice to, among other
things, review the financial reports for 2020 audited annual results
and 2021 interim results (including the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code and the contents disclosed in the Corporate
Governance Report) and the effectiveness of the Group’s risk
management and internal controls system. The individual attendance
of Audit Committee members at meetings is set out on page 71 of
this annual report. Members of the Audit Committee were satisfied
with the Company’s risk management and internal control systems
and the financial reporting disclosures.

The Audit Committee of the Company has reviewed the Group’s
audited annual results for the Financial Year.

Nomination Committee

On 30 September 2021, Mr. WU Chi Keung resigned as an
independent non-executive Director and ceased to be a member
of the Nomination Committee and Ms. Ma Yunyan was appointed
as a member of the Nomination Committee. On 14 February
2022, Ms. Lam Ka Yan and Mr. Jonathan Jun Yan were appointed
as members of the Nomination Committee. As of the date of
this report, the Nomination Committee comprises two Executive
Directors, namely Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (the Chairlady of Nomination
Committee) and Ms. Lam Ka Yan and three INEDs, namely Mr. LEE
Luk Shiu, Ms. MA Yunyan and Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include
formulating nomination policy for the Board’s consideration
and implementing the Board’'s approved nomination policy,
considering the development targets and strategies of the Company
and the skills mix needed in respect of the Board, and making
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors. In discharging its responsibilities,
the Nomination Committee has performed the following work:

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k AR 2 7] 2021 Annual Report &5

>

I

.Lt* ;I:l

BERZESHARMNINEZEMEHAAER
WERHEE TRTRAREERANIPELER
BzERE RAFREERN BZELES
BITMAGH (AP EIE) UEH2020FEZ
KEREFEEN2IFEZHRHES (B
BAAREBTEEEARTAUBRAIRCESE
AMEFHRENARAD) UERBFTAEEREZ A
SEBNMNANBELRR AR - SEZZ
BeZEHESFNLBENAERFETIH -
$V§E@§Eﬁ$“ﬂ2ﬂﬁaﬁﬁmﬁ
ERZHEMPERENEER R E

ARRBEREZEE BN AKREATREE
LIBEGEFRE -

REZE®

720214 9H30H - tAE ® £ £ B E AR A
%4#%ﬂ§$17@?&%%%:A§E
MMERLTEZTARZREZEESEEZE R
2022¢2ﬂ145 W E AT 2+ KJonathan Jun
YANEEEZEARBEZEEGEE - NAR
SHE RELZECSH_BHRTES  BIK
MEZT(BIREZESEFE) MKETL L
M=BBIIFERITES  BIFZHKEE
= # A+ FMJonathan Jun YANSE £ 4B EK ©

REZBEZTERARFIERABRHTE
EEERE UHTKRESSHENRZBE
EZRAREREGRBNESTSMTEORAE
e UEREFZAENEZTNETTEM
EFeRbEFZ -BTHEHRBER REZE
SOET I



Corporate Governance Report

° To review the structure, size and composition of the Board and
diversity of Board members, and make any proposed changes
to the Board according to the Company’s corporate strategy;

o To identify individuals suitably qualified to become board
members and select or make recommendations to the board
on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

o To consider the development targets and strategies of the
Company and the skills mix needed in respect of the Board,
and make recommendations to the Board;

o To assess the independence of INEDs and review the INEDs’
annual confirmations on their independence; and make
disclosure of its review results in the Corporate Governance
Report; and

o To make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or re-appointment of directors.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee was published
on the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk and on the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange's website at www.hkexnews.hk.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company adopted a board diversity policy in September 2013
(the “Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
on the board by considering a number of factors and measurable
objectives, including without limitation, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional skills, knowledge, experience
and length of service, in order to maintain an appropriate range and
balance of talents, skills, experience and background of the Board.
Appointments of Board members shall be based on merit, and
candidates will be assessed based on objective criteria. The Company
will also take into account factors based on its own business model
and specific needs from time to time. The Nomination Committee
will monitor the implementation of the Policy, review the Policy from
time to time, and report to the Board on their decisions or propose
recommendations on any amendments for the Board's review and
approval, in order to ensure the effectiveness of the Policy.
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During the Financial Year, the Nomination Committee met twice
for, among other things, reviewing the board structure, the diversity
of Board members and the commitment of Directors and making
recommendations to the Board. The Nomination Committee
considered that the composition of the Board is well balanced
and diversified in terms of gender, age, educational background,
professional skills and experience. It meets the needs of the business
operations and development of the Group. The Board is of the view
that every Director has dedicated sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Company. Each Director had disclosed to the Company
at the time of his/her appointment of the directorships held in other
listed companies or nature of offices held in public organizations and
other significant commitments. The Company has also requested
Directors to provide in a timely manner any change in such
information. The individual attendance of Nomination Committee
members at meetings is set out on page 71 of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has full responsibility for maintaining an integrated and
effective risk management and internal control systems of the
Group, which includes the establishment of a defined management
structure with specified limits of authority. The internal control
system is designed to assist in the achievement of business objectives
of the Group, safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or
disposition, ensuring the proper maintenance of accounting records
for the provision of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication and ensuring compliance with relevant
legislation and regulation. The internal control system is designed
to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The internal control system (embedded in
the operations of the Company and forms part of the Company’s
culture) includes:

effectiveness and efficiency of operations;

o capability in responding quickly to evolving risks to the business
arising from factors within the Company and to the changes
in business environment; and include procedures for reporting
immediately to appropriate management levels regarding any
significant control weakness that are identified together with
details of corrective action being undertaken;

o reliability of financial reporting; and

o compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
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The key procedures that the Board established to provide effective
internal controls are as follows:

Organizational Structure and Risk Management

An appropriate organizational structure is in place with defined
operating policies and procedures as well as responsibility and lines
of authority.

The Company has set out Internal Audit Department with scope of
works advised by the Audit Committee.

The Legal Department and Compliance Department are led
by professional legal staff and experienced company secretary
respectively. Together with other business functions (including
Internal Audit Department) of the Group, the Legal Department and
Compliance Department monitor and assess risk regularly, boost
related management standards and evaluate investment projects.
The Company has a long-term engagement with a reputable
international law firm, Herbert Smith Freehills, as its annual retainer
counsel for provision of legal advice relating to compliance of Listing
Rules and regulatory requirements.

Authority and Control

The Executive Directors and senior management are delegated with
respective levels of authorities to carry out the corporate strategies
and policies and related matters formulated by the Board.

Budgetary Control and Financial Reporting

The Group implements a comprehensive budget management and
the overall financial budget is executed upon approval by the Board.
Relevant procedures have been established to assess, review and
approve major capital and recurring expenditures, and regular review
and make comparison between operating results and the budget.

The Group has established appropriate internal control procedures to
ensure accurate and complete accounting and management records
are kept on a timely basis. Examination and review are carried
out regularly to ensure that the financial statements are properly
prepared in conformity with the generally accepted accounting
principles, the Group’s accounting policies and the applicable laws
and regulations.
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Risk Management and Internal Control Review

During the Financial Year, the Internal Audit Department had carried
out an annual review on the internal control system including
financial, operational and compliance control, and risk management
functions. The review adopts a risk-based approach to create and
review the effectiveness of an internal control system and includes
the following works:

() To follow up on individual matters concerning the
improvement of the internal control system in accordance with
the guidance and suggestions of independent directors and
the external auditor of the Company;

(i)  To carry out a high level review on the internal control system
of new members/businesses of the Group, by integrating
the internal control framework set out by The Committee
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Committee
("C0OSO"), the China Internal Auditing Standards, the basic
internal control standards and complementary guidelines of
the Group, etc. as basic requirements;

(i)  To arrange site visit and perform focused walk through test
on the internal control system of members of the Group on
risk control priority basis pursuant to the risk control principles
mentioned above; and

(iv)  To design and review the questionnaires on the effectiveness
of the risk management and internal control systems submitted
by the head offices of the Group, subsidiaries, business sectors
of the Company.

The Company has adopted a set of risk management and internal
control policies and procedures to safeguard the Group’s assets, to
ensure proper maintenance of accounting records and reliability of
financial information, and to ensure compliance with relevant laws
and regulations.

The Directors and senior management of the Company received the
information about local, market and operations-related dynamic
movements regularly and their understanding of the risk assessment
is enhanced through the on-the-job training and regular senior
management meetings, at which they discuss cases of the potential
risk management.
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Identification, assessment and management:

- The head of each department such as the Investment
Department, Finance Department Legal Department and
Compliance Department of the Company will inform and
report to the relevant Directors regarding the factors that have
impact on the profit and price based on the nature of business
and their own experience. During the course of execution, the
concerned project teams of the Company will handle relevant
documents and report to the relevant personnel (including the
Directors).

- As for the matters as required to be disclosed under the Listing
Rules, the Compliance Department will present the issues to
the Board for review and discussion, and the Legal Department
and Compliance Department will separately inform relevant
members of the project team that dealing in the shares of the
Company is prohibited.

Review prior to the transactions:

- Generally, the price sensitive information forms regarding the
daily operation and connected transactions of the Company
will be circulated to relevant departments at the beginning
of every month by the Finance Department, and the Finance
Department will combine and submit the forms to the
Compliance Department for overall review in the middle of
each month, ensuring that there are no material omissions.
The Legal Department will also assist to regularly confirm with
the Compliance Department for any material contracts (if any).

During the Financial Year, Internal Audit Department has presented its
review report and make recommendations to the Audit Committee
and the Audit Committee has discussed with the management
and reported the progress of the work plan and related findings,
particularly those related to new members of the Group to the Board
at board meeting.
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Measures to further enhance Internal Control Systems and
Corporate Governance practices

In compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules and for
the purpose of reinforcing the Group’s internal control system, the
Company has established a whistleblowing policy and system for
employees to raise concerns, in a confidential manner, with the
Audit Committee about possible irregularities in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters related to the Company. The Audit
Committee is responsible for reviewing the relevant policy and
system regularly. At the beginning of 2021, the Company had also
established an anti-fraud leadership team, aimed at strengthening
the guidance, organization and coordination of anti-fraud and
whistle-blowing works to reinforce standard operations and risk
management.

The Directors has further strengthened corporate governance
practices, including execution of the internal reporting policy
throughout the Group in monitoring the operation and business
developments of the Company so as to capture potentially
price-sensitive information on an on-going basis, monitoring the
continuing disclosure obligation. The Board has further strengthened
corporate governance practices by establishing lending policy to
monitor its credit level. In addition, the annual retainer counsel of
the Company has provided the Directors (existing and new board
members) and the relevant senior executives with training on Listing
Rules, regulatory requirements and cases of enforcement at least
twice a year.

During the Financial Year, the Internal Audit Department of the
Company has carried out internal control audits in respect of those
risk areas, such as business operation, financial system, project
investment and management, corporate governance, etc., and also
head offices, business sectors and certain subsidiaries of the Group.
The Internal Audit Department has reported to the Directors in respect
of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control
system and significant risks. The Board reviewed and evaluated the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems of the
Company and its subsidiaries by considering reviews performed by
the Audit Committee with the assistance of the management team,
the Internal Audit Department and the external auditors.

As a result of the above measures and upon review, the Board
confirms, and management has also confirmed to the Board, that
the Group’s risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate (including the resources, staff qualifications
and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions are
adequate) and have complied with the CG Code provisions on risk
management and internal control throughout the Financial Year and
up to the date of this annual report.
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Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

For the purposes of handling and disseminating inside information in
accordance with the Listing Rules and the SFO, the Company has in
place a policy on handling and dissemination of inside information
(the "Policy”) which sets out the procedures and internal controls
for handling and dissemination of inside information in a timely
manner in such a way so as not to place any person in a privileged
dealing position and to allow time for the market to price the listed
securities of the Company with the latest available information. This
Policy also provides guidelines to staff of the Company to ensure
proper safeguards exist to prevent the Company from breaching
the statutory disclosure requirements. It also includes appropriate
internal control and reporting systems to identify and assess potential
inside information.

Directors’ Training

All Directors participated in appropriate continuous professional
development and provided the Company with their records
of training they received during the Financial Year. Directors
participated in the training which included reading regulatory
updates, attending seminars or conducting training sessions and
exchanging views.

Executive Directors HITES

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu RMELZ+
Mr. LAM Ka Yu MEFEE
Mr. XIA Liqun BER B E
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok ERRE &

Ms. LAM Ka Yan (Note )
Ms. CHOY Man Har ot

I AT A+ HED
23 B A £ MED

Independent Non-executive Directors BYFHTES
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FHIKEE
Ms. MA Yunyan =2+

Mr. WU Chi Keung Mote2)
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN

HA R od o A (D)
Jonathan Jun YAN%E 4

Note:

1. Appointed as executive director of the Company with effect from 14
February 2022.

2. Ceased to act as an independent non-executive director of the
Company with effect from 30 September 2021.
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Company Secretary’s Training

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok, the Executive Director, Vice President and
Company Secretary of the Company, is responsible for assisting
the Board for facilitating communications among Directors as well
as ensuring that the Board’s policy and procedures are followed
properly. The Company Secretary also provides professional advice
and services to the Board on corporate governance and other
matters. He is also responsible for organizing general meetings and
facilitating the induction and professional development of Directors.

During the Financial Year, Mr. Poon has taken not less than 15 hours
of continuing professional trainings.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Directors’ Responsibility in Preparing Financial Reporting
The Board is responsible for the preparation and timely publication
of financial statements. In preparing the financial statements,
relevant statutory requirements have been complied with, applicable
accounting standards in force in Hong Kong have been adopted,
appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent
basis, going concern basis has been adopted and reasonable and
prudent judgments and estimates have been made.

Auditor’s Report and Remuneration

The Company’s external auditors are PricewaterhouseCoopers. There
has been no change in the Company’s external auditors for the
preceding three years.

The external auditors have a primary responsibility for auditing and
reporting on the financial statements. The Auditor’'s Report to the
Shareholders is set out on pages 120 to 128 of this annual report.

During the Financial Year, the remuneration paid/payable to the
Company’s auditors (including statutory auditors of the subsidiaries)
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in relation to audit services and non-audit services provided to the FE#ZBRTS @ BN ENEEE 2 EBET ¢
Group are as follows:

Nature of Services REME Amount
k]
(RMB'000)
(ANRETFT)

Audit services Z B8R 5
— for the audit of the Group — S EEE 4,384
— for the statutory and other audits of the subsidiaries  —F 2 A% & H fh 25 5t 5,181
Non-audit services FEIZER 75 2,876

Please also refer to Note 24 to consolidated financial statement set
out on pages 230 to 231 of this annual report for details of Auditors’
Remuneration.
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SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Shares with voting rights in the Company are ordinary shares. The
number of issued ordinary shares as at 31 December 2021 was
3,229,926,876. Details of share capital of the Company are set out
in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements on page 220 of
this annual report. Shareholders holding issued ordinary shares of
the Company were set out below:

TEERBRE

Ji% =R A& R
MEREENBROH AERRG ERBKRMD -
R2021F12A318 » BT EBERBRMHEE
53,229,926,8761% ° AN A R ARFIBE A AR
FHRE20EHKAMBREMFI7IRN-FHE
AABEETEBRZBREAT -

Full details can

be found on the

Total number Percentage of

following page of issued the issued

of this report Shares held share capital

FHEERER aHEE HE®T

Category/Name HRl, BB AERUTEH CBRITROHE Nl

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu Mote) IRRIE 22 =000 Pages 91 to 92 2,293,408,900 71.00%

£912928

Public NRAL 936,517,976 29.00%

Total &5t 3,229,926,876 100.00%
Note: P&

As defined in the Listing Rules, any person (including a holder of depositary
receipts) who is or group of persons (including any holder of depositary
receipts) who are together entitled to exercise or control the exercise of 30%
(or such other amount as may from time to time be specified in the Codes on
Takeovers and Mergers and Share Buy-backs as being the level for triggering
a mandatory general offer) or more of the voting power at general meeting
of the Company.

Procedures for shareholders to convene a special general
meeting

Pursuant to bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, shareholders holding at the
date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid
up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Secretary of the Company, to require
a special general meeting ("SGM") to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business transaction specified in such requisition.

The requisition shall state clearly the matters required to be
considered and approved at the SGM and must be signed by the
requisitionist(s) (with contact details) and submitted to the Board in
written form to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong at least 21 days before the proposed date of the SGM.
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HIEHITTE30% (A FWEE - & 6F KB BT 2D
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The SGM shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition. If the Directors do not within 21 days from the date
of the deposit of the requisition proceed to convene a meeting,
the requisitionists may themselves do so in accordance with the
provisions of Section 74(3) of the Companies Act 1982 of the laws
of Bermuda (as amended) (the “Companies Act”), but any meeting
so convened shall not be held after the expiration of 3 months from
the said date.

Shareholders’ right to propose resolutions at general
meeting

Pursuant to Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, (i) any
number of shareholders representing not less than one-twentieth
(5%) of the total voting rights of all the shareholders having at the
date of the requisition a right to vote at the general meeting to
which the requisition relates; or (ii) not less than 100 shareholders,
may submit to the Company a written request stating the resolution
intended to be moved at AGM or a statement of not more than
1,000 words with respect to the matter referred to in any proposed
resolution or the business to be dealt with at a particular general
meeting.

The written request/statement must be signed by all the
requisitionists and may consist of several documents in like form,
each signed by one or more of the requisitionists, and must be
deposited at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong
Kong, not less than 6 weeks before the AGM in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the general meeting in case of any other requisition. Provided that
if an AGM is called for a date 6 weeks or less after the requisition
has been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the
time required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for
the purposes thereof.

Shareholders’ right to propose a person for election as a
director

Shareholders shall have the right to propose a person for election
as a director at the Company’s general meeting. Please refer to the
detailed procedures for such right on the Company’s website www.
huabao.com.hk.

Making enquiries by Shareholders

Shareholders shall have the right to examine the relevant information
of the Company according to the Bye-laws. Shareholders should
direct their questions about their shareholdings to the Company’s
branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited.
Shareholders may also direct questions or requests for information
through the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk or by
contacting the Head of Investor Relations Department of the
Company (email: ir@huabao.com.hk).
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ACCESSIBLE AND TRANSPARENT COMMUNICATION
WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In addition to the on-going Investor Relation Department’s efforts
mentioned in the next section, the Board values the importance of
communications with the Shareholders. The Company uses a range
of communications tools, such as AGM, annual report, various
notices, announcements and circulars, to ensure its Shareholders are
kept well informed of key business imperatives of the Company.

The Company has maintained a website www.huabao.com.hk which
serves as a forum for corporate communication with its Shareholders
and the general public. All corporate communications required
under the Listing Rules are displayed and can be downloaded (for
documents published in the previous 7 years) from the Company’s
website and there is established procedure to ensure timely update
in compliance with the Listing Rules.

Open Communications

The Group is committed to acting in good faith and in the best
interests of its Shareholders at all times and in all areas of its
operations. The Group actively promotes open communication and
full disclosure of all information needed to protect and maximize
transparency.

Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The shareholders’” communication policy is available for viewing on
the Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk.
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Shareholders’ Meetings held during the Financial Year

The general meeting provides a forum for the Board to communicate
with the Shareholders. To facilitate enforcement of the Shareholders’
rights, significant issues were dealt with under separate resolutions
at the general meeting, including the election and re-election of
individual Director. Details of general meeting(s) held during the
Financial Year are summarized as follows:

Meeting Date Venue

28 HHA b B

AGM 18 May 2021 Regus Conference
BRERBFERE 2021458188 Centre,

35/F, Central Plaza,
18 Harbour Road,
Wanchai,

Hong Kong

s
BB RE185%
IR E 53518

ERTeRE

BT

MERGERS & ACQUISITIONS

No material mergers and acquisitions of the Group were carried out
during the Financial Year.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k AR 2 7] 2021 Annual Report &5

EEERBRE

REMHRFERNBITHRRAE
BRASRESSEBRRER—EBBRE -
RABBRRERRAREG LITEREN E2F
BENRBENAZERNRRASLEE &
HREEREEFENES RABRFEAER
TZBRRREBIEWT :

Resolutions

RER

1. To receive and consider the audited
financial statements and the reports
of the directors and of the auditors
for the year ended 31 December
2020;

HEHE2020F12A31B EFELK
BERVBHRE EFgREREH
B R 5

2. To declare the final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2020;
TR E £2020F12A318 EFEH
HIRAR B 5

3. To re-elect Directors and to
authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations;

BEER IR RESCETRSE
ZHMe

4. To re-appoint the auditors and to
authorize the Board to fix their
remunerations; and
BEZHM ITREEFEETH
Mg &

5. To grant general mandates to buy
back shares, to issue shares and to
exercise the buy-back mandate
BY—MEEAEERMD  BITR
R RITERBERE -

W is & B

RABBRFEAR > RAFREETEMER

WA HER -
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING HEXFRSERERS

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Details of the connected transactions and continuing connected AREBZHEEXINFHEBETIFEBEEHR
transactions of the Company can be found on pages 94 to 114 of KREIFHRFEIAFT114H o _
this annual report.

ATTENDANCE RECORD H 7 52 82

Details of attendance of the Directors (either in person or through
telephone conferences) at Board meetings, meetings of Board

R%% AMBEERARBELFEHNEBE
EEVEYES- & i%i%@@%

committees and general meetings during the Financial Year are set &Hxﬁxgm HERFFHY DT -
out below:
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination
Committee ~ Committee ~ Committee Annual
Board Meeting(s) Meeting(s) Meeting(s) General
Meeting(s) ERZEE HFHZEE€ EZZEE  Meeting(s)
FE-4-F g3 = ] &% RREFXE
No. of meeting held 2ENE 12 2 1 2 1
Executive Directors BTES
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEO) RNERT (ZEEBEHTTE) 121 NATER  NATER 22 10
Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman) WEFEE (BELE) 1212 NATER NATEAR  NATER 17
Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President) ~ EF|Bt %4 (22 E#4£7) 1211 N/A N F 11 N/A NE 1
Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and
Company Secretary) BRRGE (G ELNE) 1212 NASER  NATER  NATER 17
Ms. LAM Ka Yan "ot Mg AT R+ e NATER  NATEA  NATER  NATER  NATER
Ms. CHOY Man Har tete2 By gL N/A R iE R N/A i A N/A i A N/A NEF N/A N iE
Independent Non-executive Directors BUkHTES
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu ks 1212 22 il Wll. N
Ms. MA Yunyan "3 i EF g W) 1112 Wy 7 NATER 11
Mr. WU Chi Keung ") AR I 6/12 20 /1 22 11
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN (es) Jonathan Jun YANSE & its) 1212 22 NATER NANEA 7
Note: B 5T -
1. Appointed as executive director of the Company and as a member of 1. H2022F2A14R B EZEREARBIRITES
the Nomination Committee with effect from 14 February 2022. RIREEZEBEE®EE -
2. Appointed as executive director of the Company with effect from 14 2.  H2022F2A14BBRELZTEARREHITES °
February 2022.
3. Appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect 3. H2021F9A30BRELZT BIREEZECTELE -
from 30 September 2021.
4. Ceased to act as INED and a member of each of the Audit Committee, 4. E2021F9A30R BT BEREBIIERNTES

the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee of the
Company with effect from 30 September 2021.

EARDFIEZEES
gKE -

FHZEERREZE

5. Appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect 5. H2022F2R14ABREZTRAIREEZESEE -
from 14 February 2022.
MAJOR CHANGES TO THE BYE-LAWS REHAEARBE

During the Financial Year, the Company did not make any
amendments to the Company’s Bye-laws.

RAMBRFEAR > KRRBZA

7] 41 Bl 3F £ 1F

HAERMERT
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Investor Relations Report

The Company is committed to upholding an open and proactive
investor relations strategy with an aim at optimizing the knowledge
and understanding of the investment community with respect
to the Company’s corporate mission and vision, development
strategies, competitive position in the industry and operating and
financial performance, so as to enable public investors to make
informed decisions on their investments. The Company fulfils
the above-mentioned through a designated Investor Relations
Department.

The Investor Relations Department acts as an intermediary between
the Company and public investors. The Company abides by the basic
and fair disclosure guidelines to ensure that communication with
Shareholders, investors and media is conducted in a fair manner and
that no material non-public information is made available to any
individual on a selective basis.

INVESTOR RELATIONS REVIEW

During the Current Reporting Period, the Company proactively
communicated with investors by multiple channels to convey its
latest developments, performance, and strategic goals so that
investors could have a better understanding of the Group and sets
solid foundation for the Group’s activities in the capital market in
the future. Investor relations activities conducted by the Group are
as follows,

Details Frequency

Non-deal roadshow 2 (Shantou and Shenzhen)

Results Conference Call 2

Investor Conference Call 12

o Annual general meeting
It is important that the Shareholders have access to clear and
meaningful data which enables them to have a constructive
dialogue with the Company. Shareholders can raise any
questions and comments on the performance or future
business directions of the Company and on any resolutions
to be considered at the AGM. The Company’s Chairlady and
the Audit Committee’s Chairman were present in person or
through telephone/video conferences and available to answer
questions raised at the AGM.

o Analyst coverage

In order to let investors better understand the Group’s
business, the Group proactively communicated with industry
analysts with an aim to gain more attention from the capital
market.
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Investor Relations Report REEBERS

At present, the Group are covered by the analysts of research BERlC NABESUTHEH#END

institutions below, AR B HIRME
. Credit Suisse . mtEE i |
. Tianfeng Securities Co., Ltd. . RKEFEHFRHBRAA
. Haitong Securities Co., Ltd. . BRESRNDBRAR]
. China Merchants Securities Co., Ltd. o BEBESFRHERAA
. Zheshang Securities Co., Ltd. . HMEEHRNDBRAF
. Sinolink Securities Co., Ltd. . eEFROHEBRDA
. Soochow Securities Co., Ltd. . RREBSFRHBRAF]
. Detailed financial statements . HENMBHRE
The Company attaches great importance to annual reports RAFSEEREZEREMPEHRSE -
and interim reports, put a lot of resources for these two WM AEERGEE TBHEEARAND
reports’ preparation, and uses them as one of the major FEEEE AN TIEEREBER Y, — -

communication bridges between the Company and investors.

Through this approach, the latest information of the Group BRHEEBEARAANTSFTHNENERE
can be transmitted to investors, aiming to convey the Group’s BIRBE BRARERMWEERD
comprehensive strategy, operating principles, business and BEHAMEER KL HET XKL
financial performance and future prospects in a detailed and BF S RIBMAKRKE L o

accurate manner.

o E-Communication via Websites of the Company and o BRANTIRENEEREEREN

Professional Investor Relations Website WETETFER

The Company’s website at www.huabao.com.hk contains KR Al 481k Awww.huabao.com.hk -
information such as important corporate data, biographical HEEE X EEF -4
details of Directors, organizational structure and press IR ARIFHESEA -

releases.

In addition, the Company also has professional investor AN KRR MR EBEKREEWER
relations website (http://huabao2.aconnect.com.hk/sc/lhome. #8http://huabao2.aconnect.com.hk/sc/
aspx) to publish interim and annual reports, announcements home.aspx * FIZE AR H K FERE - A
and circulars that enables the Company’s shareholders and ENBREEE  EARARERE
members of the investment community to have timely access EMHBHERBNSEEARA 2 xFE
to the most updated information about the Company. B o
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Investor Relations Report

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACTS

For inquiries, please contact:

Investor Relations Department
Huabao International Holdings Limited
Suite 3008

30th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Telephone: (852) 2877 8999
Fax: (852) 2511 8229
E-mail: ir@huabao.com.hk

Information for investors (as at 31 December 2021)

1. Huabao International Holdings Limited

Board Lot Size 1,000 shares

Number of shares issued

Market capitalization
(based on the closing billion
price of HKD14.52
per share on
31 December 2021)

Stock code
The Stock Exchange of 00336
Hong Kong Limited
stock code
Reuters ticker 336.HK
Bloomberg ticker 336.HK
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3,229,926,876 shares

Approximately HKD46.899
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FIRES

3008%
EEHBRZERBR AT
BEEBER

T|aL 1 (852)2877 8999
{EH : (852)2511 8229
T IS : ir@huabao.com.hk

REEBEB (R=ZE=-—-5+=-A=+—H)

1. EBEEBERERA
SFEBEBEMBREY 1,0000%
BETRMDEE 3,229,926,8760%

MER T -—F 47745 %468.99

+=—A=+—8 BT
WM E =R
BEN1452EHE

A& 55

BB A XSG, 00336
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FEB APPSR 336.HK
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2. Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Company Limited (a non-wholly 2. FEEZEBRM AR A8 (AR A8 —>E

owned subsidiary of the company listed on the ChiNext of the RV BEZGHAIER FTNIEELE
Shenzhen Stock Exchange) FAaE])
Board Lot Size 100 shares BFEEEMRE 1000% _
Number of shares issued 615,880,000 shares O ETRMEE 615,880,000/%
Market capitalization Approximately RMB27.037 MEUZZEZ—F # NR¥270.37

(based on the closing billion +=ZA=+—H (W

price of RMB43.9 uki=EsTile

per share on ARMA3 9T E)

31 December 2021)

Stock code s 173 55

ChiNext of Shenzhen Stock 300741 SEHEALT ZATRIER 300741
Exchange stock code % 19 1 5%

Reuters ticker 300741.5Z BB AL AR SR 300741. 52

Bloomberg ticker 300741: CH ZIEH MR 300741: CH
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Directors’ Report

The Board is pleased to present its annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 (the “Financial Year").

ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

The Company did not undertake any material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures during the
Financial Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the
Group is principally engaged in the R&D, production, distribution
and sales of flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw materials, aroma
raw materials and condiment products in the PRC. The activities of
the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 33 to the
consolidated financial statements. Further discussion and analysis of
the operating activities of the Group during the Financial Year, and
an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business,
as required by Schedule 5 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
can be found in the sections headed “President's Report” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” as set out on pages 9 to
10 and pages 11 to 40 of this annual report respectively. Such
discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's financial condition, results of operations and business
prospects may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties
directly or indirectly pertaining to the Group’s businesses. To the best
of knowledge and belief, the Directors consider that the following
are the key risks and uncertainties identified by the Group as at the
date of this report.

The risk of downstream industry control and policies on
tobacco industry

Following the promulgation and implementation of the PRC
Advertising Law in 2015, the restrictions on tobacco marketing have
in turn become more rigid, and consequently the room for marketing
the tobacco market becomes narrower. On the other hand, the
tax-induced price hike policy has raised the consumption tax and
wholesale price, and subsequently escalated the consumption
cost of cigarettes, which to a certain extent has suppressed the
demand for cigarette consumption. With the tightening of tobacco
control policies by the international health organizations and local
governments, and the increased awareness of the public on health
and tobacco control, it is possible that the production and sales
volumes of cigarette will further decline in the future, which in turn
will cause the reduction of sales income and operating profit of
the tobacco-related products of the Company. In this regard, the
Company will continue to pay attention to the impacts of industry
and policy changes on the business, and will adjust our business and
development strategies in a timely manner.
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Directors’ Report

The risk of consumer behaviour changes and the impact on
the downstream industries

With the continuous progress of society and the improvement of
people’s living standards, consumers have increased their awareness
of health and environment protection. On the other hand, the
age structure and level of consumers continue to evolve. New
consumption trend as well as consumption concept and consumption
behaviour keep changing. The demand for the Group’s downstream
tobacco, food, daily chemical industry continues to change, thus
affecting the Group's flavours and fragrances and food ingredients
related products and we may face the risk of market share shrinking.
The Company will continue to focus on and enhance the insight into
consumer behaviour, and further optimize the product structure to
meet the requirements of a new generation of consumers.

The impact of food safety policy

At present, the PRC implements an authorized management system
for the food industry, and the major laws, regulations and standards
involved are the Food Safety Law of the PRC and the Announcement
on the Licence for Production of Food Additives. At the same time,
international organizations such as the International Standards
Organization (I1SO), the Codex Alimentarius Commission (CAC),
and the International Organization of the Flavor Industry (IOFI)
have formulated and promulgated product standards and industry
norms to provide industry management systems and the basis for
formulating the relevant industry standards.

To a certain extent, the new policy will increase the operating
costs of enterprises. Should there be any further changes in the
above policies and standards, it will have a direct impact on the
Company’s future development. The Company will continue to
make corresponding adjustment, investment and improvement in
product structure, production technology and product performance
and other aspects to ensure our products and operation comply with
food safety standards.

The impact of environmental protection

With the increased awareness on the environmental protection
by the society, the government’s continuous improvement in
environmental protection may lead to more stringent environmental
protection standards and requirements in the future; if the Company
is unable to upgrade the production facilities in time to improve
the handling of wastage so as to comply with the more stringent
environmental standards and the requirements for environmental
protection, it will have an adverse impact on the Company’s
production and operations.
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Directors’ Report

The risk of core technology and formula leakage

The Group, having always highly valued R&D work, owns a
state-certified enterprise technology centre and an overseas R&D
centre. Through long-term development, the Group has developed
numerous core technologies and flavours and fragrances formulas
which have intellectual property rights. The Group faces the risk
of technology leakage since there are difficulties in protecting
most of the Group’s core technologies, especially flavours and
fragrances formulas, by using patents so that the Group had to rely
on its confidentiality mechanisms for protection. The Group has
adopted extremely stringent confidentiality measures to some of the
core technologies and strictly follows those measures. The Group
implements process segregation to important production aspects
which only allows the core formulas of the various flavours and
fragrances products to be known to a few core technicians (who had
been bound by Confidentiality Agreements), thereby minimizing and
controlling the risk of core technology and formula leakage.

The risk on production and operation affected by the Pandemic

Since early 2020, the Pandemic has been spreading all over the
country and until this moment, the battle for the prevention and
control of the Pandemic is still on-going. Recently, the widespread
of the Pandemic is affecting many countries around the world.
The World Health Organization declared that the Pandemic is of
international concern. If the Pandemic continues, there exists an
uncertainty of its impacts on the production and operation of
the Company. The Company will continue to closely monitor the
situation of the Pandemic, assess its impacts on the Company in
areas such as financial position and operating results, and will
continue to enforce strictly the prevention and control measures
to protect the safety of employees in accordance with the national
epidemic prevention and control requirements. In the meantime,
we will continue our best efforts to ensure the smooth execution of
production, operation and management work for the sustainable
and stable operation of the Company, and to satisfy the needs of
our customers, in order to minimize the impacts of the Pandemic on
the Company.
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Directors’ Report

Risk of fluctuations in raw material prices

During the Financial Year, due to the imbalance of supply and
demand and imported inflation caused by the epidemic, the prices of
certain raw materials fluctuated violently and increased significantly.
The Company will continue to dynamically track the price trend of
major raw materials, adjust raw material reserves in a timely manner
according to price changes, optimize inventory management, and
flexibly implement the strategy of determining production based on
sales. In order to reduce the impact of the international epidemic on
the cost of imported raw materials, the Company has carried out the
localization of suppliers to reduce the dependence on imported raw
materials. At the same time, the Company continuously improves
the technical level, increases the added value of products, and then
increases the gross profit margin of products, so as to ensure the
profitability of the Company.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group plays an important role in protecting our environment
and is committed to minimizing our impact on the environment
and natural resources. We educate and train our employees on
environmental issues and proper handling of hazardous substances
and require adherence to corporate guidelines on environmental
protection measures. Our plants have basically installed equipment
and procedures designed to comply with the requirements in
business operation.

In addition, the Group installed video conference and telephone
conference facilities for convening board meetings, committee
meetings and management meetings. It enhances the efficiency of
business travelling and convening meetings for the management so
as to reduce the energy consumption.

The Group promotes awareness towards environmental protection
to the employees. It implements green office practices such as
utilizing emails for internal and external communication, adopting
e-filing in server; minimizes documents printing and copying; and
reduces energy consumption by switching off lightings and electrical
appliances when not in use.

We have completed our Environmental, Social and Governance
("ESG") report which contains our ESG information in 2021 and the
requirements under the ESG Reporting Guide of the Listing Rules.
The ESG report of the Company for 2021 will be published no later
than 3 months after the publication of this annual report on the
websites of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and
of the Company (www.huabao.com.hk).
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognise that employees, customers, suppliers and
business partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the
Group.

Regarding employee salary and incentive system, the Group has
formulated a set of remuneration system referenced to the market to
attract and retain key personnel and talents with appropriate skills,
experience and competence which would complement and meet the
corporate and business objectives of the Group. The Group ensures
all employees are reasonably remunerated and the remuneration
packages of employees are reviewed regularly and necessary
adjustments are made from time to time to the remuneration
packages to align with the market standards. Further details on the
Group's staff are set out in the “Human Resources and Corporate
Culture Construction” section of this report.

The Group adheres to its core value of “client first” for years to
maximize client value, maintains good relationship with its customers
and suppliers, and has ongoing communication with the customers
and suppliers through various channels such as telephone, emails
and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and suggestions.
Besides, the Group has entered into related agreements to promote
probity and environmental protection with respective suppliers and
conducted an evaluation of its suppliers, with a view to maintaining
business relationships with suppliers and customers based on
principle of mutual benefit.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Company has complied with the requirements under the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended from time to time),
the Listing Rules and the SFO relating to, among other things, the
information disclosure and corporate governance.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group's performance for the Financial Year by
business segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Financial Year are set out in the
consolidated income statement on page 131 of this annual report.
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Directors’ Report

Dividend Policy

The Group is committed to sharing its development and
achievements with Shareholders through proactive, stable and
sustainable dividend policy. The Group would strive to strike a
balance between the short-term dividend returns and long-term
development of the Group prudently. When considering the dividend
policy, the Group will comprehensively observe the macro-economic
operation, the competition pattern of the industry and the Group’s
own development strategy. Under the premise of ensuring that
the Group has sufficient working capital and capital expenditure
to implement the development strategy, the Group will distribute
surplus funds to Shareholders and reward their support for the
Group.

As mentioned in the Company’s 2020 interim report, in the first
half year of 2020, worldwide economic activities were stagnant and
showed nothing but gloomy prospects. Market demands decreased
significantly and business operating environment became unstable.
In order to maintain a stable financial condition, boost operational
efficiency, and increase working capital reserves to tackle the
economic recession as well as sustain the Group’s normal operation
and competitiveness, the Board decided to revise the Company's
dividend policy after discreet consideration. If the Company pays
dividends, the dividend payout ratio will be adjusted from “50% or
above of the profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company
for the whole year” to “30% or above of the profit attributable to
the equity holders of the Company for the whole year”. The change
in dividend policy has been effective in 2021 accordingly.

Proposed Final Dividend

The Board proposes to declare a final dividend of HK2.0 cents per
Share (2020: HK9.0 cents) in cash, amounting to approximately
RMB52.8 million in aggregate (2020: approximately RMB229.5
million) for the Financial Year.

EXERE

IR S B
AEBBNRNEBEBRRLATFENKS
BE BHEERHNKREDHFERHN QA
ER2EEDRTE ERRARSZFAEE
FIERMAR - 2 BIKEBRRE - A%ME
HEEBRLBRBEETERL TEBFR
PANE SRR ERARNEEAHGR
REEESNMEAMERINZEERBED
IR T  BEKRESKBEABRE EHRKER
) S HF ©

& AN A &) fE2020F R BA 3R &5 Bt - 20204F
F¥F RREEESEFAERI=THE -
MBHERRNB TR PELERBETE A
THFVBER RASERENEEES
FEAERESSERRI AR EEFEENRS
N EBREERE  BEERFZERAAQA
FREBE - ARRIWRE - RELLEFH
[2FARRAEEFEE AR EFA50% A
FIRBE2FARGEERFEABLEF
M30%sk A ] - B B BUR LB &R
20219 43K -

BREREBEHRRE
BEEeEEFTRAVHRFEEZRSHERARE
BB E2.010 (20204 : B #o.0fll) - £ &
ANR¥5,2808 7T (20204 : ¥ AR#E2.295(8
JL) °

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& B2t AR A7 2021 Annual Report %3k

81



82

Directors’ Report

DATE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND THE
CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The Board will determine the date of the Company’s forthcoming
AGM and the closure of register of members and publish relevant
notice as soon as possible.

The Company will dispatch a circular containing, among others,
further information in relation to the proposed distribution of final
dividend and the AGM to the shareholders of the Company in due
course.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during
the Financial Year are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on pages 133 to 134 and in Note 19 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB4,573 million (2020: approximately
RMB3,897 million).

DONATIONS

Charitable and other donations made by the Group during the
Financial Year amounted to approximately RMB3.98 million (2020:
approximately RMB9.16 million).
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Directors’ Report

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set
out in Note 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company
to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group
for the last five financial years is set out on pages 260 to 261.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a share option scheme (the “2016 Share Option
Scheme"”) adopted on 9 August 2016 (“Adoption Date”), the 2016
Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of
ten years commencing on the Adoption Date. The following is a
summary of the 2016 Share Option Scheme:

(@) Purpose
The 2016 Share Option Scheme aims at encouraging the
participants to make contributions to and promote benefits of
the Group, developing and maintaining business relationships
with participants for the benefit of the Group.

(b) Participants
The Directors may, in accordance with the provisions of
the 2016 Share Option Scheme and the Listing Rules, invite
person(s) who or which is/are eligible to participate as
grantee(s) and receive options under the 2016 Share Option
Scheme, and to take up share options to subscribe for Shares.
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Maximum number of shares available for subscription

The total number of share options to be granted under the
2016 Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the issued
Shares of the Company as at 9 August 2016. Upon approval
by the Shareholders, the Company may renew the Scheme
Mandate Limit, provided that each renewal shall not exceed
10% of the issued Shares as at the date of approval by the
Shareholders, and a circular regarding the proposed renewal
of the Scheme Mandate Limit has been dispatched to the
Shareholders in manner complying with, and containing the
matters specified in, the relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of
the Listing Rules. The aggregate maximum number of Shares
which may be issued upon exercise of share options granted
under the 2016 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme(s) of the Company must not in aggregate
exceed 30% of the total number of Shares in issue from time
to time.

Maximum entitlement of each participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of the options granted to each participant (including
both exercised and outstanding options under the 2016 Share
Option Scheme) in any 12-month period must not exceed
1% of the issued share capital of the Company. Any excess
over 1% shall be subject to the approval of the Shareholders
at general meeting with such participant and his/her close
associates abstaining from voting and the Company shall issue
a circular pursuant to relevant provisions of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

Time of acceptance and exercise of a share option

The grantee may accept the offer of the share option within
30 business days from the date of the offer letter issued by
the Company. The grantee shall pay HKD1 as consideration
for accepting the offer of the share option granted. The
grantee may subscribe for Shares during such period as may be
determined by the Board (the said period shall not in whatever
case be later than the last day of the 10-year period after the
day on which the offer relating to the option is duly approved
by the Board in accordance with the 2016 Share Option
Scheme (subject to early termination).

Minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless the Directors determine otherwise and state in the offer
of the grant of option to the grantee, the 2016 Share Option
Scheme does not provide for any minimum period for which
share options must be held before it can be exercised.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k AR 2 7] 2021 Annual Report &5

EFERE

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

AHRBZREZROEHE
BIK201608 ARSI B A BB AR i 42
- TSHBH20165F889H AR A2 3
TRRDEI10% - FEEBSRE AR - &K
NAEIAI B AT B R EE—XE
FHERERE YT BaR R
EEFBRBZABETRHDZ10% &
BAER EFTMRBFI7EABEXREZ
TR EZRENTERERBE A NET
BYRE  ZBEREPHE LBUEXERT
MEZER - AIREB2016HE T2 &
AN EMER E A B AR AT BN 2 BB AR
EETERGESE mMETETZR
ZRHEBE TAIBATHEETRNE
#230% °

ESRETVERER LR
BE2RENEM2EABRERRTEER
ERERE (BFERZE20168 K # T2
BT R ARTTE 2 B M2 #17
MiGET 2B EE - TRBBEARTR
BETRAZ1% MR LZEEABER
1% @ BIZBERERER XS E G IRRILAE
MEB2EERAEETBHEALTARE
BB MARBIRARR EHRAE7
BRI ZMEE LB

BEARTEBREZHR
ERAARARABEHOBLOKMGE R
HEE0EEXEAANEABREZLY - M
EAMERBREZOR AN EE
TTHRE - ARAAIREZTSETEZH
6 A R A 1 (% B B A0 e OB R0
EFERE2016BARE S EAMES
EEREZVERRTFHEz&E—
B e (ATERATAR 1)) o

BREVJTFOEANEASFAEZRENH

BRIEERTAEERAARARL Z
BREZAPRA - T RI20168 BER
B W EIGXREBKER TITRAAR
B2 &G HME -



Directors’ Report

(g) Basis for determining the exercise price

The exercise price of share option granted pursuant to the
2016 Share Option Scheme shall be determined by the Board
and shall be at least the higher of (i) the closing price of the
Shares as stated in the Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the date of offer, which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the
five business days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares.

(h) The life of the 2016 Share Option Scheme

The 2016 Share Option Scheme will remain in force for ten
years starting from 9 August 2016 (can be terminated before
expiration).

As at 31 December 2021 and up to the date of this report,
there were no share options outstanding under the 2016 Share
Option Scheme and there were no share options granted,
exercised, cancelled or lapsed during the Financial Year.

SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME - GUANGDONG JIAHAO
SHARE INCENTIVE SCHEME (Note: see Note 18(b)
Share-based payment to the consolidated financial
statements)

Pursuant to a written resolution of the directors of Guangdong
Jiahao passed on 15 October 2020, Guangdong Jiahao, an indirect
non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, approved, adopted
and implemented a share incentive scheme (the “Share Incentive
Scheme™) in which Eligible Participants (as defined below) will be
entitled to participate. The Share Incentive Scheme is not subject to
the requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share
Incentive Scheme.

Summary of Terms
Purposes

The purposes of the formulation and the implementation of the
Share Incentive Scheme is to establish an effective incentive and
discipline mechanism for Guangdong Jiahao, attract and retain
outstanding talents, so as to fully motivate the management and
core team members of Guangdong Jiahao to effectively align the
interests of the Company, Guangdong Jiahao and its employees, and
to create the future of the Company with concerted effort.
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Types of Awards and Who May Participate

Under the Share Incentive Scheme, the board of directors of
Guangdong Jiahao (the “Relevant Board”) (including any committee
or person(s) duly authorized by the Relevant Board) may, at its
discretion, invite directors, senior management, core technical
personnel or other employees of Guangdong Jiahao to participate
in the Share Incentive Scheme, whereby the relevant employees will
be awarded restricted shares (the “Restricted Shares”) and will be
required to settle the relevant subscription price (the “Employee
Subscription Price”). The Restricted Shares will be released upon
the expiry of the period of restriction on transfer of such Restricted
Shares, such as the relevant sale restriction period/lock-up period.
The relevant employees passed a resolution to establish certain
limited partnership shareholding platforms (the “Employees
Shareholding Platform(s)”) through which they will participate
in the Share Incentive Scheme by way of indirect shareholding
(the “Award(s)"”) in the capacity of limited partners (the “Eligible
Participant(s)” or “Participant(s)”) and will be required to settle the
relevant Employee Subscription Price. The Group or its controlled
affiliates are the general partners of such partnership(s).

Maximum Number of Shares

According to the Share Incentive Scheme approved by the Relevant
Board, upon the implementation of the Share Incentive Scheme,
the number of underlying shares under the Share Incentive Scheme
represented approximately 1.98% of the total equity interests
in Guangdong Jiahao (a limited liability company) and as at 31
December 2021, those equity interests have been vested to the
Employees Shareholding Platforms.

Consideration for Restricted Share Units and Restricted
Share Purchase Price

The Eligible Participants would indirectly hold equity interests in
Guangdong Jiahao through limited partnerships, and the Employees
Shareholding Platforms would purchase the Group's existing equity
interests in Guangdong Jiahao for cash at the price(s) agreed
between the Company and the Eligible Participant(s). The aggregate
Employee Subscription Price payable by the Eligible Participants
amounted to approximately RMB46.5 million.
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Vesting Schedule

For the purpose of this Share Incentive Scheme, four limited
partnerships have been established, namely Yingtan Xiangshan
Corporate Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (B &L {> 2%
R LNEBRAER)), Yingtan Zhonghao Corporate Advisory Centre
(Limited Partnership) (BEH R EFE AR O(ERERE)), Yingtan
Guanghao Corporate Advisory Centre (Limited Partnership) (&2 &
S EFEABO(ERAH)) and Yingtan Huajia Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited Partnership) (EEERZPEZRPOERER)),
through which the Participants indirectly hold equity interests in
Guangdong Jiahao and the relevant Awards have vested in the
Employees Shareholding Platforms.

There were in total 80 Participants under the Share Incentive
Scheme, including directors and senior management of Guangdong
Jiahao. The chairman of Guangdong Jiahao, XIA Liqun, who is also a
director of the Company and one of the Participants.

Restrictions on share transfers:

Sale restriction period: 36 months
from the date of Award and the
sale restriction period shall remain
effective regardless of whether
I EEFER T INE Guangdong Jiahao could be listed (i.e.
[R&%#)), Yingtan initial public offering of shares) or
Zhonghao Corporate not;
Advisory Centre
(Limited Partnership) 2.
(BER ¥R
AP L(ERER)),
Yingtan Guanghao
Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership) (&2 &
SERFEATOER
=¥ )

Yingtan Xiangshan 1.
Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership) (BE%&

Lock-up period: Upon the listing of
Guangdong Jiahao, the Participants
are subject to lock-up requirements
as agreed under the relevant share
incentive agreement(s) and the
relevant requirements as stipulated
under the listing rules of domestic
exchange;

3. During the sale restriction period
or lock-up period, the limited
partners shall not transfer their
respective shares in the assets of the
partnerships, except in the case of
withdrawal;

4. After the date falling on the fifth
anniversary of the date of Award, the
Participants may transfer all or part
of their respective awarded shares
in the event that Guangdong Jiahao
remains unlisted.
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Yingtan Huajia 1.

Corporate Advisory
Centre (Limited
Partnership)
(BEFEZ
AP LERER)

Prior to the listing of Guangdong
Jiahao and within 36 months from
the date of listing of Guangdong
Jiahao, the Participants shall not
transfer all or part of their respective
awarded shares to any third party
(including other Participants on the
Employees Shareholding Platforms)
not recognised by the general
partners of the partnerships without
the prior consent of the general
partners of the partnerships;

After the date falling on the fifth
anniversary of the date of Award, the
Participants may transfer all or part
of their respective awarded shares
in the event that Guangdong Jiahao
remains unlisted;

Upon the listing of Guangdong
Jiahao, if according to the
relevant laws and regulations, the
Participants is required to comply
with the obligations such as specific
lock- up period or restriction on
the percentage of sale due to
the Participants being the senior
management of the company, having
special status or the number of shares
held reaches a certain threshold, the
Participants shall comply with the
relevant regulations in addition to the
requirements under the agreement.
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Vesting of Awards, Termination and Withdrawal of
Participants

The Awards have been vested in the Employees Shareholding
Platforms and the Participant(s) shall withdraw from the Share
Incentive Scheme if any of the following occur: (1) amendment(s)
to the Share Incentive Scheme, or amendment(s) to the share
incentive agreement(s) for the compliance with the requirements
of the company’s lending banks, or amendment(s) to the share
incentive agreement(s) for the compliance of the listing rules of
the stock exchange or the requirements of the regulatory authority
regarding the listing of the company, but the Participant(s) declines
to execute the amended share incentive agreement; (2) the
company is dissolved or its business license is revoked or cancelled;
(3) the partnership is dissolved or its business license is revoked or
cancelled; (4) the Participant has reached the retirement age and has
completed the retirement formalities and does not continue to serve
after retirement; (5) the company terminates the labour contract
or employment contract with the Participants due to strategic
adjustment or redundancy; (6) the Participant resigns during the term
of the labour contract, or the company or the Participant refuses to
renew the labour contract upon its expiry; (7) death or incapacity of
the Participant; (8) the Participant is held criminally responsible for
any criminal offence; (9) the Participant commits serious misconduct,
malfeasance, fraud, bribery, bribery solicitation, misappropriation,
embezzlement, divulgence of business, customer and technical
secrets or other violations of laws or disciplines, causing significant
damage to the company; (10) the company determines that the
Participant is directly responsible for the company’s loss or decline in
operating results; (11) the Participant is considered to be detrimental
to the interests of the company when performing his duties; (12) the
Participant causes significant loss to the interests of the company
due to his negligence in performing his duties; (13) the Participant
violates the obligation of confidentiality and divulges the confidential
information of the company (including the intellectual property
rights, technical secrets, customer information, financial information
and other business secrets). For the purpose of this Share Incentive
Scheme, the aforementioned trade secrets include the fact presented
in this Share Incentive Scheme and the Share Incentive Scheme
documents and any of their contents; (14) the Participant, in other
capacities or in any way, is engaged in or for the benefits of others
engaged in any competing business with the company without the
prior written consent of the company; (15) the share of assets in
the partnerships held by the Participant is enforced by law; (16) the
Participant is dismissed by the company for violating the rules and
regulations of the company, or the Participant is removed from the
partnership(s).
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The transfer price for the Participant’s withdrawal from the Share
Incentive Scheme will be based on the reason(s) of his withdrawal.
The transfer price in the case of withdrawal is either the principal
amount of the Participant’s investment or the principal amount
of the investment plus interest calculated at a rate of 5-10% per
annum on simple interest basis (interest is calculated according to
the actual number of days).

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the Financial Year and up to
the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Ms. CHU Lam Yiu (Chairlady and CEQ)

Mr. LAM Ka Yu (Co-Chairman) Mete )

Mr. XIA Liqun (Vice Chairman and President)

Mr. POON Chiu Kwok (Vice President and Company Secretary)
Ms. LAM Ka Yan (Note2)

Ms. CHOY Man Har Mote3

Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Ms. MA Yunyan

Mr. WU Chi Keung Mot 4
Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN ®ote 5

Notes:

1. Appointed as Co-Chairman of the Board with effect from 1 June 2021.

2. Appointed as Executive Director and a member of the Nomination
Committee with effect from 14 February 2022.

3. Appointed as Executive Director with effect from 14 February 2022.

4. Ceased to act as Independent Non-executive Director and a member
of each of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee of the Company with effect from 30
September 2021.

5. Appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee with effect
from 14 February 2022.

In accordance with bye-law 87(1) and (2) of the Bye-laws, Mr. XIA
Liqun, Ms. LAM Ka Yan, Ms. CHOY Man Har, Mr. Jonathan Jun
YAN and Ms. MA Yunyan shall retire from office by rotation at the
forthcoming AGM. Mr. XIA Liqun, Ms. LAM Ka Yan, Ms. CHOY
Man Har and Mr. Jonathan Jun YAN, all being eligible, have offered
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM. Ms. MA Yunyan,
being eligible, will not offer herself for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors who proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM has a service contract with the Company which is
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment
of compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Other than disclosed in Note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements, no contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s
business to which the Company, its ultimate holding company or
any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the
Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the Financial
Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors and their respective close associates (as
defined in the Listing Rules) is considered to have an interest in any
business which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group.

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out
on pages 41 to 48 of this annual report.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Particulars of the remuneration of the Directors and the five highest
paid individuals during the Financial Year are set out in Note 35 and
Note 25 to the consolidated financial statements respectively.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the register
maintained by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or
as otherwise notified to the Company and the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:
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Long position in ordinary shares of the Company

EEEHE
ARAZEBREA

Number of Percentage of

issued Shares the issued

held share capital

Name of Director(s) Capacity BEE®T e T

EEpE 87 R4 &E REBDEH

CHU Lam Yiu Held through controlled corporations Mot 2,293,408,900 71.00%
RANEE FHBRZIEG A GRS

Note: 2,293,408,900 ordinary shares of the Company were held by
Mogul Enterprises Limited, Resourceful Link International Limited,
Power Nation International Limited, Jumbo Elite Limited, Raise Sino
Investments Limited and Real Elite Investments Limited, respectively.
Ms. CHU Lam Yiu is the sole beneficial owner of the aforesaid six
companies.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Company is
not aware of any of the Directors or their respective associates had
any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or associated
companies as defined in the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, at no time during the Financial Year was the Company
or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable
the Directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company were
entered into or existed during the Financial Year and up to the date
of this report.

DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Bye-laws and subject to the relevant provisions
therein, every Director shall be indemnified and secured harmless
out of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which he/she
may incur in or sustain by the execution of his/her duty as a director
of the Company or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has
arranged appropriate insurance cover for the Directors and senior
management of the Company in respect of legal action against them
in the course of execution of their duties in good faith.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme”
above and Note 18 to the financial statements, no equity-linked
agreement was entered into by the Company during the Financial
Year.

INTERESTS OF SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2021, other than the interests disclosed in the
section headed “Directors’ interests in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, the Company is not aware of any other person who
held interests or short positions in 5% or more of the issued share
capital of the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

DISCLOSURE UNDER RULE 13.21 OF THE LISTING
RULES

On 17 August 2018, the Company entered into a facility agreement
with a PRC bank (the “Lender”) for a loan of approximately
RMB2,888 million for a term of 5 years (the “Previous Loan Facility”).

Pursuant to Rule 13.21 of the Listing Rules, so long as the facility
agreement is still in full force, the obligation to disclose exists. As
one of the precedent conditions of the facility agreement, Ms. CHU
Lam Yiu ("Ms. Chu"), the ultimate beneficial controlling shareholder
of the Company, shall, directly or indirectly, maintain her controlling
stake in the Company throughout the life of the Previous Loan
Facility. Breach of such undertaking will constitute an event of
default which entitles the Lender to, among other things, demand
immediate payment and/or repayment of all amount outstanding
under the Previous Loan Facility from the Company.

As disclosed in the announcement of the Company dated 15 June
2021, the Company entered into a new facility agreement with
another PRC bank (the “New Lender”) for a loan of approximately
RMB984 million for a term of 24 months (“New Loan Facility”)
commencing on 25 June 2021 for purpose of settling the
outstanding balance of the Previous Loan Facility. All amount
outstanding under the Previous Loan Facility were fully repaid.
Pursuant to the new facility agreement, Ms. Chu is required to
maintain her controlling stake in the Company and shall not conduct
any divestment throughout the term of the New Loan Facility. Breach
of such term will constitute an event of default which entitles the
New Lender to, among other things, demand immediate payment
and/or repayment of all amount outstanding under the New Loan
Facility from the Company.

All amount outstanding under the New Loan Facility were fully
repaid in December 2021 and the disclosure obligation under Rule
13.18 was deemed discharged.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the Financial Year, the percentage of revenue from sales of
goods or rendering services attributable to the Group's five largest
customers in aggregate accounted for approximately 24.28% and
the largest customer Yunnan Tobacco (Group) Company Limited
contributed approximately 6.10% to the revenue from sales of
goods or rendering services of the Group and the percentage
of purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 13.28% and the largest
supplier contributed approximately 4.07% to the purchases of the
Group.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates or any
Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, owned
more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any
interest in the Group's five largest customers and suppliers.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group’s connected transactions and continuing connected
transactions are primarily classified based on () the connected
transactions with each of Hongta Tobacco Group and Guangdong
Tobacco Company; (Il) the continuing connected transactions
between the Group and Weizhijia Group; and (lll) the continuing
connected transactions between the Group and Broad Far Group.

() Connected transactions with Hongta Tobacco Group
and Guangdong Tobacco Company

Connected Transactions with Hongta Tobacco Group

The Company, through its subsidiaries, indirectly owns 60%
equity interest in Yunnan Tianhong. The remaining 40% equity
interest in Yunnan Tianhong is held by Yunnan Hehe. Hongta
Tobacco owns 75% equity interest in Yunnan Hehe. By virtue
of such 40% interest in Yunnan Tianhong, Hongta Tobacco
Group are regarded as connected persons at the subsidiary
level of the Company under the Listing Rules. Transactions
between each of Huabao Flavours Company and Guangdong
Jinye Group with Hongta Tobacco Group constitute connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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On 23 December 2019, Hongta Tobacco and Yunnan
Tianhong entered into the First Hongta Agreement (the “First
Hongta Agreement”) and on 26 April 2020, Hongta Tobacco
and Guangdong Jinke entered into the Supplementary Hongta
Agreement (the “Supplementary Hongta Agreement”,
together with the “First Hongta Agreement” are collectively
referred to as the “2020-Supply Framework Agreements”)
in relation to the provision of tobacco flavours products, RTL
products, auxiliary materials, etc. and related services by the
Group to Hongta Tobacco Group for a term commencing on
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020 (both days inclusive).
The price shall be based on implementation of bidding prices
(if applicable) or market prices, i.e. prices and terms payable
to the Group shall be no less favourable than those terms
offered by independent third party customers for provision of
similar products and services in its ordinary and usual course of
business.

The annual cap (details of which is set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 27 April 2020) under the 2020-Supply
Framework Agreements was set at not exceeding RMB95
million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
2020-Supply Framework Agreements expired on 31 December
2020. The Company did not enter into any framework
agreement with any members of Hongta Tobacco Group in
2021.

For the Financial Year, there was no transaction for connected
transactions with Hongta Tobacco Group (2020: approximately
RMB75.5 million).
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Connected Transactions with Guangdong Tobacco
Company

The Company indirectly holds approximately 55.375% equity
interests in Guangdong Jinke, which is regarded as an indirect
non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Guangdong
Tobacco holds 17.5% equity interest in Guangdong Jinke.
Guangdong Tobacco Company are regarded as connected
persons at the subsidiary level of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Transactions between the Group and Guangdong
Tobacco Company constitute connected transactions of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

On 27 February 2020, Owada Flavours, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company, and Guangdong Tobacco
entered into the 2020-GD Framework Agreement (the
“2020-GD Framework Agreement) to govern the sale of the
products of the Group, including flavours (tobacco flavours),
RTL products, granules, auxiliary materials and related services
by the Group to Guangdong Tobacco Company for a term of
one year commencing on 1 January 2020 and expiring on 31
December 2020 (both days inclusive). The price shall be based
on implementation of bidding prices (if applicable) or market
prices, i.e. prices and terms payable to the Group shall be no
less favourable than those terms offered by independent third
party customers for provision of similar products and services
in its ordinary and usual course of business.

The annual cap (details of which is set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 28 February 2020) under the 2020-GD
Framework Agreement was set at not exceeding RMB213.0
million for the year ended 31 December 2020. The 2020-GD
Framework Agreement was expired on 31 December 2020.
The Company did not enter into any framework agreement
with any members of Guangdong Tobacco Company in 2021.

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated
23 March 2021, 30 June 2021, 25 October 2021 and 24
January 2022 respectively (the “Announcements”). Since one
or more of the applicable percentage ratios of the transaction
amounts of the transactions contemplated under the Purchase
Orders (collectively, the “Purchase Orders”) between members
of the Group and members of Guangdong Tobacco Company
for sale and purchase of flavours (tobacco flavours), tobacco
raw materials, etc., on an aggregated basis, exceeds 1% but
not more than 5%, such transactions contemplated under the
Purchase Orders are subject to the reporting, annual review,
and announcement requirements, but are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirements.
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For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount for
the connected transactions with members of Guangdong
Tobacco Company mentioned above was approximately
RMB168.2 million (2020: approximately RMB152.4 million)
which exceeded 1% but not more than 5% of the applicable
percentage ratios.

RAMBEE  BERPEAFMAEER
RERAR TEBAREBLNHSARE.682
BEIRFEETEN T SIERETMT

Set out below are the principal terms of the Purchase Orders
placed by Guangdong Tobacco Company with members of the
Group for the Financial Year, with an aggregate consideration
of approximately RMB168.2 million:

Transaction Amount in RMB AN (L)
Date of Transaction ~ Transaction
Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
R5¢E  RHLE
TERS ERXEH  TERA AECH LERE (F&%) (%)
1 5 January 2021 5 January 2021 China Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 937 1,059
Guangdong Import and flavours) by the Group to
Export Co., Ltd. Guangdong Tobacco Company
201%F 2015 PEEEERENONE REETR AEERERTERATREER
1858 1858 RAF (ERER)
2 31December  6January 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 9,369 10,586
2020 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2020F 20215 BRHE REEER AEERERTERATREER
128318 1A6A (ERER)
3 S5lanuary2021  8January 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 945,133 1,068,000
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
201F 2015 BRHE EREH AEERERTELATREER
1458 1A8H RH
4 14 January 2021 19 January 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 2,188,800 2,473,344
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
201%F 2015 BRHE EREH AEERERTERATREER
18148 18198 RH
5 18January 2021 21 January 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 98,712 11,544
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2015 20215 ERPE BMES AEERERTERATREER
18188 18218 (ERER)
6  18January 2021 20 January 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 15,000 16,950
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 20215 BRHE ZERR AEERERTERATREER
18188 14208 (ERER)
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FH

Date of Transaction ~ Transaction
Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
= R5¢E  RHLEE
HEE: BRRAH  TERA HEX;] BHEE (F&H) (8%)
7 18 January 2021 21 January 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 5,282,807 5,969,572
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERHE ZERD AEBRERTEAARMLESR
18188 18218 (ERER)
8 18 January 2021 21 January 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 382,415 432,130
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERHE ZERD AEBRERTELARMLESR
18188 18218 (ERER)
9 18 January 2021 21 January 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 18,737 2173
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20015 ERHE REETR AEBRERTEAARMLESR
18188 18218 (ERER)
10 18 January 2021 21 January 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 422,937 477919
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20015 ERHE REETR AEBRERTELARMLESR
18188 18218 (ERER)
11 18January 2021 21 January 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 1,187,933 1,324,364
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20015 20015 ERHE REEER AEBRERTELARMLESR
18188 18218 (ERER)
12 18 January 2021 21 January 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 1,569,558 1,773,600
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
201F17188 2021518218 ERHE ERER AEBRERPEAARMLER
R#
13 18January 2021 21 January 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 524,336 592,500
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
21F17188 2021518218 ERHE ERER AEBRERPEAARMLER
R#
14 21 January 2021 26 January 2021  Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 518,859 586,311
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021518218 201518260 RIIER ZERH AEBRERPELARMLESR
(ERER)
15 22 January 2021 27 January 2021 Shenzhen Tobacco Guangdong Jinye Provision of tobacco raw materials 1,325,006 1,497,256
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
1518228 2021518268 RYIEE EREE AEBRERPEAARMLER



Directors’ Report

Date of Transaction ~ Transaction
Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
R5¢8  RHLE
AERY BRAXRE  TERA HEYa e (FEH) (B%)
16 8February 2021 22 February Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 58,921 66,581
2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 2021F BRTE EMER ARERERPERARLER
2A8H 2A028 (ERER)
17 8February 2021 22 February Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 532,290 601,488
2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% BRTE REEERR ARERERPERARLER
2A8H 2A028 (ERER)
18 BFebruary 2021 22 February Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 5845 6,605
2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERHE REEER ARERERPERARLER
2A8H 2A028 (ERER)
19 8February 2021 22 February Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 781,723 883,347
2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 2021F BRTE ZERD ARERERPERARLER
2A8H 2A028 (ERER)
20 8February 2021 22 February Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 3,464,241 3,914,592
2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 2021F BRTE ZERD ARERERPERARLER
2A8H 2A028 (ERER)
21 19 February 2021 23 February Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 1,569,558 1,773,600
2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERHE EREM AEERERPERARLER
2719 2ABA RH
22 19 February 2021 23 February Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 34,513 39,000
2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2021% 2001% ERHBE EREM AEERERPERARLER
2A19R 2ABA RH
23 19 February 2021 23 February Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 472,566 534,000
2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERTE EREM AEERERPERARLER
2A19E 2ABA RH
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Date of Transaction  Transaction
Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
s R5eE R5HeE
AERM BRKAE  JERA ABZH EMEE (F&%) (&%)
24 26 February 2021 3 March 2021 Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 566,847 640,537
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 RIEE EER () FEERNERTEAARMER
28268 3A3R (ERER)
25  26February 2021 1 March 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 3,511,200 3,967,656
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 ERTE EXRER FEERBERTELRREER
2A26H 3818 F#
26 18March 2021 23 March 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of auxiliary materials 645,133 729,000
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 ERTE EXRER FEERERTELRREER
3A18H 38230 gH
27 18March 2021 23 March 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 691,419 781,303
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERNERTEAGARMER
38188 3A23R (ERER)
28 18March 2021 23 March 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 3,556,493 4,018,837
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERNERTEAARMER
38188 3A23R (ERER)
29 18March 2021 23 March 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 871,974 985,331
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 FRAE BMES FEERNERTEAARMLER
38188 3A23R (ERER)
30 18March 2021 23 March 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 269,077 304,057
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 20215 BERHE REEER FEERNERTEAGARMER
38188 38238 (ZRER)
31 18March 2021 23 March 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 951,903 1,075,650
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 ERTE REEFHR FEERERTEAARMER
38188 38238 (ZRER)
32 18March2021 23 March 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 23,380 26,419
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 20215 BERHE REEER FEERNERTEAGARMER
38188 38238 (ERER)
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Date of Transaction ~ Transaction
Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
R5¢E  RHLEE
HEE: BRRAH  TERA HEX;] BHEE (F&H) (8%)
33 19March 2021 24 March 2021 Shenzhen Tobacco Guangdong Jinye Provision of tobacco raw materials 496,548 561,099
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
20215 2021% RYIEE EREE AEBRERTEARRMLER
3A19H 3A248 RH
34 22March 2021 25March 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 2,111,126 2,385,572
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
20015 2021% ERHE EREM AEBRERTEARRMLER
3A22H 3A258 RH
35 24 March 2021 29 March 2021 Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 430,583 486,559
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 20215 AYIEE ZERH AEBRERTEAARMLESR
3A248 3A29A (ERER)
36 20 April 2021 23 April 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 645,133 729,000
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
20215 2021% ERHE EREM AEBRERTEARRMLER
48208 4R238 RH
37 20 April 2021 23 April 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 3,139,115 3,547,200
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
20015 2021% ERHE EREM AEBRERTEARRMLER
48208 4R238 RH
38 20 April2021 23 April 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 793,435 896,582
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 2021F BRTE ZERD AEBRERTELARMLESR
4R208 4R23R (ERER)
39 20 April 2021 23 April 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 4,312,485 4,873,108
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 20215 BRTE ZERD AEBRERTELARMLESR
4R208 4R23R (ERER)
40 20 April 2021 23 April 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 451,925 510,675
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 20215 BRTE BMER AEBRERTEAARMLESR
4R208 4523R (ERER)
4120 April 2021 23 April 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 1,005,274 1,135,959
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 2021% BRTE REEER AEBRERTEAARMLESR
4R208 4523R (ERER)
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Date of Transaction ~ Transaction
Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
= R5¢E  RHLEE
HEE: BRRAH  TERA HEX;] BHEE (F&H) (8%)
42 20 April2021 23 April 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 518,364 585,752
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 2021F BRTE REEER AEBRERTELARMLESR
4R208 4523R (ERER)
43 22 April 2021 27 April 2021 Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 457,302 516,751
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 2021F AYEE ZERH AEBRERTELARMLESR
4R28 45278 (ERER)
44 17 May 2021 21 May 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 558,850 631,500
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
20215 2021% ERHE EREM AEBRERPEARRMLER
5A178 5A21H RH
45 17 May 2021 21 May 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 812,249 917,841
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 20215 BRTE ZERY AEBRERTELARMLESR
5A178 5A21A8 (ERER)
46 17 May 2021 21 May 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 2,449212 2,767,610
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 20215 BRTE ZERD AEBRERTELARMLESR
5A178 5A218 (ERER)
47 17 May 2021 21 May 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 409,708 462,971
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 2021F BRTE BAER AEBRERTELARMLESR
5A178 5A21A8 (ERER)
48 17 May 2021 21 May 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 982,914 1,110,693
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 2021% BRTE REEER AEBRERTELARMLESR
54178 5A218 (ERER)
49 21 May 2021 26 May 2021 Shenzhen Tobacco Guangdong Jinye Provision of tobacco raw materials 496,548 561,099
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
20215 2021% RYIEE EREE AEBRERTEARRMLER
5A218 5A26H RH
50 24 May 2021 27 May 2021 Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 530,718 599,711
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 20215 AYEE ZERH AEBRNERTELARMEESR
5A24R 5A27R (ERER)



Directors’ Report

Date of Transaction  Transaction
Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
R5eE R5HeE
AERM BRKAE  JERA ABZH EMEE (F&%) (&%)
51 8lJune 2021 8 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 929,654 1,050,509
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BRHE ZZRMH FEERNERTEAGARMER
6488 6A8H (ERER)
52 9June 2021 15 June 2021 Shenzhen Tobacco Guangdong Jinye Provision of tobacco raw materials 935,298 1,056,887
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 RIEE ERSE FEERERTERRRMEER
6A9H 67158 F#
53 15June 2021 15 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 340,351 384,597
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERNERTEAARMER
6A158 6A158 (ZRER)
54 21 June 2021 21 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 95,681 108,120
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERNERTEAARMER
6A218 6A218 (ZRER)
55 23 June 2021 28 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 14,555,520 16,447,738
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001 20215 ERTE EXRER AEERERTERARMEER
6A23H 67280 F#
56 25June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 445,575 503,500
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001 20215 ERTE EXRER AEERERTERARMEER
6A25H 64308 F#
57 25June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 209,292 236,500
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 ERTE EXER AEERERTEATRMEER
6A25H 64308 F#
58 25June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 78,761 89,000
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001 20215 ERTE EXER AEERERTEATRMEER
6A25H 64308 F#
59 25June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 116,612 131,773
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERNERTEAGARMER
6A258 6A308 (ERER)
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Date of Transaction  Transaction
Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
s R5eE R5HeE
AERM BRXAH HEL] ABZH EMEE (F&%) (&%)
60 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 1,075,143 2,141,684
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERNERTEAGARMER
6A258 64308 (ERER)
61 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 281,978 318,637
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERNERTEAARMLER
6A258 64308 (ZRER)
62 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 2,357,360 3,280,288
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERNERTEAARMER
64258 64308 (ZRER)
63 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 311,730 352,260
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERNERTEAGARMER
64258 64308 (ERER)
64 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 146,706 165,778
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 REE EE R () FEERERTEAARMER
64258 64308 (ERER)
65 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 11,938 13,490
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 FRAE BMES FEERNERTEAARMER
64258 64308 (ERER)
66 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 39,182 447,686
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 BERAE BMESY FEERNERTEAGARMER
6A258 64308 (ZRER)
67 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 109,435 123,662
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 ERAE BMES FEERNERTEAGARMER
6A258 64308 (ERER)
68 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 221,772 250,603
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 BERHE REEER FEERNERTEAGRMER
6A258 64308 (ERER)
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Date of Transaction  Transaction
Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
R5eE R5HeE
AERM BRXAH HEL] ABZH EMEE (F&%) (&%)
69 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 311,034 351,468
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BERHE REEER FEERNERTEAGARMER
6A258 64308 (ERER)
70 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 317,025 358,238
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 BERHE REEER FEERNERTEAGARMER
6A258 64308 (ERER)
71 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 11,690 13,210
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 ERTE REEFHR FEERNERTEAARMER
6A258 64308 (ZRER)
72 25 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 916,801 1,035,985
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 20215 ERTE REEFHR FEERNERTEAARMER
6A258 64308 (ZRER)
73 28 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 3,139,115 3,547,200
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001 20215 ERTE EXRER FEERERTELRREER
67288 6A30A F#
74 28 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 261,062 295,000
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001 20215 ERTE EXRER FEERERTELRREER
67288 6A30A F#
75 28 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 560,285 633,130
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 BERHE ZZRM FEERERTEARAREER
6A28E 64308 (ERER)
76 28 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 4,310,795 4,871,225
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERERTEARAREERR
6A28E 64308 (ZRER)
77 28 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 586,417 662,652
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 ERAE BMES FEERNERTEAGARMER
6A28E 64308 (ERER)
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Date of Transaction  Transaction
Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
s R5eE R5HeE
AERM BRKAE  JERA ABZH EMEE (F&%) (&%)
78 28 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 82,832 93,600
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BERHE REEER FEERNERTEAGARMER
64288 6A308 (ERER)
79 28 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 1,366,949 1,544,652
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 20215 BERHE REEER FEERNERTEAGARMER
64288 6A308 (ERER)
80 28 June 2021 30 June 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 11,690 13,210
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 ERTE REEFHR FEERNERTEAARMER
64288 6A308 (ZRER)
81 8luly 2021 13 July 2021 Shenzhen Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 2,429,289 2,745,097
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001 20215 RIEE EXER FEERERTELRREER
7R8H 7A13H F#
82 20 July 2021 23 July 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 630,089 712,000
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001 20215 ERTE EXRER FEERERTELRREER
7A208 7A23H F#
83 20July 2021 23 July 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 221572 250,376
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 FRAE BMES FEERNERTEAARMLER
7H208 7A23R (ERER)
84 0 July 2021 23 July 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 3,186,204 3,600,410
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 BERHE ZZRM FEERNERTEAGARMLER
7R208 7A23R (ERER)
85 20 July 2021 23 July 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 611,068 690,507
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERNERTEAGARMER
7A208 7A23R (ERER)
86 0 July 2021 23 July 2021 Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 927,131 1,047,658
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 BERHE REEER FEERNERTEAGARMER
7A208 7A23R (ERER)
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Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
R5¢E  RHLEE
HEE: BRAXRE  TERA HEYa BHEE (FEH) (B%)
87 1 July 2021 26 July 2021 Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 654,720 739,833
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 2021F RIEE ZERH ARERERPERARLER
inl 7268 (ERER)
88  6August2021 10 August 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 24,450 27,629
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERHE EREM AEBRERTEARRMLER
8/6H 8A108 RH
89 17 August 2021 20 August 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 86,400 97,632
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERHE EREM AEBRERTEARRMLER
8A17H 8A20 RH
90 20 August 2021 25 August 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 945,133 1,068,000
by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERHE EREM AEBRERTEARRMLER
8/20 8A25A RH
91 20 August 2021 25 August 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 345,033 389,887
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20215 BRTE ZERD ARERERPERARLER
8A208 8A25A (ERER)
92 20 August 2021 25 August 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 94,795 107,118
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2015 2021F BRTE ZERD ARERERPERARLER
8A208 8A25A (ERER)
93 20 August 2021 25 August 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 783,167 884,979
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% BRTE REEERR ARERERPERARLER
8A208 8A258 (ERER)
94 23 August 2021 26 August 2021  Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 192,920 218,000
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20215 BRTE EMER ARERERPERARLER
8A238 8A268 (ERER)
95 23 August 2021 26 August 2021  Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 542,725 613,280
flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20215 RIEE ZERH ARERERPERARLER
8A238 8A268 (ERER)
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Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
= R5¢E  RHLEE
HEE: BRAXRE  TERA HEYa BHEE (FEH) (B%)
96 15 September 20 September  Shenzhen Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 496,548 561,099
2021 2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% RYEE EREM AEBRERPELRRMLER
9A15H 9A208 RH
97 15 September 20 September  Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 1,569,558 1,773,600
2021 2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERHE EREM AEBRERTEARRMLER
9A15H 9A208 RH
98 17 September 23 September Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 1,371,709 1,550,032
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERHE REEER ARERERPERARLER
9A178 9A23A (ERER)
99 17 September 23 September Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 1,915,248 2,164,230
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20215 BRTE ZERD AEBRERTEAARMLESR
9A178 9A23A (ERER)
100 17 September 23 September  Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 290,837 328,646
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20215 BRTE ZERY AEBRERTELARMLESR
9A178 9A23A (ERER)
101 18 September 23 September  Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 472,566 534,000
2021 2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERHE EREM AEBRERPEARRMLER
9A18H 9A238 RH
102 18 September 24 September  Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 655,547 740,768
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20215 BRTE BAER AEBRNERTELARMLESR
9A18H 9A24A (ERER)
103 26 September 29 September Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 388,628 439,150
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20215 AIEE ZERH AEBRERTEAARMLESR
9A26H 9A29A (ERER)
104 27 September 30 September  Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 14,045,454 15,871,363
2021 2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2021% 2021% ERHE EREM AEBRERPEARRMLER
9A27H 9A308 RH
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Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
RatE RatE
JERY BARAE  TERH JEZR ENEE (F&H) (8%)
105 27 September 30 September  Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 64,800 73,224
2021 2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
201F 201% BERHE BEReR AEERERTEATREER
94278 94308 R#
106 19 October 2021 22 October Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 784,779 886,300
2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
201F 2015 BERHE BEReR AEERERTEATREER
104198 10A228 R#
107 20 October 2021 25 October Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 7,157,991 8,088,530
2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20215 BRPE ZERH AEERERTERATREESR
10A20H 10A25H (ERER)
108 20 October 2021 25 October Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 880,564 995,037
2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20215 BRPE ZERH AEERERTERATREESR
10A20H 10A25H (ERER)
109 20 October 2021 25 October Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 505,187 570,861
2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20215 BERPE BiER AEERERTERATREESR
10A20H 10A25H (ERER)
110 20 October 2021 25 October Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 831,110 939,155
2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201F 201% BRPE REETR AEERERTERATREESR
10A20H 10A25H (ERER)
111 22 October 2021 25 October Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 784,779 886,300
2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
201F 2015 BERHE BEReR AEEMERTERTREER
104228 10A25A R#
112 25 October 2021 28 October Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 743,220 839,839
2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20215 20215 RIEE EERMH AEERERTERATREER
10A25H 10A28H (ERER)
113 18 November 23 November Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 1,569,557 1,773,600
2021 2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
201F 2015 BERHE BEReR AEERERTEATREER
114188 11A23R R#
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Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
s R5eE R5HeE
AERM BRKAE  JERA ABZH EMEE (F&%) (&%)
114 19 November 24 November Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 1,555,752 1,758,000
2021 2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001 20215 ERTE EXRER FEERERTELRREER
11319A 11424A RH
115 19 November 24 November Shenzhen Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 264,189 298,534
2021 2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 FIEE EXRER FEERERAELRREER
11919A 11424H FH
116 19 November 24 November Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 6,173,008 6,975,499
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERERTEARAREER
118198 118248 (ERER)
117 19 November 24 November Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 1,266,155 1,430,755
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERERTEARAREER
118198 118248 (ERER)
118 19 November 24 November Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 1,547,040 1,748,155
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 20215 BERHE REEFHR FEERNERTEAARMER
118198 118248 (ERER)
119 19 November 24 November Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 542,034 612,499
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 20215 BERHE REEEHR FEERNERTEAARMLER
118198 11A248 (ERER)
120 19 November 24 November Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 11,690 13,210
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BERHE REERS TEERNERTEAARMES
117198 117248 (ZRER)
121 19 November 24 November Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 98,715 11,548
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2021 2015 BERHE EMNES TEERNERTEAFRMES
117198 117248 (ERER)
122 30 November 3 December Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 9,748,800 11,016,144
2021 2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
201 2015 BERHE BEReR FAEERERTEATRMEER
11430R 12A3H F#
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Date of Transaction  Transaction
Acceptance Amount Amount
Date of of Purchase (exclusive of  (inclusive of
Purchase Order  Order Purchaser Seller Subject Matter tax) tax)
R5eE R5HeE
AERM BRKAE  JERA ABZH EMEE (F&%) (&%)
123 2 December 7 December Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 439,742 496,908
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 REE EE R () FEERERTEARAREER
12828 12878 (ERER)
124 17 December 22 December Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 982,752 1,110,510
2021 2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 ERTE EXRER FEERERTELRREER
128178 128228 F#
125 17 December 22 December Guangdong Tobacco Guangdong Jinke Provision of tobacco raw materials 1,569,558 1,773,600
2021 2021 by the Group to Guangdong
Tobacco Company
2001% 20215 ERTE EXRER FEERERTELRREER
12817R 128220 F#
126 17 December 22 December Guangdong Tobacco Owada Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 1,250,526 1,413,095
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 20215 ERTE REEFHR FEERNERTEAARMER
128178 128228 (ZRER)
127 17 December 22 December Guangdong Tobacco Guangzhou Hua Fang  Provision of flavours (tobacco 70,859 80,071
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 FRAE BMES FEERNERTEAARMER
128178 128228 (ERER)
128 17 December 22 December Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 860,456 972,315
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
201 2015 BERHE ZZRMH FEERERTERRAREER
128178 128228 (ERER)
129 21 December 24 December Guangdong Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 7,406,600 8,369,458
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
2001 2015 BERHE ZZRM FEERERTEARAREER
128218 128248 (ERER)
130 23 December 29 December Shenzhen Tobacco Huabao Flavours Provision of flavours (tobacco 619,725 700,289
2021 2021 flavours) by the Group to
Guangdong Tobacco Company
20216 20215 FIEE EERD FEEMERTELARMLAR
12A23R 124290 (ERER)
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For all the Purchase Orders, payment of the transaction
amounts was settled in arrears by cash transfer. Upon receipt
of the Purchase Orders and in compliance with the internal
control system, the Group would carry out transactions
in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Sale
Agreement.

The transactions between Guangdong Tobacco Company
and the Group are subject to aggregation under the Listing
Rules. The Company will continue to monitor the transaction
amounts between the Group and Guangdong Tobacco
Company and re-comply with all applicable reporting,
disclosure and, if applicable and required, independent
shareholders’ requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

Continuing connected transactions with Weizhijia
Group

On 14 March 2019, Guangdong Jiahao entered into a sales
framework agreement (“Sales Framework Agreement”) with
Weizhijia, pursuant to which Guangdong Jiahao shall sell and
members of Weizhijia shall purchase all products relating to
catering condiments of Jiahao (”Jiahao Products”) and related
services so as to further increase the sales of Jiahao Products
and hence bring more revenue to Guangdong Jiahao. The
prices and terms shall be no less favourable than those offered
to independent third party customers for provision of similar
products and services in its ordinary and usual course of
business.

The Sales Framework Agreement shall be for a term of 36
months from 1 January 2019 to 31 December 2021 (both days
inclusive). Transactions between the Guangdong Jiahao and
members of Weizhijia under the Sales Framework Agreement
constitute continuing connected transactions of the Company
under the Listing Rules.

The revised annual cap (details of which are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 30 September 2019) under
the Sales Framework Agreement was set at not more than
RMB80.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2019,
RMB130.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2020
and RMB150 million for the year ending 31 December 2021,
respectively.

For the Financial Year, there was no transaction under the
Sales Framework Agreement (2020: approximately RMB35.2
million).
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() Transactions with Broad Far Group

On 15 December 2020, Chemactive entered into a framework
agreement with Broad Far (“Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which Chemactive and its subsidiaries shall
provide tobacco related raw materials and related services to
Broad Far Group for a term of 1 year from 1 January 2021 to
31 December 2021 (both days inclusive). The price shall be
based on implementation of bidding prices (if applicable) or
market prices, i.e. prices and terms payable to Chemactive and
its subsidiaries shall be no less favourable than those terms
offered by independent third party customers for provision of
similar products and services in its ordinary and usual course
of business and other terms that are consistent with industry
practice in general.

Chemactive is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company.
Broad Far is ultimately controlled and beneficially owned by
Madam Chu and therefore is an associate of a connected
person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly,
transactions between the Group and Broad Far Group under
the Framework Agreement constitute continuing connected
transactions of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap (details of which is set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 15 December 2020) under the
Framework Agreement was set at not exceeding RMB9 million
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

For the Financial Year, the actual transaction amount under
the Framework Agreement was RMB1.99 million (2020:
approximately RMB2.9 million).

Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The aforesaid continuing connected transactions have been reviewed
by the INEDs of the Company. The INEDs confirmed that the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions had been entered into:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
on normal commercial terms or better; and
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them

on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the Shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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The Company has engaged the independent auditor,
PricewaterhouseCoopers to report on the Group’s abovementioned
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) ‘Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information’ and with reference to Practice Note 740 'Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules’ issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. PricewaterhouseCoopers have issued their unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of the
abovementioned continuing connected transactions for the Financial
Year in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules. A copy
of the auditors’ letter has been provided to the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange by the Company.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group during the Financial Year are set out in Note 32 to
the consolidated financial statements. None of these related party
transactions constitutes a disclosable connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules, except for the transactions described
in this paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transactions”,
in respect of which the disclosure requirements in accordance with
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been complied.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

During the Financial Year, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Group’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 49 to 71 of this annual
report.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

As at 31 December 2021, none of the members of the Group was
involved in any material litigation or arbitration and no material
litigation or claim was pending or threatened or made against any
member of the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that was publicly available and to the best
belief and knowledge of the Directors, the Company had maintained
the prescribed public float throughout the Financial Year and up to
the date of this report as required under the Listing Rules.
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AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the Financial Year have
been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who will retire and, being
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming
AGM of the Company.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS OR TRANSACTIONS

Proposed Spin-off and Listing of Condiments Business on
the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 17
November 2021 in relation to the proposed spin-off and listing of
condiments business on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange.

On 17 November 2021, the Board announced that it was considering
the feasibility of a proposed spin-off of the condiments business
(the "Proposed Spin-off”) on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange. The
condiments business is principally engaged in the production, sales,
marketing and distribution of condiment products targeted at
customers in the foodservice industry. Its products include chicken
bouillon (liquid cooking stock), wasabi paste, concentrated fruit juice
(used in cooking applications) and functional soy sauce.

The Proposed Spin-off will constitute a spin-off under Practice Note
15 of the Listing Rules and a proposal in relation to the Proposed
Spin-off has been submitted by the Company to the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange for its consideration and approval pursuant to
Practice Note 15 of the Listing Rules. The Company will make further
announcement(s) in relation to the Proposed Spin-off in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules as and when appropriate.
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Top-Up Placing of Existing Shares and Subscription of New
Shares under General Mandate

References are made to the Company’s announcements dated 8
December 2021 and 20 December 2021 respectively in relation
to, among other things, the top-up placing of existing shares and
subscription of new shares under general mandate (the “Top-up
Placing and Subscription”). On 8 December 2021, the Company,
the vendor (being a company wholly-owned by Ms. CHU Lam Yiu)
and the placing agents entered into the placing and subscription
agreement (the "Placing and Subscription Agreement"), pursuant to
which (i) the vendor (being a substantial shareholder of the Company
beneficially interested in 542,122,243 Shares, which represent
approximately 17.44% of the then existing issued share capital of
the Company) has agreed to place, through the placing agents, on
a several and not joint nor joint and several and best-effort basis,
an aggregate of 122,090,000 top-up placing shares, at the top-up
placing price of HK$17.88 per top-up placing share; and (ii) the
vendor has agreed to subscribe for 122,090,000 top-up subscription
shares at the top-up subscription price of HK$17.88 per top-up
subscription share which is equivalent to the top-up placing price.
On 8 December 2021, being the date of the signing of the Placing
and Subscription Agreement, the market price per each share was
HK$20.30. The top-up placing shares represented 122,090,000
ordinary shares of the Company at an aggregate nominal value
of HK$12,209,000. The top-up placing shares were placed to not
less than six placees, who were professional, institutional or other
investors or person(s) or entity(ies) procured by or on behalf of the
placing agents or their agents. The placees (and their respective
ultimate beneficial owners) were third parties independent of
the Company and its connected persons and no individual placee
would become a substantial shareholder of the Company upon the
completion of the Top-up Placing and Subscription.

The Directors were of the view that the Top-up Placing and
Subscription would benefit the Group’s long term development
by providing a good opportunity to raise additional funds to
strengthen the financial position and to broaden the Company’s
shareholder base and capital base to facilitate the future growth and
development of its business as well as to increase the liquidity of the
Shares.
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The completion of the Top-Up Placing and Subscription took
place on 13 December 2021 and 20 December 2021 respectively
and the Company received net proceeds (i.e. after deducting the
commission payable to the placing agents, professional fee and
other related costs and expenses in relation to the Top-up Placing
and Subscription) from the top-up subscription of approximately
HK$2.16 billion and the number of issued shares of the Company
was increased to 3,229,926,876. The net price for each Top-up
Placing Shares was HK$17.67. The Company intended to use the
net proceeds from the top-up subscription for (1) repayment of bank
loans; (2) acquisition of and/or investment in business(es) which
leverage on the competitive advantage of the Group should suitable
opportunities arise; and (3) general working capital requirements and
expansion of existing businesses. For details, please refer to page 34
of this report headed under “USE OF THE PROCEEDS FROM SHARE
PLACEMENT".

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
Change in Use of the Unutilised Net Proceeds

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 31
January 2022 in relation change in use of the unutilised net proceeds
of approximately HK$886 million. Having considered, among others,
the likely completion of the bond purchase by the Federal Reserve
of the U.S. in March 2022, the expectation of the three times in the
interest rate hikes in 2022 and the recent development of the Group,
the Board considers to adopt a more prudent approach regarding
the cash resources management to maintain the financial stability
of the Group by early repayment of part of its bank borrowings. As
such, the Board resolved to reallocate the remaining unutilised net
proceeds from Acquisition and/or Investments and General Working
Capital to Bank Loans Repayment in manner as set out in the table
below. The Board is also of the view that the reallocation would
allow the Group to utilise its financial resources in a more flexible,
beneficial and effective way and to meet its operational needs and
provide more buffer to cope with the economic uncertainties in the
future. For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement
dated 31 January 2022.
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Revised use of the unutilised proceeds

In HK$ million

Intended use

EEEHRE
SREBREAREREAR
By BB ET

Reallocation

of unutilised Revised use of

of unutilised proceeds for unutilised
Intended use of proceeds proceeds intended use proceeds
REARMERIE

REARERIE SERREN REEKREHR

R E RIS AR TEIAE PEEE RERIEAR
Bank Loans Repayment EERITER 257 358 615
Acquisition and/or Investments WEE R IR E 300 (158) 142
General Working Capital —ReEES 329 (200) 129
Total HBEt 886 - 886

Investigation Against Directors

During late January 2022, the Company has been informed by the
Huabao Flavours, that Ms. Chu and Mr. LAM Ka Yu (“Mr. Lam")
the son of Ms. Chu, the Co-chairman and executive Director of
the Company, and a director of Huabao Flavours were under
investigation for suspected disciplinary violations and were placed
under residential surveillance at designated locations (3&7E /& FTE
fRJE1E). For details, please refer to the Company’s announcements
dated 24 January 2022, 26 January 2022 and 27 January 2022
respectively.

Up to the date of this report, the Company has not been provided
with any details of the nature of the suspected violations of Ms. Chu
and/or Mr. Lam that were being investigated. The business operation
of the Group remains normal. Further announcement(s) will be made
to keep the shareholders of the Company and the public informed
of the development in this matter in due course.
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Acquisition of Part of the Equity Interests in Shanghai
Yifang by Huabao Flavours

Reference is made to the Company’s announcement dated 8 March
2022 in relation to acquisition of part of the equity interests in
Shanghai Yifang Rural Technology Holdings Co., Ltd. (“Shanghai
Yifang”) by Huabao Flavours.

On 9 August 2021, Huabao Flavours acquired 40% equity
interests in Shanghai Yifang from independent third parties for
a total consideration of RMB180 million in cash (the “Previous
Transaction”). Shanghai Yifang was established in the PRC on
7 January 1999 and is primarily engaged in the promotion and
consulting services of agricultural technology, cultivation of fruits
and vegetables; research and development of food additives; food
production, etc.

Huabao Flavours on 8 March 2022 further acquired 27% equity
interests in Shanghai Yifang from independent third parties for a
total consideration of RMB121.5 million in cash (the “Acquisition”).
After the completion of the Acquisition, Huabao Flavours’
shareholding in Shanghai Yifang would, in aggregate, reach 67%
and Shanghai Yifang would become a controlling subsidiary of
Huabao Flavours and the accounts of Shanghai Yifang would be
included in the scope of Huabao Flavours’ consolidated statements
and as such Shanghai Yifang would indirectly be included in the
scope of the Company’s consolidated financial statements.

The Acquisition also included a performance undertaking provided
by the vendors in favour of Huabao Flavours, the capital increase and
the put option. Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated
8 March 2022 for further details.

As one or more than one of the applicable percentage ratios for
the transaction, when aggregated with the Previous Transaction,
the capital increase and the put option as a whole, is more than
5% and below 25%, the transaction, when aggregated with the
Previous Transaction, the capital increase and the put option as a
whole, constitute a discloseable transaction of the Company, and is
therefore subject to the notification and announcement requirements
but exempt from the shareholders’ approval requirement pursuant
to Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

By Order of the Board
XIA Liqun
President

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

_

pwc

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF HUABAO INTERNATIONAL
HOLDINGS LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion
What we have audited
The consolidated financial statements of Huabao International

Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”),
which are set out on pages 129 to 259, comprise:

o the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021;

° the consolidated income statement for the year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the
year then ended;

o the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year
then ended;

o the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended; and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which
include significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA™)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we
have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters.
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Impairment of goodwill is identified as a key audit matter identified

Independent Auditor’s Report

in our audit, and is summarised as follows:

Key Audit Matter

Impairment of goodwill

Refer to Note 4 (Critical accounting
estimates and judgements) and
Note 8 (Intangible assets) to the
consolidated financial statements,
as at 31 December 2021, the
Group had net goodwill balance
amounting to RMB5,078,741,000
arose from acquisitions in previous
years, which was allocated to the
Group’s cash-generating units
("CGUs"). Impairment charge
amounting to RMB293,270,000
was recognised in current
year in respect of the CGUs
of Guangdong Golden Leaf
Technology Development Co., Ltd.
and its subsidiaries (“Reconstituted
Tobacco Leaves”).

Management tests at least annually
whether goodwiill was subject to
any impairment, in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note
2.7 and Note 2.8. The recoverable
amount of CGUs has been
determined based on the higher of
their fair value less costs of disposal
and their value in use amounts.

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

Our procedures in relation to
management’'s impairment
assessment of goodwill included:

- We understood and tested
management’s process and
controls in respect of the
impairment of goodwill and
assessed the inherent risk
of material misstatement by
considering the degree of
estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors,
such as complexity, subjectivity,
changes and susceptibility to
management bias or fraud.

— We evaluated the historical
accuracy of the plan and
forecast by, for example,
comparing the forecast used
in the prior year model to the
actual performance of the
business in the current year.

—  We assessed whether the
identification of CGUs and
allocation of goodwill for
impairment assessment aligned
with our understanding of the
Group's business activities.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Key Audit Matter

We focused on auditing
the impairment of goodwill
including the related disclosures
because the estimation
of recoverable amount is
subject to high degree of
estimation uncertainty. The
inherent risk in relation to
the impairment of goodwill is
considered significant due to
the complexity of the methods,
subjectivity of significant
assumptions used, including
budgeted gross margin,
estimated pre-tax discount
rate and forecast and terminal
growth rates, and significant
judgements involved in
selecting data.

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter

- We evaluated the
appropriateness of value in
use calculation methodology
adopted by management
with the involvement of our
in house experts.

- We discussed with
management and evaluated
the underlying key
assumptions of budgeted
gross margin and forecast
and terminal growth rates
used in the cash flow
forecast taking into account
historical results and market
developments.

— We evaluated the pre-tax
discount rate used in the
calculation by evaluating
the cost of capital of the
respective CGUs and
comparing with the industry
or market data.

— We evaluated management's
sensitivity analysis of the key
assumptions in the goodwill
impairment assessment,
including budgeted gross
margin, estimated pre-tax
discount rate and forecast
and terminal growth rates to
consider whether the changes
in these assumptions will
result in different position.
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Key Audit Matter

How our audit addressed
the Key Audit Matter
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management bias.

—  We tested the mathematical
accuracy of the underlying
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W
— We assessed the adequacy
of the disclosures related — AT EEAY
to the impairment of MR EERA
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of the applicable financial
reporting framework.

Based on the above, we
considered that management’s
judgements and assumptions
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Other Information

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and Audit Committee
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high
level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Lam Sung Wan.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e BRI R

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
As at 31 December
®12A318
Note 2021 2020
Bt 20214 20204
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment W - HBEREE 6 1,642,566 1,388,257
Right-of-use assets EREEE 7 251,963 240,902
Intangible assets ML EE 8 5,847,307 6,226,362
Investments in associates REE AR ZIRE 9 806,407 374,761
Investments in jointly controlled entities NHEREHEEZKE 10 202,831 7,410
Financial assets at fair value through LWAREEFEAEH
other comprehensive income SHAAEMEE
WHZemEE 11 17,870 55,072
Financial assets at fair value through UARnEBEFEZAEE
profit or loss FABTZZERMEE 15 215,679 112,614
Deferred income tax assets REFMSHEE 12 167,542 160,447
Other non-current assets EMIERBEE 133 581
9,152,298 8,566,406
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 13 897,226 854,746
Trade and other receivables 2 5 N H i fE U 308 14 1,081,046 1,351,750
Financial assets at fair value through RAanBEFEAEH
other comprehensive income SHAAEMEE
Wiz B EE 11 48,785 -
Financial assets at fair value through NAanBEFEAHE
profit or loss AR EREE 15 3,292,365 569,556
Short-term time deposits RMEITHER 16 = 1,413,840
Cash and bank balances excluding e RIRITHER
short-term time deposits (TR EETE TR 16 3,553,409 4,921,756
8,872,831 9,111,648
Total assets BEE 18,025,129 17,678,054
EQUITY =
Capital and reserves attributable to AT EETE ARG
the Company'’s equity holders RA R 5E
Share capital A% 7N 17 328,619 318,636
Reserves #HE 19 4,387,519 2,633,732
Retained earnings {RE B F 20 9,168,518 8,918,688
13,884,656 11,871,056
Non-controlling interests FEEH MR 1,834,163 1,823,193
Total equity g 15,718,819 13,694,249
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e BRI R

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

As at 31 December

f— R12A831H8
Note 2021 2020
og=d 20214 20204
LIABILITIES =R
Non-current liabilities FRBEE
Borrowings BEX 21 = 1,806,477
Lease liabilities HEBE 7 22,176 39,345
Deferred income tax liabilities BRIEMSHEE 12 149,450 170,536
Trade and other payables B 5 K H M e RE 22 800 800
172,426 2,017,158
Current liabilities RBEE
Borrowings BEX 21 962,774 901,753
Lease liabilities HEBE 7 18,751 24,526
Trade and other payables B 5 & A A e IR 22 748,245 648,744
Current income tax liabilities EH AR AaE 237,169 208,923
Contract liabilities ARAaE 5 166,945 182,701
2,133,884 1,966,647
Total liabilities HwaE 2,306,310 3,983,805
Total equity and liabilities RERZREE 18,025,129 17,678,054

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be
read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 129 to 259 were approved by the
Board of Directors on 25 March 2022 and were signed on its behalf.

Mr. XIA Liqun
EREEE

Director

EF
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Consolidated Income Statement

mEWER

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALEE
Note 2021 2020
{5 20214 2020%F
Revenue =5 - 5 3,882,683 3,854,058
Cost of goods sold 5 & AR 24 (1,586,021) (1,411,651)
Gross profit EF 2,296,662 2,442,407
Other income and other gains — net Hb g A N E A U s — 50 EE 23 248,519 100,497
Selling and marketing expenses HE RMIGHERERX 24 (292,244) (317,001)
Administrative expenses THER 24 (841,663) (820,221)
Impairment of goodwill BERE 8 (293,270) (495,498)
Net impairment losses on financial assets eREERBERKIFE 3.1(b) (3,527) (7,392)
Operating profit EEEF 1,114,477 902,792
Finance income B RS UL A 101,784 159,915
Finance costs A& RN (81,468) (143,983)
Finance income — net B RS A —F 58 26 20,316 15,932
Share of results of associates and JE (R B 2 B N SE R
jointly controlled entities B ¥EE 9,10 12,584 30,097
Profit before income tax R B A 22 A 1,147,377 948,821
Income tax expense FriSHt 27 (251,593) (280,382)
Profit for the year KEEREF 895,784 668,439
Attributable to: AL -
Equity holders of the Company KRNBIEZEAA 675,131 418,399
Non-controlling interests JEFE Bl 1 R 220,653 250,040
895,784 668,439
Earnings per share for profit TEEXAQNAEEFEA
attributable to the Company’s EBENEREF RMB cents RMB cents
equity holders for the year ARE S AR®ES
Basic and diluted AR EE 28 21.70 13.46
The above consolidated income statement should be read in  _F#ll4R & Uk 35 2K FE B AR BB 5T — GF RO AE

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Income

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

meEZmElER

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

Year ended 31 December

BEZ12A31BLEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
Profit for the year FEREF 895,784 668,439
Other comprehensive income: Ht2mElE :
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss &l &3 H X E 187 5B 5
Fair value changes of equity investments AR EBESEAEZSHAA
at fair value through other comprehensive Hith2E W o =R E 2
income, net of tax RN R0 (53,428) (17,990)
Currency translation differences of the Company AR T & EIEFINERE 2
and its non-foreign operations EinE =5 8,039 64,370
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss AEF P EE R AIEA
Currency translation differences of foreign BINETE 2 EEMEZR
operations 7,320 (2,491)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for AEERKEEHEMEZE
the year, net of tax (E518) Wz (38,069) 43,889
Total comprehensive income for the year, XEERBEEZE
net of tax Y 25 48 58 857,715 712,328
Total comprehensive income attributable to:  F&E{5 2 [ Yt 5 44 58 -
Equity holders of the Company KABIEZEA A 638,306 461,856
Non-controlling interests JEPE I M R S 219,409 250,472
857,715 712,328
The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should  Fifi4z4 2 mik s EEMEN T —GEEIE o

be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity #EESEEX

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

ARRBEREARR -
Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital Reserves earnings Total interests equity

it B B REEA Bt FERfED s

Balance at 1 January 2020 R2020£151R 318636 2540529  8969,048 | 11828213 1,771,260 13,599,473
Fair value changes on financial assets WAREEBEREZEHA

at fair value through other comprehensive EzRkaerEEy

income, net of tax BRENLAERD 19 - (17.9%) - (17,99) - (17,990)
Currency translation differences ERAEER - 61,447 - 61,447 43 61,879
Profit for the year TEERT - - 418,399 418,399 250,040 668,439
Total comprehensive income for BEWNENANALEEN

the year ended 31 December 2020 2HREAE - 3457 418399 | 46185 250472 T12318

Transactions with owners in their capacity ~ EARAEEANRS :

as owners:
Appropriations from net profi R 19,0 - 17,808 (17,808) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests FIEEE M ER T RIRE - - - - (246,419)  (246,419)
Share-based payment Rt BERSZH

- Value of consultancy service -BHRKEE 18,19 - 98 - 9% - 9%

- Value of employee services -EEREER 18,19 - 536 - 536 - 536
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAF - - - - 809 809
Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries YENBLA FEAER

without change of control [k 19 - 31,304 - 31304 43,986 7529
Capital injections from non-controling interests  JEB 4145514 - - - - 3,085 3,085
Final dividends for the year ended ARE R FEZ0195127318

31 December 2019 paid to shareholders HERZERRE - - (285887) | (285,887) - (285,887)
Special dividends for the six months ended ARE S REZ202056A308

30 June 2020 paid to shareholders IR ERIRE 29 - - (165,064) | (165,064) - (165,064)
Total transactions with owners HERARSAE - 49746 (468,759) | (419013) (198539 (617,552)
Balance at 31 December 2020 20205127318 318,636 2,633,732 8918688 | 11,871,056 1823193 13,694,249
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

REEBRSER

(Br=BEAEIN -

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

A B AARETTIIR)

RARREREARL
Non-
Share Retained controlling Total
Note capital Reserves earnings Total interests equity
b k& f#F  REEA B FENMER s
Balance at 1 January 2021 R2021%1818 318,636 2,633,732 8918688 | 11871056 19823193 13,694,249
Fair value changes on financial assets WAREEBEREZEHA
at fair value through other comprehensive EzRkaerEEy
income, net of tax BRENAAERY 19 = (53,428) - (53,428) - (53,428)
Currency translation differences ERAEER - 16,603 - 16,603 (1,249) 15,359
Profit for the year AEERT - - 675,131 675,131 220,653 895,784
Total comprehensive income for BEANENANALEEN
the year ended 31 December 2021 RANGEE - (36,825) 675,131 638,306 219,409 857,715
Transactions with owners in their capacity ~ EARAEEANRS :
as owners;
Appropriations from net profit BT RN 19,20 - 30,596 (30,59) - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests IR S T AR S - - - - (206075  (206,075)
Share-based payment Rt BERSZH
- Value of employee services -RERKEE 18,19 - 5,747 - 5,747 - 5,747
Changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries YENBLE FEEER
without change of control AR 5 19 - 364 - 364 (2,364) (2,000)
Final dividends for the year ended ARERAEE0205128318
31 December 2020 paid to shareholders IHEE 7 FRRSE 29 - - (29479) | (229,479) - (29479
Interim dividends for the six months ended ARE % FEZE202156A308
30 June 2021 paid to shareholders A EAZRERE 29 - - (165226) | (165.226) - (165226)
Issuance of new shares FiR 17,19 9983 1,753,905 - | 1,763,888 - 1,763,888
Total transactions with owners HERARSAE 9983 1790612  (425301) | 1375294  (208,439) 1,166,855
Balance at 31 December 2021 R2021%5128318 328619 4387519 9,168,518 | 13,884,656 1,834,163 15,718,819
The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be  Fili4E &tz B B)R EHMEN T — (& -

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows GEEERER

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

Year ended 31 December

BZEZ12A31HLEE -
Note 2021 2020
liks3 20215 20204

Cash flows from operating activities EETHZ2RERE
Cash generated from operations LBEBEHS RS 30(a) 1,664,774 1,823,600
Income tax paid [=ENRIECE (251,528) (368,369)
Net cash generated from operating EETBHELECRSFE

activities 1,413,246 1,455,231
Cash flows from investing activities REFZBNHRERE
Acquisition of a subsidiary U BE B |) = (154)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HERB ARSI = 80
Acquisition of equity interest in associates & AFE& A F) 2 B (445,696) -
Refund of termination of the additional MRIRIZ BB 2 N AR EI R

capital injection into an associate - 14,560
Proceeds from disposal of an associate HEBE AT FER 12,640 11,582
Acquisition of equity interest in jointly ARSI E R 2 ki

controlled entities (200,500) -
Proceeds from disposal of a jointly & L EEH B B AT K

controlled entity 8,480 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial HEUAAEEF=Z=REH

assets at fair value through other FEETARMEE YR

comprehensive income L ERMEEMSHIA 114,793 -
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BANAAREEFEER

through profit or loss SRR WA= En gl (8,578,731) (1,490,500)
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets BENAREBEFEAEHR

at fair value through profit or loss B ABR Y

@ BEEMBIR 5,860,227 1,725,897

Purchase of right-of-use assets for land AT AR

use rights EREEE (27,155) (6,313)
Purchases of property, plant and equipment B A B ERER

and intangible assets E|LEE (412,572) (170,396)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEME  HERRE 30(b)

plant and equipment FR1SRIA 20,246 11,159
Short-term time deposits placed 7 A5 HATE BifE R - (1,713,840)
Short-term time deposits released IREVE B E A K 1,413,840 2,634,294
Dividend received 2R S 8,254 13,882
Interest received 2B 130,939 144,937
Net cash (used in)/generated from RETE (A EEZ

investing activities HEFE (2,095,235) 1,175,188
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows mae

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (

BrBEPEN

EE:%I)ILE‘%%

A B AARETTIIR)

Year ended 31 December

BZEZ12A31HLEE
Note 2021 2020
liks3 20215 20204

Cash flows from financing activities RMETBNRESRE
Proceeds from issuance of new shares BT R FTIS 3K 1,763,888 -
Final dividends for the year ended MR S Z=2019%12 7

31 December 2019 paid to shareholders MMBEFEZHRER - (285,887)
Special dividends for the six months ended 1A % B sz 1+ & £ 202046 A

30 June 2020 paid to shareholders 308 L7 E A 2 5 Rl & - (165,064)
Final dividends for the year ended MR SR 2 4 8 22020612 A

31 December 2020 paid to shareholders JMBEFEZHREE (229,479) -
Interim dividends for the six months ended  [A]J& 58 32 < & 202146 A

30 June 2021 paid to shareholders 30H IEREA 2 B (165,226) -
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests  [A) FE 458 il 14 48 25 2 1~F A% B, (206,075) (247,637)
(Payments for)/proceeds from changes in R BRI T E S

ownership interests in subsidiaries i B I 4 2

without change of control (B Fr8z08 (2,000) 75,290
Capital injections from non-controlling JEFEHI MR E A

interests EE 2 FE5RIE - 3,085
New bank borrowings raised FILIRITE R 30(c) 1,557,156 556,679
Repayment of bank borrowings BEETER 30(0) (3,284,355) (796,368)
Principal elements of lease payments YTNHEENFZAE 30(c) (22,578) (24,360)
Interest elements of lease payments SRHEERRZFE 30(c) (2,151) (3,450)
Interest paid related to bank borrowings ERIR1TE F & H b 4H EEZ

and others 2RFE (81,904) (143,929)
Net cash used in financing activities RMETEMAZESTE (672,724) (1,031,641)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and iﬁ%&ﬁﬁ:%ﬁ%

cash equivalents WA R (1,354,713) 1,598,778
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning i%}]ZEﬁi LIRS ZEEY

of the year 4,921,756 3,387,780
Effects of currency translation on cash and ~ E¥BEHIR € KRS

cash equivalents LEMNTE (25,618) (64,802)
Cash and cash equivalents FRZESRRSEEY

at the end of the year 3,541,425 4,921,756
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in 4R & IR &7 2 K FEELAEFEMT o — ORI -

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

1.

GENERAL INFORMATION

Huabao International Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
was incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with
limited liability. The address of its registered office is Clarendon
House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda.

The Company has its primary listing on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company. The
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are
mainly engaged in the research and development, production,
distribution and sale of flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw
materials, aroma raw materials and condiment products in
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). Ms. Chu Lam Yiu
(“Ms. Chu"), who is the Chairlady of the Board of Directors,
holds approximately 71% beneficial equity interest in the
Company as at 31 December 2021.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in
thousands of units of RMB (“RMB’000"”) unless otherwise
stated. These consolidated financial statements have been
approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 25 March
2022.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies
adopted in the preparation of these consolidated financial
statements. These policies have been consistently applied to
all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. The financial
statements are for the Group.

2.1 Basis of preparation
(i) Compliance with HKFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the
Group have been prepared in accordance with
all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRS"”) and disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance Cap.622
("HKCQO").

(ii) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements of the
Company have been prepared on a historical
cost basis, except for financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI"”)
and financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss (“FVPL"), which are carried at fair value.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

(i)

(iv)

New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

The following standards have been adopted by
the Group for the first time for the financial year
beginning on or after 1 January 2021:

° Interest Rate Benchmark Reform —Phase 2 —
amendments to HKFRS 4, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9,
HKFRS 16 and HKAS 39

The Group also elected to early adopt the
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30
June 2021.

The amendments listed above did not have any
impact on the amounts recognised in prior periods
and are not expected to significantly affect the
current or future periods.

New standards and interpretations not yet
adopted

Except for the Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
set out above, certain new accounting standards,
amendments to accounting standards and
interpretations have been published that are not
mandatory for 31 December 2021 reporting periods
and have not been early adopted by the Group.
These standards, amendments or interpretations
are not expected to have a material impact on the
entity in the current or future reporting periods and
on foreseeable future transactions.
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHBRBE (&)
99 POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.2 Consolidation 2.2 #EKRE
(a) Subsidiaries (a) H1EBLRE
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured MEBAREASEHE BT
entity) over which the Group has control. The HIEMPTEEE (BIEAEN
Group controls an entity when the Group is BE) BEARERIITHRARHE
exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from 5% E RS T A ¥R A] & A TR A9 &
its involvement with the entity and has the ability Mok =B 0RO EDR
to affect those returns through its power to direct WHERNEBEIEEZTE
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully SEBNARYRE N R 2t S5 o) TR
consolidated from the date on which control is AEFNTEHZEE - [{E
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated NEESEFEER T RKE
from the date that control ceases. ZBHEAREZEAEAERE - WBEA
AIEIEHI R IE 2 BREEFLE
FRE AR o
Inter-group transactions, balances and unrealised EEARARFIZHENR G &
gains on transactions between group companies RS REIRFE T
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also i REIRBLINTFUY
eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence MBI FIRETEREE
of an impairment of the transferred asset. When ENREZRE F2o8H%%E
necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries NERBEIEEE/EHFHEE -
have been adjusted to conform with the Group's NEREAEBFKANBE
accounting policies. HE—H-
(i) Business combinations (1) EXEEH
The Group applies the acquisition method U B SR T B 1EAN &£ B Uk
to account for business combinations. The BB RATINARTE -
consideration transferred for the acquisition WEHE AR EZER
of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets BANEBFTEZEEE
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the FTEABEBERMETH
former owners of the acquired business and [EREB AR BE- FTE
the equity interests issued by the Group. The FEREEREIAEREBLR
consideration transferred includes the fair REANEMNEES
value of any asset or liability resulting from a BEMNAREBEREM
contingent consideration arrangement and LRIFEERKE QR R
fair value of any pre-existing equity interest EHAREBE RNEK
in the subsidiary. Identifiable assets acquired B GERF AT UL BE AT s ey
and liabilities and contingent liabilities BEUWNTEAENGRE
assumed in a business combination are LR a’d vkl
measured initially at their fair values at the BEHANRAABETE

acquisition date.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group recognises any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree on an
acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
Non-controlling interests in the acquiree that
are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation
are measured at either fair value or the
present ownership interests’ proportionate
share in the recognised amounts of the
acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other
components of non-controlling interests are
measured at their acquisition date fair value,
unless another measurement basis is required
by HKFRS.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

If the business combination is achieved
in stages, carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree
is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition
date. Any gains or losses arising from such
re-measurement are recognised in profit or
loss.

Any contingent consideration to be
transferred by the Group is recognised at fair
value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent
consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with
HKFRS 9 either in profit or loss or as a change
to other comprehensive income. Contingent
consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is
accounted for within equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Business combinations (Continued)

The excess of the consideration transferred,
the amount of any non-controlling interest
in the acquiree and the acquisition-date
fair value of any previous equity interest
in the acquiree over the fair value of the
net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If the total of consideration
transferred, non-controlling interest
recognised and previously held interest
measured is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the
case of a bargain purchase, the difference is
recognised directly in the income statement.

Changes in ownership interests

When the Group ceases to consolidate or
equity account for an investment because of
a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is
re-measured to its fair value with the change
in carrying amount recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value becomes the initial carrying
amount for the purposes of subsequently
accounting for the retained interest as an
associate, joint venture or financial asset. In
addition, any amounts previously recognised
in other comprehensive income in respect of
that entity are accounted for as if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets
or liabilities. This may mean the amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as
specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS.
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEBTTHERE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED) |
2.2 Consolidation (Continued) 2.2 #EKRE (#])
(b) Associates b) BELF
An associate is an entity over which the Group iR/ = T =l N E T =
has significant influence but not control or joint BERTE I M E 55
control, generally accompanying a shareholding HEEHENETE  BEH
of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. BE20%Z250% KR EFER I

Investments in associates are accounted for using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity
method of accounting, the investments are initially
recognised at cost, and the carrying amount is
increased or decreased to recognise the investor’s
share of the profit or loss of the investee after
the date of acquisition. The Group's investment
in associates includes goodwill identified on
acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership
interest in an associate, any difference between the
cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets
and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is
reduced but significant influence is retained, only
a proportionate share of the amounts previously
recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in the consolidated income
statement, and its share of post-acquisition
movements in other comprehensive income is
recognised in consolidated other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the
carrying amount of the investment. When the
Group's share of losses in an associate equals or
exceeds its interests in the associate, including any
other unsecured receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the associate.
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME

Financial Statements
(BB EEAEIN FTESHEEIUARETTIIR)

TEENERRRBE (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
| POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.2 Consolidation (Continued)
(b) Associates (Continued)

2.2 FEKRE (&)
(b) BEARA(HF)

144

The Group determines at each reporting date
whether there is any objective evidence that the
investment in the associate is impaired. If this
is the case, the Group calculates the amount
of impairment as the difference between the
recoverable amount of the associate and its
carrying value and recognises the amount adjacent
to share of profit/(loss) of an associate in the
income statement.

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions between the Group
and its associates are recognised in the Group's
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated
investor’s interests in the associates. Unrealised
losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.
Accounting policies of associates have been
changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in
associates are recognised in the consolidated
income statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEBTTHERE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED) -
2.2 Consolidation (Continued) 2.2 #EKRE (#])
(c) Jointly controlled entity (c) HEZ#HEE

Investments in joint arrangements are classified
either as joint operations or joint ventures,
depending on the contractual rights and obligations
each investor has, rather than the legal structure of
the joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the
nature of its joint arrangements and determined
them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are
accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests
in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost
and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's
share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. When
the Group's share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which
includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the Group’s net investment in the joint
ventures), the Group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the
Group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the
extent of the Group’s interest in the joint ventures.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment
of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of
the joint ventures have been changed to ensure
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.3

24

2.5

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for
by the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividends from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income
of the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or
if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the
consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net
assets including goodwill.

Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating
decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating
resources and assessing performance of the operating
segments, has been identified as the executive directors
that make strategic decisions.

Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each
of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment
in which the entity operates (the “functional
currency”). The Company’s functional currency is
Hong Kong dollars (“HKD") and majority of the
subsidiaries of the Group operate in the PRC and
their functional currency are RMB. The consolidated
financial statements are presented in RMB, which is
the Group's presentation currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M BmRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEBTTHERE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED) P |
2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued) 2.5 SR E (8)
(b) Transactions and balances (b)) XERZE

Foreign currency transactions are translated into
the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or
valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the
settlement of such transactions and from the
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except when deferred in equity
as qualifying cash flow hedges or qualifying net
investment hedges.

Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented
in the consolidated income statement within other
income and other gains — net.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of
the fair value gain or loss. For example, translation
differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities
such as equities held at fair value through profit or
loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the
fair value gain or loss and translation differences on
non-monetary assets such as equities classified as
fair value through other comprehensive income are
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(9]

Group companies

The results and financial position of all the group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency
are translated into the presentation currency as
follows:

(i)  assets and liabilities for each statement of
financial position presented are translated at
the closing rate at the reporting date;

(i) income and expenses for each income
statement are translated at average exchange
rates (unless this average is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the transaction dates,
in which case income and expenses are
translated at the dates of the transactions);
and

(i) all resulting currency translation differences
are recognised in other comprehensive
income.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as
assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and
translated at the closing rate. Currency translation
differences arising are recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M BmRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERE(H)
POLICIES (CONTINUED) -

2.5 SEBRE (E)
(d) BEEFASBGEEENIEFE

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(d) Disposal of foreign operation and partial

disposal

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is,
a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control
over a jointly controlled entity that includes a
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of
significant influence over an associate that includes
a foreign operation), all of the currency translation
differences accumulated in equity in respect of
that operation attributable to the owners of the
company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result
in the Group’s losing control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, the proportionate
share of accumulated currency translation
differences are reattributed to non-controlling
interests and are not recognised in profit or loss.
For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions
in the Group’s ownership interest in associates or
jointly controlled entities that do not result in the
Group’s losing significant influence or joint control),
the proportionate share of the accumulated
exchange difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Construction in progress represents the direct costs of
construction of property, plant and equipment incurred
plus interest capitalised less any impairment losses.
No provision for depreciation is made on construction
in progress until such time the relevant assets are
completed and available for their intended use.

All other property, plant and equipment are stated at
historical cost less depreciation and impairment losses.
Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying
amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate,
only when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the
cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other
repairs and maintenance are charged to the consolidated
income statement during the financial period in which
they are incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is
calculated using the straight-line method to allocate their
costs to their residual values over their estimated useful
lives as follows:

Buildings 20-35 years
Plant and machinery 3-20 years
Motor vehicles 3-10 years
Furniture, fittings and equipment 3-10 years
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Furniture, fittings and equipment and other leasehold
improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their
useful life or the lease term, unless the entity expects to
use the assets beyond the lease term.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 2.8).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by
comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and
are recognised within other income and other gains —
net, in the consolidated income statement.

2.7 Intangible assets
(a) Goodwill

Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries represents
the excess of the consideration transferred, the
amount of any non-controlling interest in the
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any
previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair
value of the identified net assets acquired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is allocated to
each of the cash-generating units (“CGUs"), or
groups of CGUs, that is expected to benefit from
the synergies of the combination. Each unit or
group of units to which the goodwill is allocated
represents the lowest level within the entity at
which the goodwill is monitored for internal
management purposes. Goodwill is monitored at
the CGU or group of CGUs level.

e M BmRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

2.

TEENERRRBE (&)

2.6

2.7

M- HBERRE ()

B RENRBEMEGEAEYE
BRZAERFHAEEFHUR
REAETE  BRIFELXAHPZE
ENAERFASEBEEF] -

REEEERL S KT EER&
BELAFRFH THEBERBD
TEHAZ WEEFEESRNHE
st e &% ZEENEEE
BB 1% R 2= H AT Uk B & 58 (B R
2.8) °

HEBE LB ATS IR AR E E
MEE ERaRERANEM
WARE e —F8E ] PR -

EmELEE
(a) BE

BMEELAKREBENEBRRIL
HERMEZERSE WKE
77 Rl SRIE H MR s B AR
K A WM BE 7 2 B AL o) 2
ERBHEHNAAEE B
BEANRBFEELAE
B2 888 -

BB EMNAME  EXHE
HFHFBANBESOEES
EReELEEUXREEL
B4R (FRHI A A OF h R
BRI ) - AERDENE
BBk EMAEETEA
BENETEFEATEERR
MEEER BEERTE
TENSRELEUARE
IRAETTERHE o

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& B2t AR A7 2021 Annual Report %3k

151



Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FEETBERHBE(E)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.7 Intangible assets (Continued) 2.7 BREE

(a) Goodwill (Continued) (a) B#E (&)
Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken W ERNRERTSEET
annually or more frequently if events or changes in ok A0 S ek 1B R B B ZE R A
circumstances indicate a potential impairment. The BETFERE - B E S i
carrying value of the CGU or the group of CGUs to NomEW ol E @RS
which goodwill has been allocated is compared to EEBuReEEENA
the recoverable amount of the unit, which is the /Y BR T (B B ] Y [0 2hEE (6 AR
higher of value in use and the fair value less costs BEEAABEBREERAK
to sell. Any impairment is recognised immediately REE) L - TAEEZER
as an expense and is not subsequently reversed. FRFER NN EE 2 1% B i #&

@ o

(b) Customer relationships and non-competition b)) EFEERIGDEGFHZS
agreement
Customer relationships and non-competition ZEMENLIEFAERFE
agreement acquired as part of a business BEBEHBN—ZMH B
combination are capitalised separately from BRI EFESH  EHA
goodwill and are carried at cost less accumulated RN R REEBR
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. HIBE - B LA EGZ A EE
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line BEMKARIZE Gl # A
method to allocate the cost of the intangible assets FHISE10FTE -

over their estimated useful lives of 5 to 10 years.

(c) Trademarks and licenses (c) BERFIF

Separately acquired trademarks and licenses are D HBANEE R EIR
shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licenses EL AT ER - FEZETEE G
acquired in a business combination are recognised PREANEERFAIZRE
at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a BEHMAALBEYEE BHZ
finite useful life and are subsequently carried at cost kTR EEAERERFERS
less accumulated amortisation and accumulated B - AR ETEHHEME
impairment losses. Amortisation is calculated using STREEEYEE #IEAER
the straight-line method to allocate the cost of BRIE W IZ MK AR IR & AT
trademarks and licenses over their estimated useful AE A F 1020651 & -

lives of 10 to 20 years.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.7

2.8

Intangible assets (Continued)
(d) Computer software

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised
on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and
bring to use the specific software. These costs are
amortised over their estimated useful lives of 3to 5
years.

(e) Patents

Patents include purchased technology and skills
acquired from third parties. They have a finite
useful life and carried at cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line
method to allocate the cost of the technology and
skills over their estimated useful life of 3 to 10
years.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example
goodwill or intangible assets not ready to use, are
not subject to amortisation and are tested at least
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events
or changes in circumstances indicate that they might
be impaired. Assets that are subject to amortisation are
tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the
amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value
in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are
separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered
an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the
impairment at the end of each reporting date.
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.9 Investments and financial assets 29 RERSREE
(a) Classification (a) D#E

The Group classifies its financial assets in the AEEBESREED BN

following measurement categories: TErE%5 -

. those to be measured subsequently at fair o BEEEIR AR BEEZ
value (either through other comprehensive (Hegst AHE 2|k
income or through profit or loss), and mEET AR NERE

E &
e those to be measured at amortised cost. s BEEHENATFTENS®
BEE o

The classification depends on the entity’s business ZOEBRRRAAEEERE S

model for managing the financial assets and the MEENEBRERXALR SR

contractual terms of the cash flows. ENE DGR -

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses MIEARBEF=EZEEM

will either be recorded in profit or loss or other S WREEKEBE®T ABR

comprehensive income. For investments in equity s Hah 2mU s o ghIEdE 1

instruments that are not held for trading, this XEHWESTAEEmMS -

will depend on whether the Group has made an WHEREBHAREBAR
irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition NREBRZLEE RV B ERE
to account for the equity investment at FVOCI. THE TR B IERE

%A NS AR A BE
HEAREBHARMRE

Was o
The Group reclassifies debt investments when and AEEEEEEXRSEEY
only when its business model for managing those E¥BREANEEEEFTHEE
assets changes. HILE
(b) Recognition and derecognition (b) ERRAIEE

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets BHBEALMNHEZSREE
are recognised on trade-date, the date on which EXSBTFTUER R5H
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. EAREBRFAREHB AKX EX
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights BEZH ZWHRE/EE
to receive cash flows from the financial assets FrERenE2ENE &
have expired or have been transferred and the HgegEE MAEED
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and BHEEEZ@RKIBHER K
rewards of ownership. Bl ER  IRIEBRS
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(9]

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a
financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of
a financial asset not at FVPL, transaction costs that
are directly attributable to the acquisition of the
financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at FVPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are
considered in their entirety when determining
whether their cash flows are solely payment of
principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments
depends on the Group’s business model
for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are three
measurement categories into which the Group
classifies its debt instruments:

o Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Interest income from these
financial assets is included in finance income
using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition
is recognised directly in profit or loss and
presented in other income and other gains —
net together with foreign exchange gains and
losses. Impairment losses are presented as
separate line item in the consolidated income
statement.
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.9

Investments and financial assets (Continued)

(c) Measurement (Continued)

Debt instruments (Continued)

Financial assets at FVOCI: Assets that are
held for collection of contractual cash flows
and for selling the financial assets, where the
assets’ cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest, are measured at
FVOCI. Movements in the carrying amount
are taken through other comprehensive
income, except for the recognition of
impairment gains or losses, interest income
and foreign exchange gains and losses which
are recognised in profit or loss. When the
financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified from
equity to profit or loss and recognised in
other income and other gains — net. Interest
income from these financial assets is included
in finance income using the effective interest
rate method. Foreign exchange gains and
losses are presented in other income and
other gains - net and impairment expenses
are presented as separate line item in the
consolidated income statement.

Financial assets at FVPL: Assets that do
not meet the criteria for amortised cost or
FVOCI are measured at FVPL. A gain or loss
on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at FVPL is recognised in profit or
loss and presented net within other income
and other gains - net in the period in which it
arises.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k AR 2 7] 2021 Annual Report &5

e B WK

(R

2.

SHEEAES -
IEGTHREME (&)

A B AARETTIIR)

29 RERESBEE (&)
(c) tE (&)
/,%Efz‘fIﬁ—(ﬁ)
e U2anEBEFEEHE
Bt AREMmEE YR Z
PHEE:MAKESE
%"]iﬁiulbg&ﬁﬁ/i\r’ﬂ
BEMBAEZEENR
EREERINAE R
ﬂ *E'J?%ﬁ%b{

)\ﬁﬁﬂiﬁﬂﬁl“f’ﬁﬁﬁ
ﬁ“ T AH A 2 E I
CHERIEEER 2R
TEH&?&E}?EETE - AE K
AREHR W= REBEZ
MR - BRI R T
BMEER  STAITMNEM
1@45( SR Z BT
RREEAEREND
MEEaTERAEEM
WA B B 2 — JF8R o
ZETREENNBR
AR BB BOEFT A#
A N R
Bt A E A W A K H A
Wam—FHELREEHR
Rére W m&kFIERE
BB R e

s UNURARBEFERLHEE
it ABEZEMEE
RERBHRANSIAR

nEEFEREEZFH
)\EI@EEH&ZAE/EE’J
EEUNAAREBEFER
/\ﬂ@)“r)w@ﬁnwéi“
AonBEFTELEER
Bt ABRZZBEBHBRE
E’JHSZ IR B A R
ROV RELERHEHERE
@R E AU A R E A
Wgs — FRRIAFRRTI IR o



Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED) d
2.9 Investments and financial assets (Continued) 29 RERTMEE (&)
(c) Measurement (Continued) (c) 1= (#)
Equity instruments Em T A
The Group subsequently measures all equity REFBRBERALEBETE
investments at fair value. Where the Group’s FrEmRE WAKET
management has elected to present fair value EEREREMEEKEF
gains and losses on equity investments in other 2IEERENDAEBEEK
comprehensive income, there is no subsequent ZREE BRKIEERE
reclassification of fair value gains and losses to B - NhaBEAKZD ME
profit or loss following the derecognition of the BRETEENHEEZEZ -
investment. Dividends from such investments =N SRRV @ S =0k 3
continue to be recognised in profit or loss as other FIRF  ZERENRBERSE
income and other gains - net when the Group’s RERERBEMIARE
right to receive payments is established. Uz — F 58 o
Changes in the fair value of financial assets at KAanEBEFAEAHZEHE
FVPL are recognised in other income and other AERHNEREEZRAAE
gains - net in the consolidated income statement EEHNEAEREREAMIK
as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of ANEMU G — FEEHER - LA
impairment losses) on equity investments measured AREBEEFEEEEHTA
at FVOCI are not reported separately from other Emembm 2z RERER
changes in fair value. BEBE (RREEBEED)
THEREAMAABEES S
MEWe
(d) Impairment (d) HiE
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis REBEZATEEE LT E
the expected credit losses associated with its MEBHKAYEZEETEA
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The BRAzEBHEEERB - fTE
impairment methodology applied depends on AZRBEAEEARNES
whether there has been a significant increase HEZERMEANIERE - &
in credit risk. For trade receivables, the Group SEWHEBmMS » K&EEBEK
applies the simplified approach permitted by REBY RS LERNESKAT
HKFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses RHFBEILFE ZHER
to be recognised from initial recognition of the ETEHGFEREIEAEBERX
receivables, see Note 3.1(b) for further details. TEREIWHIER FIARER -

BRI EE3. ()Rt
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.10 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net
amount reported in the statement of financial position
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not
be contingent on future events and must be enforceable
in the normal course of business and in the event of
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Company or the
counterparty.

Inventories

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overhead
expenditure, the latter being allocated on the basis
of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned to
individual items of inventory on the basis of weighted
average costs. Costs of purchased inventory are
determined after deducting rebates and discounts.
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make
the sale.

2.12 Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for
inventories sold in the ordinary course of business. If
collection of trade and other receivables is expected in
one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the
business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If
not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at
fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost
using the effective interest method, less provision for
impairment.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.13

2.14

2.15

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months
or less that are readily convertible to known amounts
of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the
proceeds.

Where any group company purchases the Company’s
equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration
paid, including any directly attributable incremental costs
(net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable
to owners of the Company until the shares are cancelled
or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently
reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related
income tax effects is included in equity attributable to
owners of the Company.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost; any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in the consolidated income
statement over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method.

Fees paid on the establishment of loan facilities are
recognised as transaction costs of the loan to the extent
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down. In this case, the fee is deferred until the
draw-down occurs. To the extent there is no evidence
that it is probable that some or all of the facility will be
drawn down, the fee is capitalised as a prepayment for
liquidity services and amortised over the period of the
facility to which it relates.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting
period.

e M BmRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

TEENERRRBE (&)

21I3RERREEEY

RehReETEVERRTFERS
RITBAFRREMERS R T
RE EABMER/R=EAZIAT
YR BHRRACHNERNASHEE

2.14 B A&

BBEY At  EERBBNELT
R S R AR RO RSB AR AR E R 2E
SRS RER D (FOERTEIR) -

WEARERREAKRRR WD
AR (EFRD) - X THEE -
B 1 AR] B 8% P #3738 AR AR (30
RSN  BERBRARR#EE
FAANBmRINR  EERMDK
A ENEITRIL - MBRHER
WEHHTT - T2 EEEEHE (H1
BREMERMMENMERSER R
HEXFENAEHR) BEERE
RARRERFT A AL

2158

EXBRAABELIHBREEANRS
ERRUIAHER - ERERIREH
FRARFIBR ¢ PSR (R R B AR AR)
BB DB E R R 2B A ERA
FEREFHBNELR A W R

27
o

RILERBE R E R MR 0
A RERSRAERDN B
REARETNRSHEM - EIIE
AT BRBREEEFRMABIE -
LB EREABD A MRES
ERATBEHIER - BIZERER(L
ERRBETRFEOTAMNK - Az
BB EHM#E -

SRIEREEAEGEHBEENEER
EEEEFEARED12A - B
EXOBRABEE-

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& B2t AR A7 2021 Annual Report %3k

159



160

Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.16 Borrowing costs

General and specific borrowing costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction or production
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily
take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
assets, until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are charged to the consolidated
income statement in the period in which they are
incurred.

Borrowing costs include interest expense and exchange
differences arising from foreign currency borrowings to
the extent that they are regarded as an adjustment to
interest costs. The exchange gains and losses that are
an adjustment to interest costs include the interest rate
differential between borrowing costs that would be
incurred if the entity had borrowed funds in its functional
currency, and the borrowing costs actually incurred
on foreign currency borrowings. Such amounts are
estimated based on interest rates on similar borrowings
in the entity’s functional currency.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M BmRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERE(H)
POLICIES (CONTINUED) -

217 B 5 R EMEMNRK

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.17 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are obligations to pay for
goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary
course of business from suppliers. Trade and other
payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is
due within 12 months after the reporting period (or in
the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair
value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

2.18 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and
deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the consolidated
income statement, except to the extent that it relates
to items recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on
the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the
countries where the Company and its subsidiaries,
associates and jointly controlled entities operate
and generate taxable income. Management
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns
with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group
measures its tax balances either based on the most
likely amount or the expected value, depending on
which method provides a better prediction of the
resolution of the uncertainty.
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME

Financial Statements
(BB EEAEIN FTESHEEIUARETTIIR)

TEENERRRBE (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.
| POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

QIS EHRIELEFBH (F)
(b) EBEEEH

(b) Deferred income tax

162

Inside basis difference

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the
liability method, on temporary differences arising
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial
statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition
of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than
a business combination that at the time of the
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable
profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined
using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when
the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only if
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be
available to utilise those temporary differences and
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

(b) Deferred income tax (Continued)

(9

Outside basis differences

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided
on taxable temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements, except for deferred income tax
liability where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary difference is controlled by the Group
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Generally
the Group is unable to control the reversal of the
temporary difference for associates. Only when
there is an agreement in place that gives the Group
the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference in the foreseeable future, deferred tax
liability in relation to taxable temporary differences
arising from the associate’s undistributed profits is
not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on
deductible temporary differences arising from
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
arrangements only to the extent that it is probable
the temporary difference will reverse in the future
and there is sufficient taxable profit available
against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.

Offsetting

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset
where there is a legally enforceable right to offset
current tax assets and liabilities and where the
deferred income taxes assets and liabilities balances
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities where there is an intention
to settle the balances on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.18 Current and deferred income tax (Continued) 218 EHIRIELEFFEH (&)
(d) Deferred taxes recognised arising on a lease (d) HEELBEEZH

Assets acquired under lease contracts give rise to BEHEARESHEES
temporary differences between the carrying amount ENREEBEMREZHEDN
and tax base. Short-term leases and leases of low TRMEEE WHANEKEER
value assets are recognised as a straight-line basis WEEMRE - HME AN
as expense in profit or loss. The amount that is MESHESAEWREKRPRER
charged to rentals by the lessee in its consolidated BEMRAER IS EMNE -8
income statement is likely to be the same as the BitHE BREHSSHE
amount charged in arriving at the taxable profit. An HE R ENEREERES
exception to this is where accrued rentals, deferred el - REBBEERE
rentals or lease incentives give rise to temporary XREWMHEERAE—TBEHEEE
differences. The Group considers the lease which MEEBETHENE S -
is on balance sheet as a single transaction in which It %) 34 B A 4 RS M =
the asset and liability are integrally linked, so BEERE B BRAEEE
there is no net temporary difference at inception. NMEEEEBHEEELAZR
Subsequently, as differences arise on settlement AleEfTEFEITmR
of the liability and the amortisation of the leased BIEETIIE o

asset, there will be a net temporary difference on
which deferred tax is recognised.

2.19 Employee benefits 219EEEF
(a) Short-term obligations (a) FBHIET

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including ERERHEHMEEREEM
non-monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave EREEFRI2ZEAARNEE
that are expected to be settled wholly within 12 S EHETMAaE efEIEE
months after the end of the period in which the BRAKRAETFREB - &
employees render the related service are recognised BERHEORBAER AR
in respect of employees’ services up to the end BEEENSHETELHER
of the reporting period and are measured at the ZHEER -ZBEREEY
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities BN ERANENWNERBE S RE
are settled. The liabilities are presented as trade fth FEA~f X TE o

and other payables in the consolidated statement
of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M BmRME

(B BAEEAEN  FIESBHUAREFTHIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERE(H)

POLICIES (CONTINUED) -
219 EEEH (&)

(b) EBIkLEMF

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.19 Employee benefits (Continued)

(b) Pension obligations

The Group operates the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme ("MPF Scheme”) in Hong Kong which is
generally funded through payments to insurance
companies under defined contribution plan. It pays
contributions to administered pension insurance
plans on a mandatory, contractual or voluntary
basis. Moreover, all the employees of the Group’s
entities incorporated in Mainland China of the PRC
(the "Mainland China") participate in employee
social security plans, including pension, medical,
housing and other welfare benefits, organised and
administered by the local governments. The Group
also makes defined contribution to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German regulation and rules
for the employees of the subsidiary located in
Germany. In the United States of America (“USA"),
the Group makes defined contributions at certain
percentage of monthly salary to retirement
and medical schemes managed by the federal
government of USA in accordance with US rules
and regulations. It is the federal government’s
responsibility to pay the retirement benefits to
those staff who retire. The Group has no further
payment obligations once these contributions have
been paid. The contributions are recognised as
employee benefit expense when they are due and
are reduced by contributions forfeited by those
employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash
refund or a reduction in the future payments is
available. No pension obligation is required under
the Botswana laws and regulation.
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FTESHBRBE (&)
99 POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.20 Share-based payment 220 AR XS 2zE €
(a) Share option scheme (a) BREFZ

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based NEEZE —BIREREN
payment under which the entity receives services LARR 0 X B & BT &8I - 4R
from a business consultant as consideration BZeT &l FRWHREKE
for equity instruments (options) of the Group. MR RS IEANEBREARET
Information relating to these schemes is set out in BE(BERlR#E WEEBE - -HEfE
Note 18(a). BEFEE18@FB I -

For equity-settled share-based payment LIRS E N UKD X B
transactions, the Group measures the services TR AEBEUNARE
received at their fair value unless that fair value B EaRARE  BRIEQR
cannot be estimated reliably, and the corresponding BETETSEHE N RTG
increase in equity. If the Group cannot estimate FEFE I AN Ay IR RE o AN &
reliably the fair value of the services received, it TEER SEMED WEARBE S
shall measure the services received by reference to BE TELX2ZEHEEDIR
the fair value of the equity instruments granted at HEOREREERES Y
the date the business consultant renders service. ANAEEBEH ENFE KRB
Given the services are provided evenly over a period NEORBERK I BHE
of time, the expense is based on the share price REZEAB IR ZEE -

over that period.

(b) Employee share scheme (b) ESEERETZ
As disclosed in Note 18(b), Guangdong Jiahao WK 18(b)F AT E  EX
Foodstuff Co., Ltd (*Guangdong Jiahao"), a ZEZEakmhER AR ([E
subsidiary of the Group operates equity-settled ezl AEE —XNB
shared-based compensation plan, under which ANEEWET - BEERE
Guangdong Jiahao granted its equity instruments o AR D B BET & -
to its employees and employees of its subsidiary in BEZHZ BEEm=RE
exchange for their service. ETRHEFAFZEISY
R H o DU AU P 89 AR
j\’% °
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME

Financial Statements

(B BAEEAEN  FIESBHUAREFTHIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERE(H)
POLICIES (CONTINUED) -

220 B2 € (4])
(b) ESEKREE (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.20 Share-based payment (Continued)
(b) Employee share scheme (Continued)

The fair value of the employee service received in
exchange for the grant of equity instruments is
recognised as an expense. The total amount to be
expensed is determined by reference to the fair
value of the equity instruments granted:

° Including any market performance conditions
(e.g., the entity’s share price);

o Excluding the impact of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions
(e.g., profitability, sales growth targets and
remaining an employee of the entity over a
specified time period); and

° Including the impact of any non-vesting
conditions (e.g., the requirement for
employees to save or holdings shares for a
specific period of time).

Non-market performance and service conditions
are included in assumptions about the number of
equity instruments that are expected to vest. The
total expense is recognised over the vesting period,
which is the period over which all of the specified
vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

In addition, in some circumstances employees may
provide services in advance of the grant date and
therefore the grant date fair value is estimated for
the purposes of recognising the expense during the
period between service commencement period and
grant date.

At the end of each period, the entity revises
its estimates of the number of options that are
expected to vest based on the non-market vesting
and service conditions. It recognises the impact of
the revision to original estimates, if any, in profit or
loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERBE (&)
99 POLICIES (CONTINUED)
2.21 Revenue recognition 221 M ABR
(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (a) HEFZEWEEELNK
A
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the WABRAEEHEXKBE
consideration received or receivable for the sales REEEm LRSS W E
of goods and services in the ordinary course of WREBHAFEESTZ - A
the Group'’s activities. Revenue is shown, net of FARABMBRITNEUAREE
discounts and after eliminating sales with the B AREEEEBAW A -
Group companies. The Group recognises revenue EUASRBRE M T EH
when the amount of revenue can be reliably ERKHZEERNZZR DGR
measured; when it is probable that future economic ABTEE S AEENETE
benefits will flow to the entity; and when specific FHEFAETEERAE
criteria have been met for each of the Group’s @RERU A FEIF I T Bt o

activities, as described below.

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of WAEEELGIEEBELER
the asset is transferred to the customer. Depending PHEER - BIESRERM
on the terms of the contract and the laws that BERANRBRMERE BEMN
apply to the contract, control of the asset may 7 & A LA BE B SR AR R A B
transfer over time or at a point in time. Control fI2hETER WMEEEHH
of the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s HEEWMT & EE SIS
performance: PERFER -
e provides all of the benefits received and o  REHEPFFEEI MG
consumed simultaneously by the customer; or BHAE TR ; 3%
e creates and enhances an asset that the e FAIETHERARFEEE
customer controls as the Group performs; or TR TSI EE 5 3%
e does not create an asset with an alternative e TEeAAKEEAEAR
use to the Group and the Group has ERAENEE BEXR
an enforce able right to payment for EBEEB R ITHRER -
performance completed to date. AlAELESE TR ES
E
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERBE (&)
POLICIES (CONTINUED) -
2.21 Revenue recognition (Continued) 221 AR (&)
(a) Revenue from contracts with customers (a) BHEFZREWEEELNHK
(Continued) A (#&)
If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue MEEEMESEZRRED
is recognised over the period of the contract EREmMER  B@EBA2ET
by reference to the progress towards complete KEAEBOERERA L H
satisfaction of that performance obligation. NIEZRKA - ZH| - WAER
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time FRESEEES AR
when the customer obtains control of the asset. TR o
The progress towards complete satisfaction of TREABEGNEE IIRE
the performance obligation is measured based on REBABITREKEBEHEK
the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction of FT{EM S e AMmat 2 -
the performance obligation, by reference to the WE2EBEREHRMEE
contract costs incurred up to the end of reporting NAENORRNEEHDE LG
period as a percentage of total estimated costs for BB DL -

each contract.

In determining the transaction price, the Group EEETRXSBERE DR
adjusts the promised amount of consideration ERODEKXN BIAEEZH
for the effect of a financing component if it is BEENRESEE -
significant.
(b) Interest income (b) FIEHA

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion FEWARKBEREN B X%
basis using the effective interest method. When Brf b B R AR iy
a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the FEUZEERBER  ~N&E
carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being & % BR TE A MOR = AT i
the estimated future cash flows discounted at HEE B ET RIS T
original effective interest rate of the instrument, ERZIAEZRAMF KB
and continues unwinding the discount as interest NE THEESEHLRAEY
income. Interest income on impaired receivables is R AEMNBUW A -2 FIEE
recognised using the original effective interest rate. W m) B B W e A1) A B ZF

(c) Dividend income (c) BREWA
Dividends are recognised when the right to receive AR B A TE WER 5K I8 B A R
payment is established. TR -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e B WK

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERE(H)
L POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.22 Research and development costs

2.22 T B A AN

170

Research expenditure is recognised as an expense as
incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating
to the design and testing of new or improved products)
are recognised as intangible assets when the following
criteria are fulfilled:

(@) it is technically feasible to complete the intangible
asset so that it will be available for use or sale;

(b) the management intends to complete the
intangible asset and use or sell it;

(c) thereis an ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

(d) it can be demonstrated how the intangible asset
will generate probable future economic benefits;

(e) adequate technical, financial and other resources
to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset are available; and

(f)  the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset
during its development can be reliably measured.

Capitalised development costs are recorded as intangible
assets and amortised from the point at which the asset is
ready for use on a straight-line basis over its useful life,
not exceeding five years.

Other development expenditures that do not meet
these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred.
Development costs previously recognised as an expense
are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Development assets are tested for impairment annually.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M BmRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERE(H)
POLICIES (CONTINUED) -
2.23 Leases 223 HE

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased
asset is available for use by the Group.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions.
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants
other than the security interests in the leased assets that
are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially
measured on a present value basis. Lease liabilities
include the net present value of the following lease
payments:

o fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments), less any lease incentives receivable

o variable lease payments that are based on an index
or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate
as at the commencement date

o amounts expected to be payable by the Group
under residual value guarantees

o the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise that option, and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if
the lease term reflects the Group exercising that
option

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement
of the liability.
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.23 Leases (Continued)

The lease payments are discounted using the interest
rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily
determined, which is generally the case for leases in the
Group, the lessee’s incremental borrowing rate is used,
being the rate that the individual lessee would have to
pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar
economic environment with similar terms, security and
conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

o where possible, uses recent third-party financing
received by the individual lessee as a starting point,
adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions
since third party financing was received

o uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free
interest rate adjusted for credit risk for leases held
by the Group, which does not have recent third
party financing, and

o makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term,
country, currency and security

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to
the individual lessee (through recent financing or market
data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease,
then the group entities use that rate as a starting point
to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in
variable lease payments based on an index or rate, which
are not included in the lease liability until they take
effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an
index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed
and adjusted against the right-of-use asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME

Financial Statements

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2. FESHBERE(H)
POLICIES (CONTINUED) i

2.23 Leases (Continued) 22370 E (1)

Lease payments are allocated between principal and
finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the
liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the
following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease
liability

o any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received

] any initial direct costs, and
o restoration costs

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the
shorter of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on
a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain
to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset is
depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of properties
and motor vehicles are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less without a
purchase option. The Group does not have any leases of
low-value assets.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a
lessor is recognised in income on a straight-line basis over
the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount
of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over
the lease term on the same basis as lease income. The
respective leased assets are included in the balance sheet
based on their nature. The Group did not need to make
any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as
lessor as a result of adopting the new leasing standard.
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

2.24

2.25

Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the
grants will be received and the Group will comply with
all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and
recognised in the consolidated income statement over
the period necessary to match them with the costs that
they are intended to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and
equipment are included in non-current liabilities as
deferred government grants and are credited to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis
over the expected lives of the related assets.

Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is
recognised as a liability in the Group’s and Company’'s
financial statements in the period in which the final
dividends are approved by the Company’s shareholders
and interim dividends are approved by the Company’s
Board of Directors.

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial
risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk, cash
flow and fair value interest rate risk, and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk
management programme focuses on the unpredictability
of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group'’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out under the policies
approved by the Board of Directors. The Group identifies
and evaluates financial risks in close co-operations with
its operating units. The Board provides principles for
overall risk management, as well as policies covering
specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate
risk, credit risk and investing of excess liquidity.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M BmRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. M¥EKMERE(E)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk

(1)

Foreign exchange risk

The Group mainly operates in Hong Kong
and Mainland China and is exposed to
foreign exchange risk primarily through
financial instruments that are denominated in
a currency other than the functional currency
in which they are measured. The functional
currency of the PRC subsidiaries is RMB, and
the functional currency of the HK subsidiaries
is HKD. The majority of the subsidiaries of the
Group operate in the PRC and most of their
transactions are denominated in RMB. The
Group did not have other significant exposure
to foreign exchange risk.

If HKD and United States dollars (“USD"),
being the main foreign currencies in which
the Group’s financial assets and liabilities
denominated, had strengthened/weakened
by 5% against RMB during the year ended
31 December 2021, with all other factors
remaining unchanged, the profit after income
tax for the year and equity as at year end
date would have been affected as follows:

3.1 BEREBEE (&)
(a) THEE
(i)  SIEE
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B E2021%F12H31H
FTFER BEBER
ETEATAEEEHE
EMBEENEENES
INEE . BAEBEBRE
THRARBHE RE
5% MmATEEMERHE
BAE AEARFER
HEeERMNERERER

VBN
Change of profit after income Change of equity
tax increase/(decrease) increase/(decrease)
RERBARAN i Eoed ¥ )|
geEn/ (Bo) gm/ (d5)
fortheyear ~ fortheyear  fortheyear  for the year
ended 31 ended 31 ended 31 ended 31
December December December December
2021 2020 2021 2020
BENNE  BR00F  EEANE  BE00F
12B318 12B318 128318 128318
L5E LEE LEE I:3:3
Group ki3]
- Strengthened by 5% ~F{B5% 8,400 3,200 - 2,754
~ Weakened by 5% ~BfE% (8,400) (3,200) - (2,754)
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(a) Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

(ifi)

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

Other than deposits held in banks, the Group
does not have significant interest-bearing
assets. Fluctuation of market rates does not
have a significant impact to the Group’s
performance.

The Group’s exposure to changes in interest
rates is mainly attributable to its borrowings
which are at floating rates, and expose the
Group to cash flow interest-rate risk.

As at 31 December 2021, if interest rates
on borrowings at floating rates had been 50
basis points higher or lower with all other
variables held constant, interest charges
for the year ended 31 December 2021
would increase/decrease by approximately
RMB3,605,000 (2020: RMB3,495,000).

Price risk

The Group is exposed to price risk because of
listed equity investments held by the Group,
which are classified as financial assets at FVPL
(Note 15).

The sensitivity analysis is determined based
on the exposure to price risk of the listed
equity investments classified as financial
assets at FVPL at the end of each reporting
period. If the fair values of the listed equity
investments classified as financial assets at
FVPL held by the Group had been 5% higher/
lower, profit after tax for the year would have
been approximately RMB1,821,000 higher/
lower for the year ended 31 December 2021
(2020: RMB1,535,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b)

Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
contractual cash flows of debt instruments carried
at amortised cost and at FVPL, as well as credit
exposures to customers, including outstanding
receivables.

The Group considers the probability of default
upon initial recognition of asset and whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period.
To assess whether there is a significant increase
in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the asset as at the reporting
date with the risk of default as at the date of
initial recognition. It considers available reasonable
and supportive forwarding-looking information.
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

o internal credit rating
° external credit rating

° actual or expected significant adverse
changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant change to the borrower’s ability to
meet its obligations

o actual or expected significant changes in the
operating results of the borrower

° significant increases in credit risk on other
financial instruments of the same borrower

o significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the borrower.
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)
While cash and cash equivalents are also subject

to the impairment requirements of HKFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

(i

Trade receivables

The Group applies the simplified approach to
provide for expected credit losses prescribed
by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade
receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses,
trade receivables have been grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics and
invoice dates. The historical loss rates for
each aging bucket are derived base on
the probability of a receivable progressing
through successive stages of delinquency
to write-off. The historical loss rates are
adjusted to expected loss rates to reflect
current and forward-looking information on
macroeconomic factors affecting the ability
of the counterparty to settle the receivables.

The loss allowance as at 31 December 2021
and 2020 is determined as follows, and the
expected credit losses below also incorporate
forward looking information.
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. UBERERE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B EKREZE (&) =
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREE (&)
()  Trade receivables (Continued) (i) BBEKK(E)
As at 31 December 2021 20215%12H831H
0-90 91days- 181days- Over
Trade receivables days 180days 360days 360 days Total
) e 0-90 A 91-180H 181-360F #&iB360H CL
Effective expected loss rate  FBif A MBER 0%  0.005%  13.64%  68.77%
Gross carrying amount REEE 756,502 75,511 15,097 16,247 863,357
Loss allowance BIERE - 4 2,059 11,174 13,237
As at 31 December 2020 2020412 H31H
91 days- 181 days - Qver
Trade receivables 0-90days  180days  360days 360 days Total
BH IR 0-90H 91-180H 181-3608 JRiA360H CH
Effective expected loss rate T ARBHER 0%  0.005% 501%  46.68%
Gross carrying amount KEEE 883,425 93,287 22,568 21,487 1,020,767
Loss allowance RERE - 5 1,131 10,031 11,167
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S EFEREEN

Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME

A B AARETTIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. UBERERE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1

(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(i) Trade receivables (Continued)
The loss allowance for trade receivables as at
31 December reconciles to the opening loss
allowance as follows:

(i)

B 7 LB 3 ()
(b) =EEE (&)

EBEZENF(E)

B ERFMNI2A318
/R (B F 8 B3 HA ) Rk 1B
BENHASDT

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31HLEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Opening loss allowance at the F B E &
beginning of the year 11,167 12,263
Provision for impairment loss on TR U BR FORE
trade receivables 2,136 406
Disposal of subsidiaries o E B A A - (487)
Written off as uncollectible (] 48 IR B 1T O 88 (66) (1,015)
Closing loss allowance at FREERE
the end of the year 13,237 11,167

As at 31 December 2021, the gross
carrying amount of trade receivables was
RMB863,357,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB1,020,767,000), and thus the maximum
exposure to loss of trade receivables was
RMB850,120,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB1,009,600,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(b) Credit risk (Continued)

(ii)

Other receivables

Other financial assets at amortised cost
include other receivables. Other receivables
mainly includes notes receivable, deposits,
deductible input tax of Value-Added Tax,
advances to staff, retention money and
others.

The loss allowance for other receivables at
31 December reconciles to the opening loss
allowance as follows:

e M BmRME

(Br=BEAEIN -

M EEERE (&)
BERREE (&) -
(b) EEmEE (&)

A B AARETTIIR)

(i) B AfLEWR

Hfth ABE SH AR AN ET B 1
TREEREEMER
Ko HMBEBEREER
REKERE e &
EFAENERR B
NEIR BERERH
fib,

Et W FR12A318
B R (B B B2 DR E
BENFGMT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Opening loss allowance at the S ¥ B E
beginning of the year 34,854 30,463
Provision for impairment loss on b Uk SRR (B B
other receivables 1,391 6,986
Disposal of subsidiaries &S B A A - (496)
Written off as uncollectible SN EI Nk (6,680) (2,099)
Closing loss allowance at FRBERE
the end of the year 29,565 34,854

As at 31 December 2021, the gross
carrying amount of other receivables was
RMB209,011,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB306,277,000), and thus the maximum
exposure to loss of other receivables was
RMB179,446,000(31 December 2020:
RMB271,423,000).

MR2021F12A318
H b Uk Z a0 BR T (B E
B ARE209,011,000
7t (2020912 A318 -
AR #306,277,000
7T) o B I A& =18 kA
SRR ANBREAEARE
179,446,0007T (2020
F£12H8318: AR
271,423,0007T)
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. UBERERE(E)

- 3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 B EKREZE (&)
(b) Credit risk (Continued) (b) EEREE (&)
(i) Financial assets at FVPL (i) YR 1EEFEHARE
Bt A Bt B EE
The Group is also exposed to credit risk AEBEABENRR
in relation to debt instruments that are BET=EEEZHT A
measured at FVPL (Note 15), of which wealth EHEZNEBKITA
management products are considered to be EEmMERHRR (MF
low credit risk, where they have a low risk of 15)  HAMPEEEE
default and banks has a strong capacity to miEREEREHEER
meet its contractual cash flow obligations in E R E B R 1T EE
the near term. NEEERBBABITE
ARBEREERT -
The maximum credit risk exposure of RMEBAR FLTR
unlisted equity investments at the end of KEENER=SEERR
the reporting period is its carrying amount AEALAEEBEARE
RMB215,679,000 (31 December 2020: 215,679,0007T (2020
RMB112,614,000). F12A318: AR

112,614,0007T) °

(c) Liquidity risk (c) mEMEE

Cash flow forecast is performed in the operating HenEBleserEaElHNK
entities of the Group. The Directors monitors rolling EEXRUT - EFELE
forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements to HnEEeE kRN TE A -
ensure it has sufficient cash to meet operational BRERCHESENELEE
needs and that the Group does not breach . CEHRAFEREERETER
borrowing covenants on its borrowing facilities. HERGER HEBAZR
Such forecasting takes into consideration the TEHEBRETE &R
Group's debt financing plans, covenant compliance, B C-FAERNIMEIBAKRE
compliance with internal statement of financial bR BIE RINFBHEEE Sk
position ratio targets and if applicable, external SERIRTE — B o0 EEEBR & (40
regulatory or legal requirements — for example, WA -

currency restrictions.
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. UBERERE(E)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 MBEREZ (&) =
(c) Liquidity risk (Continued) (c) 7“EMEE (&)

The table below analyses the Group's financial TRETREAEBRNTMAR
liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based IHEBMEENEEAER - BiE
on the remaining period at the reporting date HEEBEXRBZASRZ E
to the contractual maturity date. The amounts BRRSHEETIN - &
disclosed in the table are based on the contractual RARBEHNESE A ALK
undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 MERBEERE - @8E—
months equal their carrying balances, as the impact FRAINHHEEREKREE
of discounting is not significant. EHREROTETEK -

Between Between Between Between
lessthan1 1and2 2and3 3and4 4and5  Over5
year years years years years years Total
-£Z2 WEE ZEZ2 £z
—FUF mE =F meE i1 HELNL @it

At 31 December 2021 R2021%12531A
Borrowings (including interest) 3 (B & HIE) 972,067 - - - - - 972,067
Trade and other payables B REMENTE
excluding statutory liabilities (TEREEEEER
EEY) 501,819 - - - - 800 502,619
Lease liabilities BEER 20215 9940 5446 414 248 691 42,878
1,494,101 9,940 5,446 4,144 2442 1,491 1,517,564
At 31 December 2020 ®2020%12531A
Borrowings (including interest) ~ EF (A& FIS) 1,115,088 881,090 1,046,656 - - - 3,042,834
Trade and other payables B 5 REMENTE
excluding statutory liabilities (TEREEEBRER
EEY) 450,420 - - - - 800 451,220
Lease liabilities HEaE 26132 17,236 8,399 6,304 3,852 6,355 68,278
1,591,640 898,326 1,055,055 6,304 3,852 7,155 3,562,332
As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net current MR2021F12A31H » &K
assets is RMB6,738,947,000 (31 December 2020: & IhREEBEEFEASE
RMB7,145,001,000). AR #¥6,738,947,0007T

(2020 12A31H : AR
7,145,001,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.2

3.3

Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern in
order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new
shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

The operating cash inflows of the Group are sufficient
for investing activities including acquisition of new
businesses.

The Group monitors its capital risk based on the
debt-to-equity ratio. This ratio is calculated by dividing
the net debt by the total owners’ equity. The Group's
net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including
current and non-current borrowings) less cash and cash
equivalents. No debt-to-equity ratio is presented as the
Group had net cash surplus as at 31 December 2021 and
2020.

Fair value estimation

The following categorises financial instruments carried
at fair value based on the level of inputs to valuation
techniques within a fair value hierarchy. The different
levels have been defined as follows:

- Quoted price (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities (level 1);

- Inputs other than quoted prices included within
level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that
is, derived from prices) (level 2);

- Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based
on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) (level 3).
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. UBERERE(E)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 AAEBEME (&) .
The following tables present the Group’s financial assets TR R ANEEHPR2021%20205F
measured and recognised at fair value at 31 December NANHEBBRARBEFELER
2021 and 2020: ML RVEE -

Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Mgk Z-F - fd E=F it
At 31 December 2021 ®2021512A318
Financial assets at FVPL UAAERETEEREE
FABGZEREE
~ Listed equity investments - FTEHRE 15 35,866 - - 35,866
~ Wealth management products -HEEEER 15 = = 3,256,499 3,256,499
- Unlisted equity investments - ErTEREE 15 = = 215,679 215,679
Financial assets at FVOC| NAABEEEERY
SAEMEENEL
- Unlisted equity investments in the PRC —-REEREET
BHRE 11 - - 17,870 17,870
- Debt securities -EBES 11 = - 48,785 48,785
35,866 - 3,538,833 3,574,699
Note Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HizE FE EE F=E #it
At 31 December 2020 12020612831R
Financial assets at FVPL NAAEEFEEEES
FABRZEREE
- Listed equity investments - PSR 15 29,064 - - 29,064
- Wealth management products -HEEEEM 15 - - 540,492 540,492
- Unlisted equity investments - FLETEREE 15 - - 112,614 112,614
Financial assets at FVOCI NALEBEFSEREED
FAEMZENEL
- Unlisted overseas equity investments ~RESFELT
ERRE 11 - - 55,072 55,072
29,064 - 708,178 737,242
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued)

There were no transfers of financial assets between level
1, level 2 and level 3 fair value hierarchy classifications
for the year ended 31 December 2021.

There are no other financial instruments that were
measured at fair value as at 31 December 2021 and
2020.

The financial assets of level 1 within the fair value
hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were the
listed equity investments included in financial assets at
FVPL. The fair value of these financial instruments traded
in active markets is based on quoted market prices at
the reporting date. A market is regarded as active if
guoted prices are readily and regularly available from an
exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service,
or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s
length basis. The quoted market price used for financial
assets of level 1 held by the Group is the current bid
price.
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

3. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 3. UBERERE(E)

3.3 Fair value estimation (Continued) 3.3 2AEEME (&) =
The financial assets of level 3 within the fair value HE2021F M2020%F12A318 -
hierarchy as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were ARBEERTPHNE=ZEcBEE
financial assets at FVOCI and financial assets at FVPL. BUAARBEF2EHEEHTAH
The following table presents the changes of the Group’s EEWENESREEMUARE
financial assets of level 3 within the fair value hierarchy Bt B HEHF AEZHEZN
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020: TREE - TRINBTAEEHE

20214 &20204F12 A31B L E
MARBEELRPE-EcREE

py L
Unlisted Wealth
equity management Debt
investment products  investments Total
¥LTRERE MEEEER RERE #at
At 1 January 2020 1202051718 220,209 726,191 - 946,400
Additions NE 2,500 1,488,000 - 1,490,500
Disposals HE (36,089) (1,692,167) - (1,728,256)
Fair value change recognised in other REBZAREFHERN
comprehensive income INNAEE) (17,990) - - (17,990)
Fair value change recognised in other REMBARE G- 58
income and other gains - net AINrEEE 6,243 18,468 - 24,711
Currency translation differences ERBEER (7,187) - - (7,187)
At 31 December 2020 20205124318 167,686 540,492 - 708,178
At 1 January 2021 202151818 167,686 540,492 - 708,178
Additions AE 85,600 8,510,999 163,194 8,759,793
Disposals & (2,421) (5,852,944) (114,409) (5,969,774)
Fair value change recognised in other REMZAKETRERN
comprehensive income AREEEZY (53,428) - - (53,428)
Fair value change recognised in other REMBAREYE-FEH
income and other gains - net BRzLnEEE 38,866 57,952 = 96,318
Currency translation differences EHAEES (2,754) - - (2,754)
At 31 December 2021 #2021%123318 233549 3,256,499 48785 3538833
Asset-based approach and market approach model are Fo-E4RmEENERBEEE
adopted in valuation the financial assets of level 3. There NmiEE e NEEGERMTRZEAE
were no changes in valuation techniques during the year. Bl o
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

3.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

3.4 Group's valuation processes

3.5

The Group's finance department includes a team that
performs the valuation of financial assets required for
financial reporting purposes with the assistance of an
independent valuer when necessary, including level 3 fair
values. This team reports directly to the chief financial
officer ("CFQO"). Discussions of valuation processes and
results are held between the CFO and the valuation
team at least once for every six months, in line with the
Group's reporting dates.

Fair value of financial assets and liabilities
measured at amortised cost

The fair values of financial assets and liabilities measured
at amortised cost approximate their carrying amounts.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances.

4.1

Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning
the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by
definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The
estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
discussed below.

(a) Impairment of goodwill

The Group tests at least annually whether goodwill
has suffered any impairment in accordance with
the accounting policy stated in Note 2.7 and Note
2.8. The recoverable amounts of CGUs have been
determined based on the higher of value in use and
the fair value less costs to sell. These calculations
require the use of estimates (Note 8). Details of
impairment charge, key assumptions and impact of
possible changes in key assumptions are disclosed
in Note 8.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k AR 2 7] 2021 Annual Report &5

e B WK

(R BEEBES - FIESEHAARE T LIR)
3. MBEREE(H)
34 AEEMMEERRE
AEBZHBHRE @) E A

3.5

BERMBREEERT LEFE
FHBYLFIERENHY THE
REEETHE BREABE=E
NAEE - W EERRAMHEE
(T mEs|) B3R - B 548 R 7Y
NN ASE 2 RS BHAE
FERT-RIwmAEERIEEEE
2.

RBFERATENESREERE
Bz nfEE
HEBERAGTENEREENRE
MarEEDEAKREERS -

BA g2 & ol B R M R

MEMAE S RFENE  LERNBE
KahkEtRE BREEBHEBR NE
EHRREMHNEIETEA

4.1

BRI REBER
REEARKIEHHERBRR - F7
BzesthrtnEEE  ROEE
BHERERART P REREE
haEZRAEERNER T —E8 K
FERNBEEERABRZETRR
B/ INE

(a) AEHEE

RIEM T2 7 X2 8FTHl FY & 5
BR AEESFAAHE
EOEBRE BREEAE
7§y AT U Bl & 58 h IR 1B (F A
BEHEQALEERHEEXA
MEFHNESEET UE
AEUENBGHE (HiEs) -
EBRESLE BRRRK

R BRRA A REE BT EMN
VB S AR E -



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M BmRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 4. ARSI EFTRHE (&)

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED) |
4.1 BREFTEFRER (&)

4.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
(Continued)

hEEFEFEHRELRE

taxation

The Group’s subsidiaries that operate in the PRC
is subject to enterprise income tax in the PRC.
Significant judgement is required in determining
the provision for income tax. There are many
transactions and calculations for which the ultimate
determination is uncertain during the ordinary
course of business. Where the final tax outcome of
these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will impact
the income tax and deferred tax provision in the
period in which such determination is made.

Deferred tax assets relating to certain temporary
differences and tax losses are recognised when
management considers it’s probable that future
taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised.
The outcome of their actual utilisation may be
different.

Pursuant to the Corporate Income Tax Laws of the
PRC approved by the National People’s Congress
on 16 March 2007, a 10% withholding tax is levied
on dividends remitted from the PRC entities to
overseas investors with effect from 1 January 2008.
A lower withholding tax rate of 5% is applied
to Hong Kong investors as there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and Hong Kong. However, the
5% treaty rate is not automatically granted. The
taxpayer needs to apply to the relevant tax bureau
for an approval for the treaty rate. The Directors
estimated that a portion of profits generated by
the PRC subsidiaries would be distributed to their
Hong Kong immediate parent companies and
the approval for the treaty rate will be obtained.
Therefore, deferred income tax liabilities had
been provided based on 5% or 10% of the
estimated profits to be remitted to Hong Kong. The
Directors of the Company will review the funding
requirements of the Group and revise the dividend
distribution policy of its subsidiaries as appropriate.

(b) PRC enterprise income tax and deferred (b)

AEERTEEEHH B R
BIEGMTBEEEMEH -
RETHMERBERSEME
HEEMHE EREEXER
BREF FHERXHRFAEY
BEiBRKREET BEREFEH
B B A% TR AR B & ) o0 B & BB
TR BFEEZBSTEE
B B E B A P S B A
BT TR B AR o

EEEERSBRAKERE
AR A E A AT B R A RS
FREBXRBABER 5
ETERZRLAREBEDN
BELHRAEES TAER -
HERMNAGERATETH -

BEEZBEBARRKEZERER
20073168 @B T E
B BL - A2008F1 A1
B PECERIIFHRE
TESRKRE FEI0%Z
HEBUWESH - ER P E
LEBERNBREHE W
FRCEANBTERELED
KRB A ZEREERMNE
KE5% UL o 1B 345% 1 F Fi R
WIBEHERS ARAFTMH
EBTFrEVRBREBEILESZTS
MEHTE ANAFEEE
gHRELERRKENB QA
ZEBAERERETFTERES
MEEBESARTESHBTEM
KA - Bt BEAMBHRE
BENRBHELES AT
A5% 8 10% R/ T K&t & o
RAESEBTRHRITAEER
2ESB R ERAENB
NAZ R BBER -

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& B2t AR A7 2021 Annual Report %3k

189



Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (B
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.
= The Group has organised its operations into four main

operating segments:

(1) Flavours and fragrances;
(2) Tobacco raw materials;
(3) Aroma raw materials; and
(4) Condiment.

The chief operating decision-makers have been identified as the
executive directors (the “Executive Directors”). The Executive
Directors review the Group’s internal reporting in order to
assess performance and allocate resources. Management has
determined the operating segments based on these reports.

The Executive Directors consider the business from the
operation’s perspective and assess the performance of flavours
and fragrances, tobacco raw materials, aroma raw materials
and condiment segments.

(1) Flavours and fragrances segment includes research
and development, production and sale of flavours and
fragrances products.

(2) Tobacco raw materials segment includes research and
development, production and sale of paper-making
reconstituted tobacco leaves and new materials products
that are innovative, functional and applicable to tobacco
industry.

(3) Aroma raw materials segment includes research and
development, manufacture and sale of aroma raw
materials products that are extracted from natural
materials or generated from chemical process.

(4) Condiment segment includes production, sales,
marketing and distribution of condiments.
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Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BXBERIHER (&)
(CONTINUED) = |
The segment information for the year ended 31 December HZE2021F12B318BIEFEE 29D ZER
2021 is presented below: 23mT

Year ended 31 December 2021

HEWME12831ALEE

Flavours Tobacco Aroma

and raw raw
fragrances materials materials  Condiment Others Total
R EREH ERA A ity -
Total revenue BEXH 1,941,375 586,072 720,649 676,481 2 392459
Inter-segment revenue DUEEE (14,626) (20,667) (6,623) = = (41,916)
Segment revenue - net PHEEE-FE 1,926,749 565,405 714,026 676,481 22 3,882,683
Segment result PHEE 1,104,081 (80,091) 59,096 136,864 (105,473) 1,114,471
Finance income B A 101,784
Finance costs BEKK (81,468)
Finance income - et HBEBAN-EE 20,316

Share of results of associates and ~ [E(5EE & A 7] |2 St 24
jointly controlled entities BB %R 12,584
Profit before income tax BERIZF 1,147,377
Income tax expense EH (251,593)
Profit for the year REERT 895,784
Depreciation e 40,583 84,652 33,401 11,836 6,357 176,829
Amortisation #eH 1,828 8,994 15,444 73,919 139 100,324
As at 31 December 2021
20215128310

Flavours Tobacco Aroma

and raw raw
fragrances materials materials  Condiment Others Total
BR ERRH ERA AR Hity EH
Segment assets PHEE 8,389,135 2,314,894 1,344,664 4,586,505 1,389,931 18,025,129
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

e B WK

(Br=BEAEIN -

5.

The segment information for year ended 31 December 2020 is

presented below:

EXBER I BER ()

A B AARETTIIR)

BZ2020412A31B EFEZH BER

25T

Year ended 31 December 2020

BE0F12ANEILERE
Flavours Tobacco Aroma
and raw raw
fragrances materials materials  Condiment Others Total
EE ] BERER EER ARm it @it
Total revenue BEEEH 2,094,460 637,539 646,322 502,835 7,954 3,889,110
Inter-segment revenue DUEEE (9,435) (15,933) (7,626) (84) (1,974) (35,052)
Segment revenue - net NEHEEE-EE 2,085,025 621,606 638,696 502,751 5980 3,854,058
Segment result GEIES 1,258,783 249,609 47,909 (432,490)  (221,019) 902,792
Finance income g3 ON 159,915
Finance costs BEMAK (143,983)
Finance income - net HHIA-FE 15,932
Share of results of associates and ~ [E(5EE & A 7] |2 St 24
a jointly controlled entity ERIER 30,097
Profit before income tax BB A BT 948,821
Income tax expense N (280,382)
Profit for the year AEERF 668,439
Depreciation e 44,719 84,011 24,888 9,885 6,812 170,315
Amortisation B 1,643 9,967 18,095 73,69 232 103,633
As at 31 December 2020
20205128318
Flavours Tobacco Aroma
and raw raw
fragrances materials materials  Condiment Others Total
i ERER BRHE Bk m At @it
Segment assets NHEE 8,346,729 2,762,317 1,082,892 4,800,859 685,257 17,678,054
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

5.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment result represents the profit before income tax earned
by each segment without inclusion of unallocated corporate
expenses, finance costs, finance income and share of results of
associates and a jointly controlled entity. This is the measure
reported to chief operating decision makers for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, investments
in associates, investments in a jointly controlled entity, financial
assets at FVPL and financial assets at FVOCI that are managed
by the Finance Department, deferred income tax assets, other
non-current assets, inventories, trade and other receivables,
short-term time deposits and cash and cash equivalents.
They exclude financial assets at FVOCI and financial assets at
FVPL that are managed by the Investment Department and
intersegment eliminations.

Non-current assets other than financial instruments and
deferred tax assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and
2020 are mainly located in the PRC.

Revenues from external customers are derived from the sales
of flavours and fragrances, tobacco raw materials, aroma
raw materials and condiments to customers mainly of whom
located in the PRC.

Revenue derived from sales made to the single largest external
customer for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted to
6% (2020: 11%) of the Group’s total revenue. These revenues
are attributable to flavours and fragrances segment.

e M BmRME

(R BEEBES - FIESEHAARE T LIR)
5. EXERIBER (FA)

DHMEBERKRRE DB ZBRHAAFN -
ERIRABERADBNLRAFMZ - &/
BARA - B WA S G B A R I A
RIZEHERZRE O HBRETER
BOLERMFABED Bz RREAMMEE
BRERREZOTA -

DHEETEBEREDE BELKRE
ERREE EBVEE YEHZQAH
BE HARZEHERORE  BTH
MERZBRAAEBEAELEZEHFTA
BRMRALBEFELEEFHFTAR
EEREnNeREE BEMEHE
E -HMRPHEE FTHE HEZMHE
i UK - R HRE B KA IR & R
TEEY - EMATERHRENFERE
MARAREBEFELHEHEZESH T ALME
W MAR AR EEFEBEZEF A
BENEREE ko ABEEH -

BReMmTAEMBELTEHMESHREENI R
20214 202012 A31A A& E# 3E
REBEETEMNBE -

KENBESHUA L BB HES
B BAER  EEELEEKS T E
MES -

HZE2021F12831B L FE KRR &
AINBE—BFEHWAGERBUAC%
(2020%F : 11%) - EBEWARHE B
EBEAR °
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. EXERoMER(E)
| (CONTINUED)
(a) Liabilities related to contracts with customers () HEEFzEREMHBEWAERE
The Group has recognised the liabilities related to rEEECBRERFENERBZE
contracts with customers: B&EA:

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
Total contract liabilities BmERBIE 166,945 182,701
(i)  Significant changes in contract liabilities () BEAEBEEZEXEE
The Group receives payments from customers NREBIZBENOENNNR
based on billing schedule as established in ZHERPREWR ZIE - X
contracts. Payments are usually received in advance HEREERAYBHERLRZER
under the contracts which are mainly from sales of BTURE B AEHHTE KRB
condiments. The decrease in contract liabilities was HYERGK D -2RaBRL
mainly attributable to a decrease in ex-warehouse MIFEREAEHAKREOLEE
time of condiments. B FRSSR A o
(i) Revenue recognised in relation to contract (ii) FEE[EEEEEEEZKA

liabilities

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A31HLEE
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Revenue recognised that was included BB EEEVIARE R
in the contract liabilities balance at BB 2 B ERHIA
the beginning of the year 158,818 152,205

All contracts are for periods of one year or less.
As permitted under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers”, the transaction price
allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not
disclosed.
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. BXBERIHER (&)
(CONTINUED) d
(a) Liabilities related to contracts with customers () EEFZEEHBWEAERE (&)

(Continued)

(iii) Contract liabilities mainly include prepayment for (i) EREEETEREAKDH
condiments from customers and unrealized sales B F 18 3R E MK & IR
incentives. As for the prepayment for condiments ERE - ZERNARLNEPS
from customers, most of them will be settled in FERH RIHeERER
short period of time, which is generally less than a (—RE—FURN) &E - B
year. The balances of prepayment from customers 20209 2021 12A318 -
are RMB112,503,000 and RMB101,795,000 as at EEIENRIBLEG S B AA
31 December 2020 and 2021 respectively. R #112,503,0007C & A R

101,795,0007T °

Contract liabilities related to unrealized sales HEeRBEHEEBNKERNY
incentives are analysed as follows: EFBEDNTNT

As at 31 December

R12A831H
2021 2020
2021F 2020%F
Unrealized sales incentives expected — FEHAM —4F A H, IR &9
to be redeemed within one year I8 §H & 1R ED 28,069 22,529
Unrealized sales incentives expected ~ FEHARN —4F % H IR
to be redeemed over one year REIBIEERE 37,081 47,669
65,150 70,198
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6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

e B WK

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

6. Y- HBRRME

Furniture,
Plant and Motor fixtures and Leasehold  Construction
Note Buildings machinery vehicles ~ equipment improvements in progress Others Total
G £E

i3 BR  BERERE RE Rt e ERIR it it
At 1 January 2020 R202051518
Cost A 903,491 1,030,050 58,148 230,935 74,906 290,426 2,962 2,590,918
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (356,088) (605,811) (43,768) (162,759) (30,143) - (1,231) (1,199,800)
Net hook amount FESE 547,403 424239 14,380 68,176 44,763 290,426 1731 1391118
Year ended 31 December 2020 220205125310 L £
Net book amount at 1 January MATEREFE 547,403 424,239 14,380 68,176 44,763 290,426 1,731 1,391,118
Additions RE 18 9,500 4113 15,902 1174 117,595 - 158,402
Transfers & 8,349 87,778 I} 5,051 9,951 (117 - -
Disposals e 30 (8,412) (3,104) (1,306) (3,692) (1,545) - - (18,059)
Depreciation it 3 (36,993) (86,397) (3502) (11,862) (3,167) - (296) (142,217)
Currency translation differences ~ EHREZR (244) (516) (52) (99) (76) - - (987)
Net book amount at 31 December ¥ 12A31BEEFE 510,221 431,500 13,675 73476 61,100 296,850 1435 1,388,257
At 31 December 2020 R2020512A31R
Cost A 887,708 1,109,593 57,825 242,539 71910 296,850 2,962 2,675,387
Accumulated depreciation 2iHE (377.487) (678,093) (44,150) (169,063) (16,810) - (1,527) (1,287,130)
Net hook amount EEFE 510,221 431,500 13,675 13476 61,100 296,850 1435 1,388,257
Year ended 31 December 201 E201E12A31ALEE
Net book amount at 1 January MAIBRERE 510,221 431,500 13,675 13,476 61,100 296,850 1,435 1,388,257
Additions AE 40,993 8,677 2,576 16,230 2,672 351,250 - 422,398
Transfers & 129,462 252,265 - 2,835 14,400 (398,962) - -
Disposals e 30 (191) (1,093) (328) (3,844) (9,064) - - (14,520)
Depreciation & (37,823) (96,436) (3,107) (13,745) (1,120) - (296) (152,527)
Currengy translation differences £ HAEZE (280) (666) (15) (59) @) - - (1,042)
Net book amount at 31 December ¥ 12A318 EEFE 642,382 594,247 12,801 74,893 67,966 249,138 1139 1,642,566
At 31 December 2021 R2021%5128318
Cost R 1,056,678 1,350,802 58,963 239,874 90,072 249,138 2,962 3,048,489
Accumulated depreciation ZitiE (414,29) (756,555) (46,162) (164,981) (22,106) - (1823 (1,405,923
Net hook amount FEFE 642,382 594,247 12,801 74,893 67,966 249,138 1,139 1,642,566
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

6. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 6. Y¥ -  MERREE)
(CONTINUED) -
Depreciation was recorded in the following categories: WEIRIUNTSES I -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12B31BLEFE
Note 2021 2020
B E 20215 20204
Manufacturing overheads s 8 A 75,080 68,988
Selling and marketing expenses SHE RERRX 738 791
Administrative expenses 1TIEE A 76,709 72,438
Total depreciation mEBE 24 152,527 142,217
As at 31 December 2021, the Group's secured bank R2021F 128318 - NEFEK A KRR
borrowings were fully repaid, no property, plant and TEFCTHEEZE BDLEWE K=
equipment were pledged as collateral for the Group’s R BRI RE AN E B S (2020
borrowings (31 December 2020: pledged buildings with net F12A8318 : O EHEEFEREEAE A
book value of RMB73,248,000). F2#573,248,0007T) ©
7. LEASE 7. #HE
(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) REECHBRAREANSEE
statement of financial position
The consolidated statement of financial position shows AR ERBRIATHBEES
the following amounts relating to lease: A &5
As at 31 December
M12A31RH
Note 2021 2020
B E 20215 20204
Right-of-use assets: ERAEEE:
Land use rights + (s AR (i) 215,147 181,402
Properties L3 36,816 59,500
Motor vehicles B Hf - -
251,963 240,902
Lease liabilities: HEARE:
Current mE 18,751 24,526
Non-current EME 22,176 39,345
40,927 63,871
Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended AEBFEABRLEERENEAS AR
31 December 2021 were RMB60,736,000 (2020: #60,736,0007T (20204F : A R#&
RMB42,722,000). 42,722,0007T) °
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
7. LEASE (CONTINUED) 7. HE (&)
- (a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated (a) REEHMBEMRRRBERNESEHE
statement of financial position (Continued) (&)

() The Group's interests in right-of-use assets for () ANEEETHFEHEDNEDS
land use rights represent prepaid operating lease BEMNKEHEHERERHR
payments and their net book amounts. BREF(E -

At 31 December 2021, the Group’s secured bank M2021F12H831H » A&
borrowings were fully repaid, no right-of-use WEBRBITERE ZH
assets were pledged as collateral for the Group's BE CORELTHERER
borrowings(31 December 2020: pledged HKHEARNEBR WK R
right-of-use assets for land use rights with net book (20205 12H318 : 2B L
amount of RMB15,265,000). ERAEEmDFEFEAARE
15,265,0007T) °
(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated income (b) REEKRBREANSE
statement
The consolidated income statement shows the following EWEREBRUATHABEFHEDN
amounts relating to lease: k-

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
Note 2021 2020
liks3 2021F 2020%F
Depreciation and amortisation fFRAEEENTEN
charge of right-of-use assets: BHEEH:
Land use rights + b {55 PR R 6,495 6,004
Properties bES 24,302 28,040
Motor vehicles = = 58
24 30,797 34,102
Interest expense FE X H 26 2,151 3,450
Expense relating to short-term
leases EHHEER 24 19,691 14,530
The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended B E2021F12H8318 F & E
31 December 2021 was RMB44,420,000 (2020: WMEAERSTEEEAEARE
RMB40,643,000). 44,420,0007T (20204 : AR

40,643,0007T) °
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8. BIEE
Non-
Trademarks Customer  competition Computer
Note Goodwill  andlicenses  relationships ~ agreement software Patents Total
iR B8 BERFWR EFBR  FRTHE L Efl @
@ (o)

At 1 January 2020 R202051R18
Cost s 5,903,875 544 817 787 444 3,085 9,407 49,521 7,298,149
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 231 5 Rl (36,366) (102,871) (303,528) (3013 (6,823) (38,053) (490,654)
Net book amount KEE 5,867,509 441,946 483916 n 2,584 11,468 6,807,495
Year ended 31 December 2020 BENNENANALEE
Net book amount at 1 January MATEEEFE 5,867,509 441,946 483,916 7 2,584 11,468 6,807,495
Additions RE - - - - 1331 10,663 11,99
Amortisation g 24 - (23,269) (64,366) - (945) (9,049) (97,629)
Impairment e (495,498) - - - - - (495,498)
Net book amount at 31 December RM2ANBEESFE 5372011 418,677 419,550 n 2,970 13,082 6,226,362
At 31 December 2020 R20205128318
Cost AR 5,903,875 544,817 787,443 3,085 10,738 60,180 7310,138
Accumulated amortisation and impairment 5t ¢4 Rl (531,864) (126,140) (367,893) (3,013) (7,768) (47,098 (1,083,776)
Net book amount FEFE 5,372,011 418,677 419,550 72 2970 13,082 6,226,362
Year ended 31 December 2021 BR2NENANALEE
Net book amount at 1 January MAIREEFE 5,372,011 418,677 419,550 n 2,970 13,082 6,226,362
Additions RE - 21 - - 4,030 3,993 8,044
Amortisation 3] 24 - (23,197) (62,939) - (1,035) (6,658) (93,829)
Impairment Wi 6 (293,270) - - - - - (293,270)
Net book amount at 31 December RANEERFE 5,078,741 395,501 356,611 n 5,965 10,417 5,847,307
At 31 December 2021 R011E128318
Cost A 5,903,875 544,838 787,443 3,085 14,768 64,173 7,318,182
Accumulated amortisation and impairment - 2z 84 R & (825,134) (149,337) (430,832) (3,013) (8,803) (53,756)  (1,470,875)
Net book amount FEFE 5,078,741 395,501 356,611 n 5,965 10417 5,847,307
Amortisation is included in cost of goods sold and administrative R EEEAS NS RNEERARTT
expenses in the consolidated income statement. HREBRNA o
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

8.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

Goodwill is mainly attributable to the anticipated
profitability of operations, the anticipated future
operating synergies and enlarged market share. Goodwill
arising from prior year is allocated to the Group’s CGUs
identified within the operating segment. The goodwill is
allocated in CGUs as follows:

As at 31 December 2021
#20215128318

e B WK

(Br=BEAEIN -

A B AARETTIIR)

8. BFLEE (&)

(a)

BETEALERHNAHANMN
W B HA R IR AR 2 195 R R FE AN R
RKE)TIH D RERTE o AERE R IAR]
FEEEZHEBIERBERED
BOEREZERSELEMN - BHE
PTRERSELBMZ2HMT

As at 31 December 2020
R2020F12831H

Reconstituted Reconstituted
Flavours Tobacco Jiahao Flavours Tobacco Jiahao
Subgroup leaves  Foodstuff Others Total Subgroup Leaves Foodstuff Others Total
&%  EEEE  ERRR At @t BF  BEEE  ER8R it @t
Goodwill e 1,186,344 649,363 3,140,052 102,982 5,078,741 1,186,344 942,633 3,140,052 102,982 5,372,011

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based
on the higher of value in use and the fair value less costs
to sell. Following the significant decrease in sales of the
Group due to the outbreak of Covid-19 Pandemic since
early 2020, management recalculated the recoverable
amounts of all CGUs as at 30 June 2020. The value in use
results of CGUs other than the CGUs of Jiahao Foodstuff
Limited and its subsidiaries (“Jiahao Foodstuff”) were
assessed to be exceed their carrying amounts as at 30
June 2020. According to the management’s estimation
of the recoverable amount of the CGUs of Jiahao
Foodstuff with the assistance of an independent valuer,
which was calculated based on its value in use that
was assessed to be higher than its fair value less costs
to sell, an impairment loss of RMB495,498,000 for this
CGU was recognised for the six months ended 30 June
2020, resulted in a reduce in the carrying amount of the
goodwill of Jiahao Foodstuff from RMB3,635,550,000 to
RMB3,140,052,000 as at 30 June 2020.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

8.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, management reassessed the
key assumptions for impairment testing of goodwill of
all CGUs and engaged an independent valuer to conduct
impairment test on the CGUs of Jiahao Foodstuff and
CGUs of Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves(”RTL"). Based on
the assessment, the Group considered that there was no
additional impairment.

When the Group negotiated with customers for the
upcoming year’s traditional RTL business at the end of
2021, it was aware that the customers’ future purchase
intention was lower than the Group’s expectation.
The impact of the oversupply in the traditional RTL
industry has gradually emerged over the past few years.
Based on the results of the Group’s discussion with
customers at the end of 2021, the management of the
Group re-evaluated the supply and demand situation
of the traditional RTL industry and considered that the
oversupply in the traditional RTL would remain for a
longer period of time, while based on the principle of
prudence and conservatism, a conservative forecast on
the future sales of the traditional RTL was made. As at 31
December 2021, management engaged an independent
valuer to conduct an impairment test on goodwill of
CGU of RTL. According to the test results, an impairment
of goodwill of approximately RMB293,270,000 was
recognised for the CGU of RTL, resulted in a reduce
in the carrying amount of the goodwill of RTL from
RMB942,633,000 to RMB649,363,000 as at 31
December 2021.

Other than the RTL CGU, as at 31 December 2021,
management reassessed the key assumptions for
impairment testing of goodwill of all CGUs and engaged
independent valuers to conduct impairment test on the
CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff, CGU of Flavours Subgroup
and CGU of Xiamen Amber. Based on the assessment,
the Group considered that there was no additional
impairment.

e M BmRME

(R
8.

SEEBPEIN  FBESBREOAARETLIIR)
/\\\ﬁ/ﬁé (%E.)
(@ (&)
2020 12H31H - EBEHB X
A REELAEUAERERE
AP HBERERER  WEBIBIL

BEARSREMNRESEEEMAN
ABEEENRSESBEMEITR
BRI - RIFFME - AEBERBAL
EESNEERIE -

P21 FFREAEABRTFAMK
THEEEFBEREMNELRE A
BEPHARKBEERNERAEE
FEH - EHEBEEEITEM/RANK
VEETEBEEEZR LN - ERX
KEIWmmiiﬁAmﬁMﬁ

HER AEEEREEHERE
@% %1%%&%%@7&@

REESHEEETER/RRNKD
B —BRERRERE ERNEEM
RTWRRA - HEHRBEBRERR
RISHE M T IR STAY TR - 1020214
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

8.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(Continued)

The value in use calculations use pre-tax cash flow
projections based on financial budgets prepared by
management covering a five-year period. Cash flows
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated terminal growth rates below. The terminal
growth rate does not exceed the long-term average
growth rate for the businesses in which the CGU
operates. The discount rates used are pre-tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments or
entities as below. Management determined budgeted
gross margin based on past performance and their
expectations for the market development.

The key assumptions used for value in use calculations
are as follows:

e B WK

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

8. BFLEE (&)

(a)

Others
At

(&)

FEREERENEEERINESF
WY HREMAG ZHARERE
AE-HBALFHNRESRERS
AT R KEFERR AR -
SZOKEBFRREIGBERTES
B XKGn L ENRYFIIE
RE-FAZMRE QB AIRLE X
I RS A RS ED B R 2R
EREBRIFIROT - BRERES
ENRELEETISEROADRE
EFRFTEMNE -

AAEEREENERERRIIRAT

As at 31 December 2020
2020124318

Reconstituted
Flavours Tobacco Jiahao
Subgroup Leaves Foodstuff Others
e BEEE FERm ft

As at 31 December 2021
R2021%£12A318
Reconstituted
Flavours Tobacco Jiahao
Subgroup Leaves Foodstuff
L] BEEE EERA
Forecast growth rate BitiRE 3.0%-00%  39%-206%  6.7%-264%
Terminal growth rate XEEEEE 0.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Budgeted gross margin BHENR 83.0% 49.1%-~543%  58.5%~59.4%
Pre-tax discount rate HARE 143% 16.5% 13.5%

-5.5%-~137.8%
0.0%~3.0%
22.0%~45.0%
14.9%-~19.8%

4.9%-75.7% -21.7%~427.7%
0.0%~3.0%
23.8%-~45.0%
15.2%~22.3%

3.0%-00%  3.0%-~58%
0.0% 30% 30%

83.0%  54.5%-~58.6%  60.0%-61.3%
15.4% 15.3% 13.5%
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e M BmRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

8. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 8. BMILEE (&)
(@) (Continued) (@) (%)
The recoverable amounts and the headrooms available EREBHNBESESENMN BEE
(the excess of the recoverable amounts over the carrying ENReELEUNEZEZRRHIR
amounts) of the CGU of Flavours Subgroup, CGU of RTL SELESEMNZAIWESE L TRE
and CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff are as follows: 2R (AT Ys B £ ZBB@EmEILD)
HIREAT :
As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 December 2020
R20215128318 H2020E12431H
Reconstituted Reconstituted
Flavours Tobacco Jiahao Flavours Tobacco Jiahao
Subgroup Leaves Foodstuff Subgroup Leaves Foodstuff
Bk BERE EERA B BiEEE FRRE
Recoverable amount hEeE 9,438,095 1,187,631 4414130 11,327,604 1,640,544 4,283,693
Headroom THEZH 4,087,668 - 101,116 5,994,018 111,538 136,672
The recoverable amount of the CGU of Flavours FRHARBHREENT  FREEBH
Subgroup, CGU of RTL and CGU of Jiahao Foodstuff ReELBUNAKESE - BiE
would equal its carrying amount if the key assumptions BEMNRSELBEMNTKRE©RE
were to change as follows: MEZRAMREEEEMAMATIK
EEERHERREREE :
As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 Decermber 2020
YLD H00§126318
Flavours Subgroup Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves Jiahao Foodstuff Flavours Subgroup Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves Jiahao Foodstuff
g5 BiEEE ELEE Bk BiEEE ERRE
From To From To From To from To From To from To
# g B g : g i 3 i £ B S
Forecast qrouth ate EiiRs 30%~00% -189%~22.3% NA NA  67%-264% S9%-156%  30%-00% TAA%-TIA%  30%-58%  L1%-40% AGK-T5T%  39%-TAT
Terminal growth rate* AEFERE NA NA NA NA 30% 7% NA NA 30% 16% 30% 26%
Bugeted rosproftmargn B ERJE 83.0% 463% NA NA SB5%-504% 517%-58.6% 830% 353% SA5H-5B6% 518%-550% 600%-613% 588%-601%
Pre-tax discount rate il 143% 544% NA NA 13.5% 13.7% 15.4% 93.7% 153% 16.2% 135% 138%
* The management have considered and assessed - %EE%@%E&?FE%%@iEE’U
reasonably possible changes for terminal growth rate and REAREY  UEBBHMBR
have not identified any other instances that could cause RS AREBNREELEM
the carrying amount of the CGU of Flavours Subgroup to MEREE#BEEATIRE S5 -
exceed its recoverable amount.
(b) Trademarks represent Peacock, Xinghu, Samshiang, (b) EETEIE EH HELE-

Chunzhu, Jinba, Jiahao, Zhanwang, Jinchan, and Sanfan
trademarks.

BN 9% - mx EI -8
—HBEBERE-
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 9. REERTAZRE
g The Group has interests in nine (31 December 2020: five) MR2021F12A318H  ZEBE R L E

individually immaterial associates as at 31 December 2021.
The following table analyses, in aggregate, the movements
of the carrying amount of the Group’s investments in these

(20209128318 : Bf@) WIEERIE X
VS N R EZR - TRABAEER
EZ:H@?%QTE’J&ﬁ&ﬁE’\‘Ex—rEf“@

associates, and its share of results of these associates.

An analysis of the movements of equity investments in REtE N7

associates is as follows:

AEGERENAREBEZSNDNT -

RSN ARD ST

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
At the beginning of the year F9 374,761 385,881
Acquisition of equity interest in Broad Far BAER (BB BRAF
(Hong Kong) Limited (“Broad Far") ([FER]) 2 ki 17,836 -
Acquisition of equity interest in BAREEEME Dﬂiﬂ?ﬁi
Hunan Jiapinjiawei Technology Development BEEEAEAQ
Group Co., Ltd. (“Hunan Jiapinjiawei") (Dﬁﬂfﬁ%:‘f&n%%DZ%% 54,800 -
Acquisition of equity interest in Junjieshang BABRNHAERHEER
Network Technology Co., Ltd. (“Junjieshang”) NEl(TEEARM ) 2 ix e 350,000 -
Acquisition of equity interest in Yingtan BAEBEZREREAR
Dongwu Technology Co. Ltd. BEEARI((BERE]
("Yingtan Dongwu") 2 Ma e 3,500 -
Acquisition of equity interest in Xiamen Fengtao  BE A BFI&EMEER A 7
Ceramics Co., Ltd. (“Xiamen Fengtao”) ([EPEE]) 2 ik#E 19,560 -
Share of results of associates il AN E 6,685 13,481
Dividends received 2R B (4,031) (6,952)
Adjustment for transactions between kS Y /N v
the Group and associates T5 (2,916) (3,317)
Disposal of equity interest in Beijing Kingdee HEILRSHEER
Yunji Technology Co., Ltd. (formerly named BRAF (RITEA
as Beijing Yunji Wuyu Technology Co., Ltd.) IEREEY TR
R BIRAR]) Z ke (13,788) -
Disposal of equity interest in Hunan Golden HENEeEREER
Leaf Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves Co., Ltd. BEREFEAT 2R - (14,332)
At the end of the year FXR 806,407 374,761
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

(a)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had interests in the

following associates:

e M BmRME

(B BAIEAES -
REERAT 2 RE (F)

A B AARETTIIR)

(@) F2021F12831H  REEF KA -

THEA

m A R

Place of % of ownership
Name incorporation Interests Principal activities
£8 EMB L FREREIt  FEEH
Guizhou Huangguoshu Golden Leaf Technology PRC 40.00% Produce and sell RTL
Co., Ltd. ("Huangguoshu Golden Leaf") e EEMEERERE
BENEREEMBRARRR ([EREEE])
Yunnnan Hongta Blue Eagle Paper Co., Ltd PRC 25.10% Manufacture and sales of cigarette
("Hongta Blue Eagle”) H paper and auxiliary products
ERARERAEERAR ([MEEE]) KENEEBERAREDm
Yunnan Ruisheng Tobacco Technology Group PRC 6.72% Research, develop, produce and
Co., Ltd. ("Yunnan Ruisheng”)(i) | sell flavours and additives
ERRAEERN (RE)BRAR (ERKA 0 e EENEETREMER
g
Yunnan Nongken Gaoyuan Food Co., Ltd. PRC 30.00% Purchase and sale of agricultural
THERSERRERLAT th products, coffee and tea raw
materials
RERHERFER WMHRE
Junjieshang(ii) PRC 10.00% Technology development and
& AN (i) M promotion in the field of internet
technology, advertisement design
and production
M@ RBEANN MRS
RAHEE - BERAREE
Xiamen Fengtao (i) PRC 13.04% Manufacture special ceramic
BTl EP products, special machinery

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& B2t AR A7 2021 Annual Report %3k
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
9. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES(CONTINUED) 9. REERATZRE (&)
" (@) As at 31 December 2021, the Group had interests in the (@) M2021F12H31H » "EE R
following associates: (Continued) THERRHEAEER  (B)
Place of % of ownership
Name incorporation Interests Principal activities
£ TR AR 3L B FEREIt  TEEE
Broad Far Hong Kong 21.43% Research and development,
Big 58 production and sales of heat-not-

burn tobacco products
e EENEEMBNREE

EEm
Yingtan Dongwu PRC 35.00% Produce and sell electronic
EBERTG i atomized cigarette products

TERHEETRILEER

Hunan Jiapinjiawei PRC 40.00% Research, develop, produce and
BEERERK eyl sell health food and biological
products
e bEREERBRmRE
NEm

() The Group has significant influence over Yunnan () AEEARBEEEWHANE
Ruisheng by representations on its board of EehEEEE HEERQ
directors. RIBERTEN -

(i) The Group has significant influence over (i AEEBABEEAHZEH
Junjieshang by the appointment of its executive TES HERBRABAEK
director. TEN-

(i) The Group has significant influence over Xiamen (iy "EEBABAEEMEENE
Fengtao by representations on its board of EgFEEEF HERA
directors. RIBERTES -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M BmRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

10. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED . AHEESEBZRE
ENTITIES |
The Group has interests in three (31 December 2020: one) 20214128318 AEB R = @

(20205128318 : —1{@) W IEMERIE X
MEREHEREAEREZ  TRALXE
ERZEARTHEENRERENL
AT EEXEENRAEZESNDN -

immaterial joint ventures as at 31 December 2021. The
following table analyses the movement of the carrying amount
of the Group's investments in these jointly controlled entities.

An analysis of the movements of equity investments in jointly RERE4H EENEREEZH H TN
controlled entities is as follows: N
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31BLEFE
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
At the beginning of the year F19 7,410 3,313
Acquisition of equity interest in BALBEFRE
Shanghai Yifang Rural Technology BHEBRHOERAT
Holdings Co., Ltd (“Shanghai Yifang”) (I EB/ZRH]) Z 180,000 -
Acquisition of equity interest in BAERG SR ERAE
Wuxi Jintou Huikai Emerging Industry EXREREESANK
Venture Capital Fund Partnership 2 (BREIR) 2 g
(Limited Partnership) (“Wuxi Jintou") ([mH &%) 12,000 -
Acquisition of equity interest in BALSRBREBHE
Shanghai Miou Food Technology Co., Ltd BRAR (8RB
(“Shanghai Miou") e HE 8,500 -
Disposal of equity interest in Dianhua Benxiang ~ HEEZEAFRFEERA
Technology Co., LTD (“Dianhua Benxiang”) (DREARE]) 2R (6,603) -
Share of results of jointly controlled entities R HEFIERIE RS A 5,899 16,616
Dividends received 2R E (2,669) (3,456)
Adjustment for transactions between o 2 A [ 2k [R) 42 )
the Group and a jointly controlled entity BRI (1,706) (9,063)
At the end of the year FR 202,831 7,410
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

10. INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY CONTROLLED 10.

ENTITIES (CONTINUED)

(@ Asat 31 December 2021, the Group had interests in the
following jointly controlled entities:

e B WK

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

RABZEFERZRE (&)

(@) T2021FE12831H  REEFE R
THEREZEHEEER D

% of
Place of ownership
Name incorporation Interests  Principal activities
£ AR AREZESL EERE
Wuxi Jintou PRC 40%  Equity investment, investment
mHeKR H management, asset management
and other activities
RERE REEEREE
EIRELE
Shanghai Yifang PRC 40%  Research, develop, produce and
BT H sell agricultural products
e e ZEMEE
REM
Shanghai Miou PRC 20%  Purchase and sale of agricultural
EEKE H products
RERHEREMD
The above entities are accounted for as jointly controlled BEB(ATIER) it X2EA

entities of the Group, whereby the Group and the
counterparty have joint control and rights to the net
assets of the arrangement, pursuant to Article of

Association.
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

11. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 11. WA REBENEBEEEEHT AR

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME tHErEkEzEeEmEE -
(a) Classification of financial assets at FVOCI (a) UDAREBEEFEEEEHTAH
EEHKRENESHEENSE
Financial assets at FVOC| comprise: UARBEFEEEEH T AEM

EEWENEREERR

. Equity investments which are not held for trading, o TEZXSMEBEENRERSE -
and which the Group has irrevocably elected at MAEBEYIEEREE T
initial recognition to recognise in this category AR R IBEER AT

Ll

e Debt investments where the contractual cash flows e ASRREAREERASMAF
are solely principal and interest and the objective EHRHBEBWREAERKRS L=
of the group’s business model is achieved both MEERMEERERE
by collecting contractual cash flows and selling EHEEXBENERRE

financial assets

Equity investments at FVOCI comprise the following UNARBEFEAEHZEH T AEM
investments: FPHWG Z R REBRENTRE
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
Non-current assets: FRBEE:
Unlisted equity investments in the PRC MBI IE FTERRE 17,870 -
Unlisted overseas equity investments RGN IE F TR IR E - 55,072
17,870 55,072
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)
11. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVOCI
(Continued)

Debt investments at FVOCI comprise the following
investments:

e B WK

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

M. UAREBEFEEHEHF AR
ez EKE 2 EMEE (&)

(a) UnrnBEFEEHEZHTAH
th2ERENEMEENDSE
(%)
RAnBEFEAEZEFHTARLM
PHRSNEREE THEFRE

BIENATHRE
As at 31 December
R12A831H8
2021 2020
20215 20204
Current assets: RBEE:
Debt securities in the PRC REBARNELEES 48,785 -

(b) Amounts recognised in other comprehensive
income

(b) HttZHEUREPRANEE

Year ended 31 December

BE12A31RLEE
Note 2021 2020
HY & 20215 20204
Losses recognised in other NEMEEZEF
comprehensive income: TERHEE
— Related to equity investments — 2R 1% B 1A 19 (53,428) (17,990)
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

11. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Fair value, impairment and risk exposure

Investments in unlisted companies represent the
investments in certain private companies. These investees
were engaged in high-tech sector and education sector.
Taking into the probability of high uncertainty on the
expected future cash flows generated from the business
of these investees, income approach and market
approach are not appropriate under the valuations of the
fair value of the investments. Thus, asset-based approach
was used to measure the fair value of these investments.
Considering the investees of light assets, the fair value of
the investments approximated to relative proportion of
the carrying amount of the net assets of the investees at
the end of each reporting period.

Since one of the unlisted overseas equity investments
engaged in education sector was affected by the double
reduction policy in China, and the other one engaged
in high-tech sector was considered that the Group is
unlikely to recover the investment cost after management
assessment, the fair values of the two funds were
decreased to zero as at 31 December 2021.

The fair value measurements of financial assets at FVOCI

are categorised within level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

Financial assets at FVOCI are denominated in the
following currencies:

e M BmRME

(R

ZHBEEREIN

A B AARETTIIR)

M. UAREBEFEEHEHF AR
fhzHEREz2EHEE (&)

(c)

DRREE O BEREEEE
FLEMRAIERIRE KR L LT
ERAINKRE - EUWKRETRSE
SEREFHERHE RS - EEIE
LI E B R PME LT
*X}ﬁi/mimmfa_ﬁﬁﬂiﬁ E
AHEREN R R BER - WATEM
WIS ENEM - Bt - EEEEE
WHARGEELRENAREE-
ZRINEREBEUNEERKE
E EBERSHER RENAR
BEOUNBRIREELFEERRE
BEENEE L -

AREFR—BREHESESENIEL
MIRINRIERE X P E R BUR
2 mE-—EfEsREESK
BREKERENHBRAEET]
WEEEK A BE T K - R
2021@12)%31 Bt /R EE
ZARNBERLEST -

RAnEBEFELEZEFHTAELM
2EBENEREEN QA EER
EWRDBAAABEERANE=FE -

NAnBEFEEHZEHTARLM
EEWEZEREENTIIEED

e

As at 31 December

M12A831H
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB AR 66,655
usD ETT = 55,072
66,655 55,072
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME

Financial Statements
(BB EEAEIN FTESHEEIUARETTIIR)

12. BEFBREE S
EEHEHEHNT :

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

12. DEFERRED INCOME TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

- The movements in the deferred income tax are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets Deferred income tax liabilities

EEfEREE EEHERER

Withholding

income tax

on dividends

Valuation  expected to

Unrealised surplusof  be remitted

profits assetsand  from group

arising from recognition entities

inter-group  Recoverable of intangible  incorporated
Note sales tax loss Others Total assets inthe PRC Total

L3 L3 Tl

LRMEE WHEERY

FEEN EENE DARHER

L1 BRREY HRSFEL
Wi RRREN  URHER it B EENER JREAEH it
At 1 January 2020 202051518 78571 2309 3591 135,257 153,191 52,545 205,736
Recognised in the income statement  REZERER 2 11421 12,118 1,651 25,190 (13,680) 2152 (35,202)
Curtenqy tranlation differences ~ SHHEEE - - - - 2 - 2
At 31 December 2020 1A2020512A318 89,992 3,213 3,0 160,447 139513 31,03 170536
At 1 January 2021 R21E1A18 89,992 35213 35,242 160,447 139513 31,023 170,536
Recognised in the income statement 1A EERER n (6,508) 15,047 (1484) 709 (295 (18131) | (21,08)
Currency translation differences EHhEEE - - - - - - -
At 31 December 2021 0215128318 83,484 50,260 33,798 167,542 136,558 12,892 149,450

As at 31 December 2021, deferred income tax liabilities of
RMB194,886,000 (31 December 2020: RMB171,245,000)
have not been recognised for the withholding tax that would
otherwise be payable on the undistributed profits amounting
to approximately RMB3,888,819,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB3,409,599,000) retained by certain PRC subsidiaries.

PR2021F12A318  KREBI AR &
FHRBARENBARIZADIRAFHA
R #3,888,8197L (2020F12H31H :
A R #3,409,599,0007T) B X [ #) 3&
RIOSHBERECHEHABARE
194,886,0007T (2020512 A31H : AR
#171,245,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

13. INVENTORIES

e M BmRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

13. &

As at 31 December

MR12831H
2021 2020
20215 20204
At cost: A
Raw materials FRA R 512,133 619,223
Work in progress =2 111,763 42,935
Finished goods AKX @ 273,330 192,588
897,226 854,746

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the cost of inventories
recognised as expense and included in cost of goods sold
and administrative expenses amounted to approximately
RMB1,258,664,000 (2020: RMB1,179,401,000).

The Group recognised provision for impairment of
approximately RMB2,869,000 (31 December 2020:
RMB4,378,000) in respect of the losses on obsolete inventories
as at 31 December 2021.

HZE2021F12A31BIEFEZFEERK
AERBERAYTAEEXNRNRITRE
Ao &mEA A ARE1,258,664,0007T
(20204 : AER#1,179,401,0007T) °

RE B FLIRE TSR AE MR ERE
#5 NRE2,869,0007T (2020912 A31
B : AR#4,378,0007T)
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e B WK

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 14. EF R HMEWRIE
As at 31 December
R12A31H

Note 2021 2020

ks 20214 2020%F

Trade receivables B 5 W SRIE (a) 863,357 1,020,767

Less: provision for impairment of B S RWIRRERE

trade receivables 3.1(b) (13,237) (11,167)

Trade receivables — net 85 R HRIE—FER 850,120 1,009,600

Notes receivable e E B 27,493 80,105
Prepayments and other receivables FEA 208 I E A E U 2R OB 204,893 244,428
Advances to staff BT8R 9,865 4,409

Others H A, 18,240 48,062

Less: provision for impairment of AL LA R O IE R (B B

other receivables 3.1(b) (29,565) (34,854)
1,081,046 1,351,750
Except for prepayment of RMB51,480,000 (31 December 2020: % 78 1 B 2 A R #51,480,0007T (2020
RMB70,727,000), trade and other receivables are financial F12A318 : AR¥70,727,0007T) 5] -
assets categorised as those to be measured at amortised cost. B MEMBEBWRE A AR 855K
All trade and other receivables are either recoverable within RABHNELRHEE| -FFEEBESNEM

one year or on demand.

FEURIBTI — FARPBHKIFE -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

14. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

(a)

The credit period generally granted to customers ranges
from 0 to 180 days. At 31 December 2021 and 2020,
the ageing analysis of the trade receivables (including
amounts due from related parties which are trade in
nature) based on invoice date was as follows:

e M BmRME

(Br=BEAEIN -

A B AARETTIIR)

14. ES R EMEKRFIE (&)

(a)

BEYFEFNEEH K A0E180
H e ®20214F %20205F 12 A31
H ZE5EURE (BEBBEFN
ESEWGIE) REZEZEHNER
BReOWIT

As at 31 December

M12A831H
2021 2020
20214 20204F
0 - 90 days 0ZE90H 756,502 883,425
91 - 180 days 91Z180H 75,511 93,287
181 — 360 days 181E360H 15,097 22,568
Over 360 days 360H M £ 16,247 21,487
863,357 1,020,767

The Group applies the simplified approach to provide for
expected credit losses prescribed by HKFRS 9. As at 31
December 2021, a provision of RMB13,237,000 (as at 31
December 2020: RMB11,167,000) were made against
the gross amounts of trade receivables (Note 3.1(b)).

The creation and release of provision for impaired
receivables have been included in “net impairment
losses on financial assets” in the consolidated income
statement. Amounts charged to the allowance account
are generally written off when there is no expectation of
recovering additional cash.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables
(including amounts due from related parties which
are trade in nature) are denominated in the following
currencies:

REBREABEHELREESH
BREERFSRFTEEHIRTES
ZEEE - H2021F128318 -
EHEBESERKFEBLEEIAR
#13,237,0007T (7202012 A31
H: AR®11,167,00070) 2 B #&
(Ft5E3.1(b))

HERERBFRBENRZMNER
EERESARERTIEREE
WMEBKRFEIN - ABRBRP
TEVBURE — R TR AR W
1R & B IEH o

AEBNEZEEFNEERE (R
TREAEE T B 5 EUGRIA) AT 5
E¥RERM:

As at 31 December

R12A831H
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB AR 798,313 985,964
usD E7T 64,728 34,770
HKD B 316 33
863,357 1,020,767

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& B2t AR A7 2021 Annual Report %3k

215



Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e B WK

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 15. LA REBEEBEESET AR
L. PROFIT OR LOSS mZEMEE

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVPL

(a) UARBEFEEHSHTAE

The Group classifies the following financial assets at

AEBBATEREESE/AR

FVPL: AREEFEAEEHT AL HIES
K% R E E

debt instruments that do not qualify for
measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCI,
and

equity instruments that are held for trading

Financial assets at FVPL include:

o TRENEBERALIARA
BEESEEEZEDHFAHEM
2EREMERTE ARk

s RRHMBAMEZTA

NAnBEFELAEEHAAER

ZERMEERE:
As at 31 December
M128318
Note 2021 2020
B 5 20215 20204
Non-current assets: ERBEE !
Unlisted equity investments NIELTRERESE (i) 215,679 112,614
Current assets: RBEE:
Listed equity investments iR E (ii) 35,866 29,064
Wealth management products HEEEER (iii) 3,256,499 540,492
3,292,365 569,556
Total 45T 3,508,044 682,170

216

Investments in unlisted companies represent
the investments in certain private companies.
These investees were engaged in high-tech and
consumption sector and other sectors. Their fair
value measurements are categorised within level 3
of fair value hierarchy.

The fair value of two of the unlisted equity
investments are based on market approach with
unobservable inputs such as lack of marketability
discount, scenario probability and risk free rate.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

(a) Classification of financial assets at FVPL
(Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(Continued)

The fair value of other unlisted equity investments
is based on asset-based approach given the
probability of high uncertainty on the expected
future cash flows generated from the business
of these investees, where income approach and
market approach are not appropriate. Considering
the investees of light assets, the fair value of the
investments approximated to relative proportion
of the carrying amount of the net assets of the
investees at the end of each reporting period.

The fair value of listed equity securities is based
on their current bid prices in an active market,
and their fair value measurements are categorised
within level 1 of fair value hierarchy.

Wealth management products represent financial
products issued by commercial banks in PRC.
These products are principal protected and with
non-guaranteed return, the terms ranging from 30
days to 180 days.

The carrying amount of wealth management
products approximated the fair value. The fair
value is based on cash flow discounted using the
excepted return based on management judgement
and their fair value measurements are of level 3
within the fair value hierarchy.

e M BmRME

(BRAEEBEN  ESEIUARETFLIIR)
15. UanEEFEEHEZBHT AR
HmZzEMEE (H)
(a) UAAEEFEEARB AL
HEZNEMEESE (H)
(i (&)
ERIELWRETNRE

(i)

(iii)

FEEANERARREERE
FHESENEEENATREN -
HE LM REREN AR
BEEREEZEX MBRAZK
Mg EBTER -2 B2
WEREEMNNEEE £ F
BEHREHR KENDIAE
BOUREREE uﬁéﬁ
FREEENHES LG -

thBEABSFNRAAEBER
RIFEGEEET S B HE R
BEABHEN EaAnEE
AAENEARBRRAAREIE
BRPONE—]E -

MEEEEMRERTEEE
RITHITHERER BL
Fuui%%liﬂii&;lﬂ%‘w&z
= EFRMWE A30KE180K

MEEEERNEEEESR
AAREBEMRE -2AEBESE
RIEE IR E & H B A T8 3 1
Bz HARAERAE j’IJﬁ
RARBEBRFZE=E-
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

15. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 15. LA REBEEBEESET AR

L PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED) HZTHMEE (&)
(b) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (b) REZERz2SHE
During the year, the following gains/(losses) were RERN RBFER W (&
recognised in profit or loss: BT :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
Note 2021 2020
liks3 20214 2020%F
Fair value gains/(losses) on equity — JAE b Uz A Rz E fth U& %5
instruments recognised in other —RERHER I w
income and other gains — net TEMAREE
Wz, (&518) 7,750 (10,906)
Fair value gains on debt RE MU A K E A U S
instruments recognised in other —FREmRER
income and other gains — net TAMNAREENE 96,818 24,711
23 104,568 13,805
(c) Risk exposure () RBRHAZ
Information about the Group’s exposure to price risk and ERAAEHRTOERERMEH
credit risk is disclosed in Note 3.1. BB EBENEI TR IEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M BmRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
16. CASH AND BANK BALANCES 16. RTREEFERS
As at 31 December
R12A831H8
Note 2021 2020
B 5 20215 20204
Short-term time deposits REE BT (a - 1,413,840
Restricted bank balances ZREIRITFR (b) 11,984 -
Cash and cash equivalents RWERBEEEY 3,541,425 4,921,756
3,553,409 6,335,596
(@) As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no short-term (@) M2021F12AH31H » "NEEH I &

time deposits with original maturity of six months or
above. For the year ended 31 December 2020, the
average interest rate of short-term time deposits was
3.5%.

As at 31 December 2021, restricted bank balances
represented security deposits and frozen bank balances.

Cash and bank balances are denominated in the
following currencies:

(b)

REBHBEASNEASN FNEHE
BT 3 - H 2202012 A318 It
FE SHEBRGERZFEHIGFERE
F R A3 5E o

R20214F12A31H » LR AR IT
FERARES MWRE ZRITER

RITREFREUATINEL 25T
N

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB NS 2,404,137 5,601,191
usD ETT 238,343 197,332
HKD B 891,184 535,142
Others Hib 19,745 1,931
3,553,409 6,335,596

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s and the
Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk of cash and
bank balances is their carrying amounts.

M202149 K2020F12H31H » &
EEEAQNBEEMRERITME
FHReNEaEEERRDEERE
ER
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

e B WK

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
17. SHARE CAPITAL 17. B
Share capital
Number of % 2
Note shares RMB’000
=S BB EE AR T
Ordinary shares, issued and fully paid:  E@EA& - O 31T REZ :
At 1 January 2020, 202061 A18 -
31 December 2020, 2020F12A31H &
and 1 January 2021 20211 A1H 3,107,836,876 318,636
Issuance of new shares BITH IR (a) 122,090,000 9,983
At 31 December 2021 202112 A31H 3,229,926,876 328,619
(@) During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company (@) F2021F12A31HIEFEHME

completed the Top-up Placing on 13 December 2021
and completed the Top-up Subscription on 20 December
2021. A substantial shareholder of the Company
wholly-owned by Ms Chu (“the vendor”), placed an
aggregate of 122,090,000 Top-up Placing Shares, at the
Top-up Placing Price of HK$17.88 per Top-up Placing
Share on 13 December 2021. And then, the vendor
subscribed for 122,090,000 Top-up Subscription Shares
at the Top-up Subscription Price of HK$17.88 per
Top-up Subscription Share which is equivalent to the
Top-up Placing Price on 20 December 2021. The Top-up
Subscription Shares represent approximately 3.78% of
the issued share capital of the Company as enlarged
by the allotment and issue of the Top-up Subscription
Shares upon completion of the Top-up Subscription.
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ARANBIFR2021F 128138 TR &
E%FES MR2021F12A820H
SEATE R ITIREE c 7R20214F12 A
138 ARAIZ2EERE - —KH
Kzt EBEBENRAI(ER]D -
RAERTERNEEEEREER
HERERMNBE1788THEA R
122,090,0000% fo & FTBELERRD -
E1% - 7A2021%128208 - E4HE
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT

(a)

Share option scheme

On 6 May 2019, the Group granted 11,000,000 share
options with an exercise price of HKD3.708 per share and
vesting periods of 0.5 to 1 year to an eligible participant,
being an independent business consultant of the Group,
to provide professional advisory services regarding the
operation and management of the Group. The share
options were valid from the respective exercisable date,
namely 5 November 2019 and 5 May 2020, to 30 June
2020.

The estimated fair value of the share options per
share during the valid period was from HK1.2 cents
to HK35.5 cents, by reference to the fair value of the
equity instruments granted, measured at the date the
business consultant renders service. During the year
ended 31 December 2020, the Group recognises the
total expense of approximately HKD 108,000 (equivalent
to approximately RMB98,000) in relation to these share
options.

11,000,000 share options outstanding with weighted
average exercise price of HKD3.708 per share as at 30
June 2020, lapsed on 1 July 2020. Movements in the
number of shares options outstanding during the years
are set out below:

e M BmRME

(Br=BEAEIN -

A B AARETTIIR)

18. ROABEMNZM

(a)

8 A RSt B

HR2019F5H6H » NEB P —H B
S EETSEAR B H11,000,0000% B I
BUAHEEEERERIREHEEXRE
MR 1TEEASRBK3T08
TRSFBHAOSFEE14 - BMKE
BB MBI AT 476 B (BN20194 11
HA5H &2020%F5H5H) # £2020
F6H30HIE °

BN AR - BRE A
BEATIRBE1 21 ZE%35.5(0
MR ERREREALERE Y
T EAEMTE - 82202012 A
BTALEFE  ASBEERERES
82 & AE%E A E108,0000T (5
R4 AR #98,0007T)

720206 H30H » INEFHITHE
1B & & %78 #3.7087T B K 171 #Y
11,000,0008% f Az #E 7420207 A 1
BEX®R - RFERN - RITEMER
HEEE 2EHYIRAT

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A318LEE

2021 2020

2021 2020%F

Number of Number of

share options share options

BREHE BRREHAE

("000) ('000)

(RBEATFEN)  (RECATED)

At 1 January M1A1H - 11,000
Lapsed B KK - (11,000)
At 31 December M12A318 - -
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
18. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT (CONTINUED) 18. RO ARERNZMN (&)
- (b) Employee share scheme (b) EEBERRESE

On 1 December 2020, shares of Guangdong Jiahao, MR2020F12A1H  BEZ % &
a subsidiary of the Group, were granted to 80 eligible EE MBAR X TFOEZER
employees (the “Grantees”) of Guangdong Jiahao and ExLENBAIMNAERKES
its subsidiary (the “Employee Share Plan”). Four limited (THEFADER=Z=8RG ([1E
partnerships controlled by the Group were incorporated BT E]) - BIE (R B RS
in the PRC under the Law of the People’s Republic of By N AmAEFETHEITREE
China on Partnerships as a vehicle to hold the ordinary (PEARANMBABLE L E
shares for the Grantees under the Employee Share Plan. PRV BEREENE &
Under this plan, approximately 1.98% equity interest in EAEBRE T AZELEAKROFRF
Guangdong Jiahao was granted to the Grantees through B BEZTE  EERERFARABE
their interests in the four limited partnerships with ENREREASPENERERT
consideration of approximately RMB46,496,000 and will #1.98%EH =R  REBLY
be vested if certain services conditions are met. B AR #46,496,0007T ¢ 1M B4 15

G 5B R T KL RIS R o

The amounts of share-based compensation recognised as B E2021F12A31BEFE © K
expenses with a corresponding credit to reserves of the FERURN REREOME #RA
Group during the year ended 31 December 2021 was Y WHEAKEBZESEAA
RMBS5,747,000. R #5,747,0007T °

(c) Expenses arising from share-based payment () UBRAERNINELEZER

transactions

Year ended 31 December

BZE12A3MBLFE
Note 2021 2020
B 20215 20204F
Share option scheme BERR T 2 = 98
Employee share scheme 1B B iE A iEst 8l 5,747 536
19 5,747 634
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

19. RESERVES

e M BmRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

19. 1B

Capital ~ Share-based Currency
Contributed Merger Share Capital  redemption compensation translation Statutory Other
Note surplus reserve premium reserve reserve reserve reserve Reserve reserves Total
N
xR BEEN EHEE
it &S RHEE RAEE BRGE 4] WeRk i EERE Bl @it
At 1January 2020 R2020£1518 296,853 (628438) 429,861 2411 4760 907 14,588 773,104 1,646,483 2,540,529
Fair value changes on financial W24 EEFEEEZEH A
assets at FVOC, net of tax A2ENE EHEEY
BR&NLLEED @) - - - - - - - - (17,990) (17,990)
Appropriations from net profit & &% |& 2 - - - - - - - 17,808 - 17808
Share-based payment Bt A ERHZ
~Value of consultancy senvice -~ BERIRKERE 18 - - - - - 9% - - - 9%
-Vale of employee senvices  —~EERKER 18 - - - - - 536 - - - 536
- Share option lapsed ~BRM BARE - - - - - (1,005) - - 1,005 -
Changes in ownership interests — BEHBAT 2 FEEER
in a subsidiary without AT gEEHE
change of control - - - - - - - - 31,304 31,304
Currency translation differences  EHBEEE - - - - - - 61,447 - - 61,447
At 31 December 2020 R2020£128318 296,853 (628,438) 429,861 2411 4,760 536 76,035 790912 1,660,802 2633732
At 1 January 2021 R2021F1A1R8 296,853 (628,438) 429,861 2411 4,760 536 76,035 790912 1,660,802 2,633,732
Fairvalue changes on financial -~ WAA% BEFEEEREHA
assets at FVOC, net of tax A2ENG ERHEEY
RE&ENDLERD (a) - - - - - - - - (53,428) (53,428)
Appropriations from net profit & 47| &R 2 - - - - - - - 30,596 - 30,59
Share-based payment ) BER A
- Value of employee senices  —~EERBBEAE 18 - - - - - 5741 - - - 5741
Changes in ownership interests  EHBATZfEEER
in a subsidiary without AT sEEHE
change of control - - - - - - - - 364 364
Issuance of new shares ik - - 1753905 - - - - - - 1753905
Currency trandlation differences  EHHE£%E - - - - - - 16,603 - - 16,603
At 31 December 2021 R2021%128318 296,853 (628,438) 2,183,766 2411 4,760 6,283 92,638 821,508 1,607,738 4,387,519
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

19. RESERVES (CONTINUED)

20.

Huabao International Holdings Limited & B 42 % A IR A &)

(a)

For the year ended 31 December 2021, the amount of
decreases in fair value in financial assets at FVOCI before
tax is RMB53,428,000 (2020: decreases RMB17,990,000)
(Note 11), of which nil (2020: nil) was recognised in
other comprehensive income as deferred tax (Note 12).

Contributed surplus of the Company represents (i) the
difference between the consolidated shareholders’ funds
of the subsidiaries at the date on which the corporate
reorganisation became effective and the nominal amount
of the Company’s shares issued under the reorganisation;
(i) the transfer of credit balance from share premium
pursuant to the capital reorganisation in 2006 and
relevant laws and regulations in Bermuda.

e B WK

(Br=BEAEIN -

A B AARETTIIR)

19. f## (&)

(a)

(b)

HE2021F12A31BILFE - A
AR EBEFEEHEHFAELE2E
WHZERMEEZARBEEHH
AR & %5 A AR 53,428,0007C
(20204 : B > AR %17,990,000
7o) (3E11) AFLTERHMBE
W= ER AELERIE (2020F :
) (MfIsE12) °

RARZERBHIBOEAERZ
BB AR ZGARRESHEMR
BARARIEBITROIEEZZR
(INE2006F IRIEEAEEH LB R
ERBERERBARDEEEAN
BB -

() Other reserves mainly arise from transactions with (o) HEmFEETZRgHIFITEFERD
non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of T5 o BU 5 B T S |
control and fair value changes on financial assets at MU AAREBESEEHEH
FVOCI (net of tax). AHMEEHBENEREEND AR

BEZE (FE) -
RETAINED EARNINGS 20. REZEF
Year ended 31 December
BZE12A318 1k
Note 2021 2020
s 20214 20204

At the beginning of the year F1 8,918,688 8,969,048

Profit for the year FEEF 675,131 418,399

Appropriations from net profit B 4% 38~ 19 (30,596) (17,808)

Final dividends for the year ended #HE2019%F12H31H

31 December 2019 LEFEZERERE - (285,887)

Special dividends for the six months #H E2020F6H30H

ended 30 June 2020 LE7NME A 2 R Rl AR S 29 - (165,064)
Final dividends for the year ended #H E2020612H31H

31 December 2020 IEFEZ BRI E 29 (229,479) -
Interim dividends for the six months HE2021%6H30H

ended 30 June 2021 LE7NME A 2 B B 29 (165,226) -
At the end of the year FR 9,168,518 8,918,688
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e M BmRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
21. BORROWINGS 21. EX
As at 31 December
R12A31H
Note 2021 2020
ks 20214 2020%F
Non-current FEFRED
Long-term bank borrowings RHRITER
— Secured bank borrowings —HEBIRITER (a) = 1,692,855
— Unsecured bank borrowings —EBIRITER (b) = 227,243
Less: current portion W R BN ER - (113,621)
- 1,806,477
Current b 21
Short-term bank borrowings EERIRTTE K
- Unsecured bank borrowings —EIMFIRITER (b) 962,774 788,132
Current portion of non-current liabilities FERENBE T 2 R E 301D
— Unsecured bank borrowings —EMFIRITER (b) - 113,621
962,774 901,753
Total borrowings BE® 962,774 2,708,230

(a)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s secured bank
borrowings were fully repaid (31 December 2020:
RMB1,692,855,000). During the year, the average
interest rate of the loan was 5.7% (2020: 5.7%) per
annum.

The unsecured bank borrowings are repayable within
one year. During the year, the average interest rate was
2.9% (2020: 2.6%) per annum. Borrowings are financial
liabilities categorised under “financial liabilities measured
at amortised cost”.

Interest expense on bank borrowings for the year
ended 31 December 2021 amounted to approximately
RMB78,871,000 (2020: RMB140,080,000). No interest
expense was capitalised for the year ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

(a)

(b)

MR2021F12A31H AEENA
HKIFRITERE 2 8EE (20205
12A31H + AR #1,692,855,000
) cRERNZERFEHNE AR
FH5.7E (20204 : 5.7F) o

ERFIRTERFTR —FAEIHE
B-RFRN ZERFHAEAE
F29E (2020F : 2.6/8) - BEFY
CRBERSEAIRBHEKAG

EMeRAE] -

HE2021F12831H EFEH
BITERFNERMIZOAEARK
78,871,0007T (20205 : AR
140,080,0007T) ° & £20214F
2020F12A31B I FE X EF &
BRENE -
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME

Financial Statements
(BB EEAEIN FTESHEEIUARETTIIR)

21. BORROWINGS (CONTINUED) 21. EXR(E)
—_ (b)  (Continued) (b) (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

An analysis of the carrying amounts of the Group’s BRI DT AER S HHEE/EE D
borrowings by type is as follows: T

As at 31 December

M128318
2021 2020
20214 20204
At fixed rates EfabalEs 360,000 1,992,836
At floating rates B K 602,774 715,394
962,774 2,708,230

The maturities of the borrowings are as follows:

EXREBMBEAOT

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
Within 1 year —F LA 962,774 901,753
Between 1 and 2 years —E-F - 795,645
Between 2 and 5 years —ERF = 1,010,832
962,774 2,708,230

The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings were
denominated in the following currencies:

AEBEFNEEERNATIIEE
REAL

As at 31 December

M128318
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB AR 459,950 1,992,836
HKD B 502,824 715,394
962,774 2,708,230
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 22. EZRHMENKE
As at 31 December =
R12A831H8
Note 2021 2020
B 5 20215 20204
Trade payables Z 5 EMNFIE (a) 302,330 268,020
Wages payable EATIE 112,220 96,145
Other taxes payable Hip 5718 134,206 102,179
Accruals for expenses FEETFIXX 9,985 12,003
Other payables H b e 5RI8 190,304 171,197
749,045 649,544
Except for other taxes payable of RMB134,206,000 (31 M H fib T 5 kA R #8134,206,0007T
December 2020: RMB102,179,000) and wages payable of (2020F12H31H : AEK#¥102,179,000
RMB112,220,000 (31 December 2020: RMB96,145,000), trade L) RERTE AR®112,220,0005T
and other payables balances are financial liabilities categorised (2020%F12H31H : AR *96,145,000
under “financial liabilities measured at amortised cost”. TN BEREMENRDEREE

BB RBHERATENSRARE] -

The non-current and current portion of trade and other ZoNEMENTEIETRE LS D
payables was as follows: m

As at 31 December

R12A8318
2021 2020
20215 20204
Non-current IERE 800 800
Current T Ep 748,245 648,744
749,045 649,544
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

22. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

(@ As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the ageing analysis
of the trade payables (including amounts due to related
parties which are trade in nature) based on invoice dates

was as follows:

e B WK

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

22. ESGRHMENRKE (E)
(a) 720214 K2020%F12H31H &
SENZE (BIEERTNE S E
T ERTE) IR R = H HA M BR L AT
N

As at 31 December

M128318
2021 2020
20215 20204
0 - 90 days 0&90H 271,535 235,750
91 - 180 days 91&180H 15,326 16,348
181 — 360 days 181&360H 3,589 5,421
Over 360 days 360H M 11,880 10,501
302,330 268,020

The carrying amounts of the Group's trade payables
(including amounts due to related parties which are trade
in nature) are denominated in the following currencies:

AEBNEZENR(BEHER

BIRNRB) WREENLTIE
BREA

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2021 2020
20214 20204
RMB AR 292,336 258,086
usD ETT 2,135 3,127
HKD i 6,284 1,430
Others Hih 1,575 5,377
302,330 268,020
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

23. Hrlh AR Hblhi s — F 5

Year ended 31 December

23. OTHER INCOME AND OTHER GAINS - NET

BZ12A31ALFE
Note 2021 2020
ks 20214 20204
Changes in fair value of financial NAnEEFEEHE
assets at FVPL FFAEENEREER
NTRER 15 104,568 13,805
Dividend income from financial WAREBEFEBEHEEHE
assets at FVPL and FVOC| ABREAARBETE
BEESHFAELMEEIK
mH D RLE E 2 REWA 889 2,021
Gains/(losses) on disposal of financial Hj’iuﬂftf BxtE2HH
assets at FVPL FTABEM SR
ﬁquﬁz 5/ (1) 5,246 (2,359)
Gains/(losses) on disposal of it &Hﬁﬁéﬁ.@\ Az
an associate =,/ (E518) 16,720 (2,750)
Gain on disposal of a jointly ﬁ s /\HT T E R 2 W
controlled entity 1,876 -
Losses on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBARZEE - (2,033)
Gains/(losses) on disposal of property, HEWE WELEREZ
plant and equipment Wi, (&#E) 5,726 (6,900)
Government grants BT 2 RL 146,542 190,544
Foreign exchange losses — net e BSE— 5 (27,510) (85,028)
Donations B (3,979) (9,160)
Others H A, (1,559) 2,357
248,519 100,497
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

24. EXPENSES BY NATURE 24. MBI EWRX

Expenses included in cost of goods sold, selling and marketing
expenses and administrative expenses are analysed according
to their nature (with the exception of “research and
development expenses” which are shown as a single item
and analysed according to their nature in Note (a) below) as

ERMBRREERE  HE LTS HEERR
XRTBER  AREBEEEE (BRHE@)
REMEEMEBY R[5 RERRA
XI5 BERAXBETERABENR
REBEROSTE) SO

follows:
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31ALEE
Note 2021 2020
Bt 5t 20214 20204
Depreciation e 6,7 162,052 152,972
Amortisation i 7,8 98,266 99,067
Provision for impairment of inventories 7% & Jil (& ¢ 4 1,220 2,551
Changes in inventories of finished Bl AR EREFES
goods and work in progress (149,570) 254,009
Raw materials and consumables used & R M £ & E 5 1,343,231 837,474
Covid-19-related rent concessions A ERREMAERZ
e R e - (908)
Short-term lease rentals NHEERS 7 19,691 14,530
Auditor’s remuneration 1% BRI BN &
— Audit services —ZER T 9,565 8,777
— Non-audit services — IR ERTS 2,876 -
Consulting service fee EEXERKE 15,577 14,260
Travelling expenses EMRFZ 30,876 33,692
Employee benefit expenses 1B 8 MER s 25 557,962 479,931
Share-based compensation arising ERERT S ELER
from share option scheme VA RR 199 /% B 158 A ¥ BM 18(a) = 98
Research and development expenses  #f5% & 2R X (a) 250,788 265,041
Delivery expenses BoAY 36,120 34,290
Utilities expenses N FEER G S 71,636 58,664
Motor vehicle expenses AEEAMAX 7,931 8,280
Maintenance expenses HEB 20,695 17,978
Advertising and promotion expenses  E&E RS EE 45,463 79,094
Office administrative and WA KB E
communication expenses 9,760 9,287
Other surcharges H b Bt pnkn & 47,562 53,325
Others HAp 138,227 126,461
Total of cost of goods sold, BIHERAR - HER
selling and marketing expenses MEHERSINITHRER
and administrative expenses 2,719,928 2,548,873
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

24. EXPENSES BY NATURE (CONTINUED)

(@) Depreciation, amortisation and employee benefit
expenses included in research and development expenses
are set out below:

e M BmRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

24. BEMHE S BHRAX ()

(a) MIRARBRAXHEBENTE # =
HREE RENFEZIIRAT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE
Note 2021 2020
liks3 20214 2020%F
Depreciation e 6,7 14,777 17,343
Amortisation e 7,8 2,058 4,566
Employee benefit expenses EERBEHNHAX 25 124,374 109,936

No development cost has been capitalised for the year
ended 31 December 2021 (2020: nil).

25. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES

EEZE2021F12A31B IFFE R
WEAERERKAS &AL (2020
Fm|E) o

25. EERBEAMAX

Year ended 31 December

HE12A31BLLEE

Note 2021 2020

B 5 20214 20204

Wages, salaries and bonus T& - HEHNNRIEL 555,234 510,355
Defined contribution plans and ERHFGERAMET

other employee insurances R (a) 82,165 44,779

Share-based benefits VAR (0 B 2L 2 /8 F) 18(b) 5,747 536

Other benefits HER 39,190 34,197

682,336 589,867
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

25. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Defined contribution plans and other employee
insurances

The expenses mainly include contribution of pension,
housing scheme and other employee insurances for
employees, of which the arrangement of pension scheme
is as below:

In Hong Kong, the Group operates a MPF Scheme for all
eligible employees. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group.

Under the MPF Scheme, the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their monthly salaries up to a
maximum of HKD1,500 per employee with a choice to
make additional contributions. The employer’s monthly
contributions are calculated at 5% of each employee’s
monthly salaries up to a maximum of HKD1,500 (the
“mandatory contributions”). The employees are entitled
to 100% of the employer’s mandatory contributions
upon their retirement at the age of 65 years old, death
or total incapacity.

In Mainland China, the Group makes defined
contribution to retirement schemes managed by the local
governments. It is the local governments’ responsibility
to pay the retirement benefits to those staff who retire.

In Germany, the Group makes defined contributions
at certain percentage of monthly salary to retirement
schemes managed by the insurance company in
accordance with German rules and regulations. It is the
insurance company'’s responsibility to pay the retirement
benefits to those staff who retire. In Botswana, no
pension obligation is required under its laws and
regulations.
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(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

25. EEREHBEX (E)

(a) EEMKFEREMETRR

HERBRERSHK BTERE
B R EAME TRER - RIKEEE
BT

AEERBEMBERERERRY
BIEERTE - RERFECEESR
AEERFHEBLOR

BiEEEESHE SE2EEAR
R #5% (e3R8 A B 1,500
Jo) B 3R - W AR B VR AN
HHEX - BENEARBSEEE AR
5% (& = 3 58 &8 ¥ 1,5007T)
ER R (ToablER]) - BEATR
ATEREKR - B TE2EAT
YEBE NESUREN B E1EH 2 2 EF58 %)

AEBEREAMREBESERET
MEXAFHEETEDLRTEMTT
K ATE RN RAREEMFE L ER
R - T BRFA B ERZFRIK
BEXMEKE -

SAREE I RIFERBEAEEARM
ERAAERBEIRAFNETE
D AABRER A REL K - &
RABIBAEERZEEKNEES
BRARE - BREANBBERIE
RAUBERLFRNE TN EREN
BfE-



Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
25. EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT EXPENSES 25. EERBARMX (&)
(CONTINUED) o |
(b) Five highest paid individuals (b) EEBEFMAL
The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest FRN EARAEB ZAZESHEA
in the Group for the year include 4 (2020: 3) directors TEFEMEA (20205F : =f1) AE
whose emoluments are reflected in Note 35(a). The B -MmMESEzZiMNeE B HRNE
emoluments paid and payable to the remaining 1 (2020: 35@) c AFEELZ M FHT A
2) individual during the year are as follows: + (20204 : W) ZBE 0T -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
Basic salaries and allowances AEXRF € KEBL 10,410 15,700
Contributions to the retirement scheme RREFFT B R 15 42
10,425 15,742
The emoluments fell within the following bands: BEZMESEUTEER

Number of employees

EEA"
Year ended 31 December
BE12A31BLLEE
2021 2020
20215 20204
Emolument bands B < &5 &
HKD4,000,001- HKD4,500,000 7 #£4,000,0017C
— B #4,500,0007C - 1
HKD12,500,001-HKD 13,000,000 712,500,001
— & #13,000,0007T 1 -
HKD13,000,001-HKD 13,500,000 713,000,001
— 7 %13,500,0007T - 1
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

26. FINANCE INCOME AND FINANCE COSTS

e B WK

(B BEIEAES -
26. I AR BE KK

Year ended 31 December

A B AARETTIIR)

BZ12A31ALFE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
Finance income: R 3 N
— Interest income on bank deposits —RITEHZFEHRA 101,784 159,915
Finance costs: A& AN
— Interest expense on bank borrowings —RITER R H M2
and others MEEH (79,317) (140,533)
— Interest expense on lease liabilities - HEaBEIZNEEHR (2,151) (3,450)
Finance income — net WIS — 558 20,316 15,932

27. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of taxation charged to the consolidated income

statements represents:

27. FiBH
SFAGRAWERZHRIEBEBSRBIRAT ¢

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE
Note 2021 2020
i 20214 20204
Current income tax & iR A
- Hong Kong profits tax — BB (a) 6,833 10,757
— PRC corporate income tax —F R EEM (b) 271,822 328,976
— Germany company income tax — R EMSH (0) 116 126
- Botswana company income tax — RS (d) 1,003 915
Deferred income tax EEFTIS T 12 (28,181) (60,392)
251,593 280,382
(@) Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of (@) EAMEBHEAEEGTERHE

16.5% (2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profit

for the year.

F AT %16.5% (20204F : 16.5%)
A o
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
27. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 27. FRi5% (&)
(b) PRC corporate income tax has been calculated on the (b) HEDEMEHEBHEEZAERES s
estimated assessable profit for the year at the tax rates B APEDENRRNFEENET A B
applicable to respective companies of the Group. PR R E °
The income tax rates enacted or substantively enacted to REBERPRHAESMZ TE0E
the major subsidiaries of the Group incorporated in the MArEHRERMRERG TRA KR
PRC are derived from various tax policies as follows: [N
()  The Corporate Income Tax Law of the PRC (i) TEMEREEED A
stipulates the applicable income tax rate at 25% TCEMNBEBRIMSEHEMEA
for domestic enterprises in the PRC. 25% °

(i) Enterprises supported by Western Development (il SABRAKEERHEBEIENSD
Strategy can continue to enjoy tax rate of 15% XNEEZHISRHMESR
until 2030. Enterprises, simultaneously enjoy 2030%F F D E R B Z X AR
additional tax incentives from Tibet Autonomous EAE BRI U E = K
Region Government that the output value of R HEeHEMNEREBM
the company’s High/New Tech products can be S EMSHL T D ZE
exempted from the local share of corporate income 7 Al 9% R IR S T i
tax, can accrue income tax expenses at reduced WMEREBHEMSHER
rate of 9% for the output value of High/New Tech 15%5T 12 3F = 1 =17 & &
products and of 15% for that of non- High/New EEBEHERSHRER -

Tech products.

(i)  The Corporate Income Tax Law also stipulated that (i) TEMEBHRERT  BRE
the Corporate Income Tax shall be levied at the KRS R R
reduced rate of 15% for High/New Tech Enterprises 15% BB R U SEFTIS L o

that are specifically supported by the State.

(00 Germany company income tax has been provided at the () EEACEMESMERNEEGEE
rate of 15% (2020: 15%) on the estimated assessable R B LA E15% (20204 ¢
profit for the year. 15% ) B4 o

(d) Botswana company income tax has been provided at the (d) EREMNPERESHRIEAFEGST
rate of 15% (2020: 15%) on the estimated assessable JE R BRI AT £ 15% (20204 :
profit for the year. 15% ) B4 o

(e)  No provision for income tax in other jurisdictions has () ANEBNAFEEEHEMAERREI
been made as the Group had no assessable profit in ENESEZRAEFRKA @ EAH
other jurisdictions during the year. fth B ERE R B FT1S TR D B4 o
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

e B WK

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

27. FriEH (&)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

27. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

S (f)  The taxation on the Group's profit before income tax ) AEBERGAEHIIAFNFIE
differs from the theoretical amount that would arise EAREEETHEE QR TEMER
using the standard tax rates applicable to the respective ME AR ERETNIERHES
companies of the Group as follows: PR - EHAT

Year ended 31 December
BZ12A318LEE
Note 2021 2020
liks3 20214 20204
Profit before income tax I F51 AT &2 F) 1,147,377 948,821
Less: Share of results of associates & : FE{HHE & AT &
and jointly controlled HRAEHIEE
entities E45 9,10 (12,584) (30,097)
1,134,793 918,724
Tax calculated at statutory tax rate  IZiE AR K E R HBIIE 379,372 412,943
Tax incentives U ER b(ii)(iii) (167,189) (186,971)
Super deduction for research and 3 & A INzHFI%
development expenditure B (23,956) (26,455)
Utilisation of previously B A 2RI ARERD
unrecognised tax losses WM EE (3,124) (3,203)
Expenses not deductible for e
tax purposes Mg 984 6,531
Income not subject to tax EARRBANZE (3,701) (5,757)
Withholding tax on the earnings M B2 &) & £ A AL 8
from subsidiaries FrEA 2 TERMEH 50,089 65,973
Tax losses for which no deferred WM RIEEFTISH
income tax assets were recognised & /& K 75 5 18 19,118 17,321
Income tax expense Frig®t 251,593 280,382
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

27. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 27. FriB8% (&)
As the Directors are not certain whether future taxable profit BEEBRIEETNARKERTERD .=
would be available in certain subsidiaries, the Group did not FERBRAENBERE  ANEEXZER
recognise deferred income tax assets of RMB92,574,000 (31 2021 F12A3 VR ETHE A7 2
December 2020: RMB74,742,000) as at 31 December 2021 A B & 18 A R #5488,223,0007T (2020
in respect of tax losses of such subsidiaries amounting to F12H318 : AK#®401,832,0007T) A
RMB488,223,000 (31 December 2020: RMB401,832,000). The EIEFREREELNHAREEI2,574,0007T
tax loss will expire in the following years: (2020F12AH31H : AKR#74,742,000

7T) o ATEBE RGN T FER

As at 31 December

M12A8318
2021 2020
20214 2020%F

Year FE

2021 20214 - 14,389
2022 20224 58,275 59,190
2023 20234 11,689 15,555
2024 20244 39,801 40,929
2025 20254 36,956 43,412
2026 20264 72,075 -
No expiring date 2B EIEH 269,427 228,357
488,223 401,832
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

28. EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the
profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by
the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue
for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

e B WK

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

28. BERAF

(a)

EREXEF

BREXBANDIRBERNFEARR
RIESHFEARGERET BRUAHE
20214 22020F12A318H L F &
BETT@ERMINETSBETE -

Year ended 31 December

BEZ12A31BLEE
2021 2020
20215 2020%F
Profit attributable to equity holders of ARABETFEEA
the Company JE 15 & A 675,131 418,399
Weighted average number of BET2EBRZ
ordinary shares in issue ('000) D& (FED) 3,111,851 3,107,837
Basic earnings per share for profit EATEZFE ARG
attributable to the Company’s BREXRRR
equity holders:
(RMB cents per share) (BRAR% D) 21.70 13.46
(b) Diluted earnings per share (b) SREBEER

Diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 was the same as basic
earnings per share, since the Company did not have any
potential ordinary share outstanding that has dilution
effect.
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME

Financial Statements

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

29. DIVIDENDS 29. RE
Year ended 31 December =
BE12A31MBLEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Paid special dividend of HK 6.0 cents per share 2 EE2020%6 530H
for the six months ended 30 June 2020 17518 A HF R R B
R A 6.01L - 165,064
Paid interim dividend of HK6.4 cents per share B EZE2021F6H30H
for the six months ended 30 June 2021 IENE A Z R ER B
FRABEe.410 165,226 -
165,226 165,064
Proposed/paid final dividend of HK 2.0 cents Bk B EBRRE
(2020: HK9.0 cents) per share TR B EE2.011
(20204 : 7&¥9.01) 52,816 229,479
218,042 394,543

On 25 March 2022, the Board proposed a final dividend of HK
2.0 cents per share, totalling approximately RMB52,816,000
for the year ended 31 December 2021. The proposed dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2021 is calculated
based on the total number of shares in issue as at the date
of this report. The proposed dividend is subject to the
shareholder’s approval at the Company'’s forthcoming Annual
General Meeting. The financial statements do not reflect this
dividend payable.

MR2022F3825H  EEFTeERREH
Z2021FNAMBLEFENHARKRE
FRREE2.00U - 4 AR 52,816,000
JC e AL E2021%12A318 IE FE A ER
B TR ARE ABHEBITRMDA
B8 -ERREZBREFTENARQR
FRIT BRITR R RIAF A R EIE -
HBHmEARRBEILEMNRE -
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
30. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 30. 8 EEE RS
= (a) Reconciliation of profit before tax to cash (a) RUNBRANEKLEXKRMESHRS
generated from operations FEEFASR
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31ALLEE
Note 2021 2020
i 20214 20204
Profit before income tax e 75 AT &2 F) 1,147,377 948,821
Adjustments for: FE
— Depreciation —E 6,7 176,829 170,315
— Amortisation — Y 7,8 100,324 103,633
— Provision for impairment of goodwill  — B2 5 B £ & 8 293,270 495,498
— Provision for impairment of —TFERERE
inventories 1,220 2,551
— Provision for impairment of trade —B 5 R HEAMEUFIR
and other receivables B B 3.1(b) 3,527 7,392
— Share-based payment-value of —RDABERERNLZ -
consultancy service BRI EE 18 - 98
— Share-based payment-value of —BBEREN -
employee services BERGEE 18 5,747 536
— Interest expense —MEEH 26 81,468 143,983
— Interest income —FMEWA 26 (101,784) (159,915)
— Share of results of associates and —[E(REEE DA M E
jointly controlled entities o) T RS Sk 9,10 (12,584) (30,097)
— Adjustment for transactions between — < &£ & EHE L A7) K&
the Group and associates/jointly HEAZHEEZR S
controlled entity 9,10 4,622 12,380
— (Gains)/losses on disposal of —HEWE - HBENRE
property, plant and equipment 2 () /B 23 (5,726) 6,900
— Gains on termination of leases — R FHE 2 W (1,811) (2,519)
— (Gains)/losses on disposal of financial —H&EU AR %TEE#E
assets at FVPL HEHTABRNSH
BEZ (H&/\)/J‘éﬂa 23 (5,246) 2,359
— Losses on disposal of —-HEWNB AR ZERE
subsidiaries 23 = 2,033
— (Gains)/losses on disposal of —HEBE AR Z (W)
an associate Yl - 23 (16,720) 2,750
— Gain on disposal of a jointly —HEHRFERER
controlled entity Wz 23 (1,876) -
— Changes in fair value of —NanBEEAR
financial assets at FVPL xib FAER E’] % Rl
% FZ’A/’?T ,,,,,, ) 23 (104,568) (13,805)
— Dividend income from investment /{’ REE qugHE
in financial assets at FVPL and at EJJ;#)\TE SHYE Rl
FVOCI 5?&»@% =]
E+EE—E Ejj E+A
H th 2 W A
SMEEZBBBA 23 (889) (2,021)
— Foreign exchange losses — net —[E H B8 — %58 23 27,510 85,028
Changes in working capital: LEESHE)
— Inventories -FE (43,700) 73,975
— Trade and other receivables —EB 5 M EAM RN 62,623 (26,553)
— Trade and other payables -85 &ﬁﬁﬁﬁ E:X 70,917 (9,575)
— Contract liabilities -6RAaE (15,756) 9,833
Cash generated from operations BEELECRE 1,664,774 1,823,600
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
30. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 30. EEELE RS ()
(CONTINUED) P |
(b) In the consolidated statement of cash flows, proceeds (b) RFeBEeREsRN LEWE -
from disposal of property, plant and equipment R NEEZFTERBE
comprise:

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE

Note 2021 2020

liks3 20214 2020%F

Net book amount BREFEEAE 6 14,520 18,059
Gains/(losses) on disposal of HEWE HER

property, plant and equipment B2 Wz (E18) 23 5,726 (6,900)
Proceeds from disposal of HEWE MR

property, plant and equipment  R{EHPTER 20,246 11,159
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
30. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS 30. $EEAE 2R E ()
| B (CONTINUED)
(c) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing () METHELENEBYHIRE
activities
This section sets out an analysis of the movements in REHRME TP ABBEEEETT
liabilities from financing activities: TN

Liabilities from financing activities

BEEHELNEE
Note Borrowings Lease liabilities Total
73 EES HESE o
At 1 January 2020 1202041 418 2,998,776 82,583 3,081,359
Changes from financing cash flow: RERBMREEREZL
Proceeds from borrowings BERET 556,679 - 556,679
Repayments of borrowings BEER (796,368) - (796,368)
Principal elements of lease payments REMRZAEHH - (24,360) (24,360)
Interest elements of lease payments RERFFIEHH - (3,450) (3,450)
Total changes from financing cash flow ~ BEEHHNELHE
iyt (239,689) (27,810) (267,499)
Qther changes: Hipg
Increase in lease liabilities from entering ~ AEFRE U HBE
into new leases during the year mEmnEEaE - 12,548 12,548
Interest expenses FELH 26 - (3,450) (3,450)
Currency translation difference ERzE (50,857) - (50,857)
Total other changes ek (50,857) 9,098 (41,759)
At 31 December 2020 12020612 A31H 2,708,230 63,871 2,772,101
At 1 January 2021 R2021E1818 2,708,230 63,871 2,772,101
Changes from financing cash flow: REEBNRERERL:
Proceeds from borrowings EEHER 1,557,156 = 1,557,156
Repayments of borrowings BEER (3,284,355) - (3,284,355)
Principal elements of lease payments MENTRZAE SR - (22,578) (22,578)
Interest elements of lease payments RERT2FEHH - (2,151) (2,151)
Total changes from financing cash flow BEZHHEEHE
Bi@st (1,727,199) (24,729) (1,751,928)
Other changes: Hugs:
Increase in lease liabilities from entering ~ AEFRTUHHE
into new leases during the year mEMmEEaE - 3,936 3,936
Interest expenses MEzi 26 - (2,151) (2,151)
Currency translation difference ERzZE (18,257) - (18,257)
Total other changes Hpgaac (18,257) 1,785 (16,472)
At 31 December 2021 R2021512A318 962,774 40,927 1,003,701

242 Huabao International Holdings Limited 22 EIEZAAIR A E 2021 Annual Report 3



Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. EXREIE
Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet recognised as RERDENENMAERAEAENER =
liabilities at the end of the year are as follows: R
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204
Property, plant and equipment Y 169,196 73,361
Intangible assets B AE 29,043 2,353
Investment in a jointly controlled entity REREHER 2 IRE 28,000 -
Financial assets at FVOCI NAnEBETE8%
FAEMEERE
TREE - 86,229
Financial assets at FVPL NAanEE=EE#
ATABRCEREE 24,942 15,097
251,181 177,040
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Notes to the Consolidated e HmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 32. EEBEARS
- (a) Name and relationship with related parties (a) BB A BIBEARER
Name Relationship
=r 2R
Huangguoshu Golden Leaf An associate indirectly held by the Company
ERESE RREIEERA B E QA
Hongta Blue Eagle An associate indirectly held by the Company
AIEERE KA EIEERA B E QT
Broad Far An associate indirectly held by the Company

and an entity controlled by the Company’s
ultimate holder

HiE ZJX”ATF‘EJ@H*EE’JH?“”‘T&ZFATriﬁh
BAESZR

Yunnan Ruisheng An associate indirectly held by the Company

EmimA EAYNSIIEEE SRR 0) A /NC]

Yingtan Dongwu An associate indirectly held by the Company

BERE RRAREEFENBE QR

Xiamen Fengtao An associate indirectly held by the Company

EFEE EAYNSIIE RS RN ) T /NC]

Hunan Jiapinjiawei An associate indirectly held by the Company

W= a3k ARAREEFENBE QT

Shanghai Yifang A jointly controlled entity indirectly held by the
Company

/R ARAREEFENLRZES B

Yingtan Weizhijia Food Co. Ltd. (“Weizhijia") An entity controlled by the Company’s ultimate
holder

BERZREMBRAF (MHKZK]) RRRREFEAESZ R

Bojie (Shanghai) Management Consulting Co., Ltd. (“Bojie”)  An entity controlled by the Company’s ultimate
holder

iR (L8 EREARRAR ([1EER]) RABREFEAEH Z A7

Joy Light (HongKong) Tabacoo Co. Ltd. (“Joy Light”) An entity controlled by the Company’s ultimate
holder

EREREEBERAR(EBER]) RRRREFBAERZ R

The Group disposed Dianhua Benxiang, a jointly REBR20Q21F7TAREBEELRE  — XK
controlled entity indirectly held by the Company in July BHARBEEEE 2 XAREHER  Sitt
2021, and since then it was no longer a related party. TH2EH
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Key management compensation (b)

Key management includes directors (executive,
non-executive and independent non-executive) and
senior management. The amounts of compensation paid
and payable to directors is disclosed in Note 35(a). The
amounts of compensation paid and payable to senior
management for employee services is shown below:

e M BmRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

32. BB A RS (&)

FTEEBEAEME
IZERABBRESE (WTESE
FRTEFEBUIFNTES)M
EREBAE -EBNEENTES
BV © B E M 5E35(a) B 5R o [ & A&
EEABXNIEREERBNEN
MEMBMEMT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31MBLEE

2021 2020

20215 20204

Fees, salaries and bonus T& - HHMIEL 20,948 23,978
Employer’s contributions to retirement B E BRI EI LK

benefit scheme 531 265

Share-based benefits LARR 10 B 5 2 & F 1,870 156

23,349 24,399
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

e B WK

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 32. Bt R 5 (&)

(c)

Transactions with related parties

() HEBINXS

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLFE

2021 2020
20215 20204F

Sales of goods and services: THE R m &R
- Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —ERESE 14,126 13,804
— Broad Far —fHiz 2,019 2,914
- Yingtan Dongwu —EER 892 -
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei — i EmER 2 -
— Shanghai Yifang —EBZEH 352 -
- Weizhijia —RZK - 35,186
— Bojie —f8E 29 12
— Dianhua Benxiang —BEERE 6,522 34,470
23,942 86,386

Purchase of goods and services: EEEmmER -
— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —EHREEE 870 1,094
- Yunnan Ruisheng —Ef A 41 147
— Shanghai Yifang —LBER 142 -
— Joy Light —BBER 3,435 -
- Bojie — 3% 51 -
— Dianhua Benxiang —BERE 6,232 11,850
10,771 13,091

Dividend revenue: A BN -

— Hongta Blue Eagle — AL PR EE 4,031 6,952
— Dianhua Benxiang —EELRE 2,669 3,456
6,700 10,408
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Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 32. Bt R 5 (&)

(d) Balances with related parties (d) BAEER &R =
As at 31 December
MW128318
2021 2020
20214 2020%F
Balances due from related parties: FEM B 77 dE A
— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —BEREeE
— trade and other receivables — 8 5 K H MBI 13,109 3,162
- Broad Far — B
— trade receivables — B S EIB 3 -
- Yingtan Dongwu —EER%
— trade receivables —HE S EIBR 504 -
— Hunan Jiapinjiawei —HEEmER
— trade receivables —E S EBR 1 -
— Shanghai Yifang —EBZEH
— trade receivables —E S EB 59 -
— Joy Light —BBER
— other receivables — H & R = 749
— Dianhua benxiang —HELRR
— trade and other receivables — 85 R E MWK - 37,415
13,676 41,326
Balance due to related parties: FE A A 5 A A
— Huangguoshu Golden Leaf —BEREeE
— trade payables —B5EMNK 970 8
- Yunnan Ruisheng —EfmA
— trade payables —B5EMNK - 47
— Xiamen Fengtao —EFEE
— other payables —E MR 9,560 -
— Shanghai Yifang —EBER
— trade payables —B5EMNK 160 -
- Dianhua Benxiang —HEXRE
— trade payables —B5EMNK - 12,705
10,690 12,760
The balance with related parties was unsecured, AR H &R BEERM A8
interest-free and repayable on demand. LARNBREEE -
(e) Investments with related parties (e) BRI A 2RE
In January 2021, the Group invested in Broad Far and 2021 1R REFIKEFHRIT
recognised as an associate. Broad Far is controlled by the BHBER AL NG - BiRA AT
Company’s ultimate holder, Ms. Chu. MR ER AR TATIES -
In December 2021, the Group further invested in the 2021 F 128 » KREEERANEE
Group's associate Hunan Jiapinjiawei together with the MR ERESSIE NS —F
Group's jointly controlled entity Wuxi Jintou and another ZHE—FRERNEFBNE SN T
third party. A REmIER o
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

e B WK

(Br=BEAEIN -

A B AARETTIIR)

33. TEMB AT ZFHIE

Place of Nominal value of
incorporation and issued/registered Ownership interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group% place of operation
ARALBER BRITEER/ AREEEN
AER EETRER AMEAEE BRER% IEXBREENY
Direct Indirect
E# B
Aromascape Development Centre GmbH ¢! #2" Germany, Limited liability EUR25,000 - 100 Research and development of flavours
company B1725,000 & fragrances in Germany
8 BRALAT ey R
F&G (Botswana) (Pty) Limited Republic of Botswana, Limited BWP100 - 100 Production and sales of natural
liability company L1007 extracts in Botswana
BREMEAE - BREFLA TENHERARRY
BRRHEAE
Guangdong Golden leaf Technology PRC, Limited liability company RIMB100,000,000 - 100 Research & development, manufacture
Development Co,, Lid. HE - ERELLA A& #100,000,0007 and sale of reconstituted tobacco
ERESENBREARAT leaves in the PRC
W EERHERERE HE
Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RMB119,680,000 - 992 Production, sales, marketing and
EREZRRERAGX BE EREALE AR$119,680,0007T distribution of condiment products
in the PRC
BE BE BRROBERA T
B
Guangdong Jiahao Marketing Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RIB5,000,000 - 992 Sales, marketing and distribution of
EREREHERDA BB EREMLE ARH5,000,0007 condiment products in the PRC
HE BERABERE TH
Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted Tobacco PRC, Limited liability company RMB40,000,000 - 55375 Manufacture & sale of reconstituted
Leaves Co., Ltd. BE EREALT AE 540,000,000 tobacco leaves in the PRC

ERSHEREEARATN O
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

e M BmRME

(B BEIEAES -
33. TEMB AT ZFHIE (&)

A B AARETTIIR)

(CONTINUED) -
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation and issued/registered Ownership interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group% place of operation
HRAIHER BRAEER/ FEEREN
AER EETRER AMEAEE BRER% IEXBREENY
Direct Indirect
E# 3
Guangzhou Huabao Food Co,, Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB10,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
BMEERABRA TN X0 wE - BRETAT AE#10,000,0007T manufacturing & sales of flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
Wi LERBEER 78
GuangZhou Hua Fang Tobacco Flavors Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB23,380,000 - 51 Manufacturing & sales of tobacco
EMNEFERERERD MM BE EREALE AE23,380,0007T flavours & fragrances in the PRC
LERBEERER TH
Huabao Flavour & Chemical Technology Development  PRC, Limited liability company RIMB530,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd. wE BRETAT AR E530,000,0007 manufacturing & sales of tobacco
ZEERARER (LB ERAAm ™ raw materials in the PRC
% EEREEERRERNEN
MRER *
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances (HK) Limited Hong Kong, Limited liability HKD3,000,000 - 100 Research, development,
FEER (BB BRAANC company 513,000,000 manufacturing & sales of flavours
B BREMAT & fragrances in Hong Kong
e EEREEER FE
Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co, Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RIMBG6 15,880,000 - 81103 Manufacturing & sales of tobacco
ERERBAERAT 0000000 "8 RHERAT ARH615,880,0007C flavours & fragrances in the PRC
EERBEERER TH
Huabao Korea Company Limited Korea, Limited fiability company ~ WON16,320,000,000 - 100 Manufacture and sale of filter
EERER apen o B AREALT £516,320,000,000 materials in Korea
e EEREEREREED
@
Hunan Jishou Minzu Materials Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RIMB60,000,000 - 85 Production of tobacco raw materials
BEEaTREENBRA TN 0 HE EREMLE AR 60,000,000 and cigarette filter in the PRC
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

e B WK

(Br=BEAEIN -

A B AARETTIIR)

33. TEMB AT ZFHIE (&)

| 55 (CONTINUED)
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation and issued/registered Ownership interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group% place of operation
ARALBER BRITEER/ AREBEN
L EEIREH AREREE BRER% IERHREEHE
Direct Indirect
E# 3
Jiangxi Xianghai Biological Technology Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RIMB100,000,000 - 100 Produce, research and sale of synthetic
IRERENHRARAR B BREELT AE%100,000,0007C perfume in the PRC
TERBEERH ¢
Jiangxi H&K Food Technology Development Co., Ltd ~ PRC, Limited liability company RMB300,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing and sales of food
TELZEHLRARARERRAFN ™ HE EREALE AR %300,000,0007T flavours and fragrances in the PRC
RERHERRH 1H
Owada Flavours (Guangzhou) Co,, Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company HKD60,000,000 - 100 Research, development, production
REEER (BN ARAR HE - EREFAT 160,000,000 and sale of tobacco flavours &
fragrances in the PRC
RERHERRERER T8
Shanghai H&K Flavors & Fragrances Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB260,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing & sales of food flavours
HEEEAEERARAF W P8 BRARLT ARH260,000,0007 fragrances in the PRC
RERHERRER TE
Shanghai Huabao Biological Technology Co, Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RIMB10,000,000 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco raw
HEERLYHBERA A 200 hE - BREELT ARH10,000,0007 materil in the PRC
RERHEERRH 78
Smart Sino International Investment Holdings PRC, Limited liability company USD55,640,000 - 100 Investments holding in the PRC
(China) Co, Ltd hE ARALAT %7155,640,000 REBRH
ZEARRARR (PE)FRAAC LD
Shanghai Xiangyue Technology Development Co., Ltd  PRC, Limited liability company HKD10,000,000 - 100 Investments holding i the PRC
LEEHHRERERA hE - BREELT 710,000,007 REZR S
Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical Technology Co., Ltd. ~ PRC, Limited liability company RIMB30,000,000 - 51 Research, development, distribution
EFRBBLMERAERARN HE - BRELLA AKE30,000,0007 and retai of fragrances in the PRC
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. TEMBRAZFHE (&)
(CONTINUED) -
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation and issued/registered Ownership interest Principal activities and
Name kind of legal entity capital held by the Group% place of operation
ARALBER BRITEER/ AREBEN
L EEIREH AREREE BRER% IEXBREENY
Direct Indirect
E# 3
Yancheng City Chunzhu Aroma Co., Ltd PRC, Limited liability company RIVB6,000,000 - 100 Production and sales of aromatic raw
BimENERERDA B BREELT AB%6,000,0007C materials n the PRC

LERBEERN 7H

Yingtan Huabao Flavors & Fragrances Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RMB96,500,000 - 100 Production and sale of tobacco
EEERERARLEM P8 BRAFLT ABH96,500,0007C flavours & fragrances in the PRC
RERHERR T8

Yongzhou Shanxiang Flavour Co., Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company RIMB35,000,000 - 9414 Production and sale of flavours &

KMLBEHERAA hE - BRELLA AK35,000,0007 fragrances in the PRC
RERHERH T8

Yunnan Tianhong Flavor and Fragrance Co, Ltd. PRC, Limited liability company USD2,550,000 - 60 Production and sale of tabacco

EEERERERAT mE EREILT 72,550,000 flavours & fragrances in the PRC

TERBEERER +8
Zhaoging Perfumery Co,, Ltd. (Guangdong) PRC, Limited liability company RMB11,000,000 - 100 Manufacturing & sales of food flavours

RREERERAARAA hE - AREEAR ARE11,000,0007T 8 fragrances in the PRC
EERBERRER 1E
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Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

(a)

Material non-controlling interests

The total comprehensive income attributable to
non-controlling interests for the year ended 31 December
2021 is RMB219,409,000 (2020: RMB250,472,000),
of which RMB212,381,000 (2020: RMB245,651,000)
is from Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Ltd. and
its subsidiaries (“Huabao Flavours Group”). The
non-controlling interests in other subsidiaries are not
material.

Set out below are the summarised financial information
of subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that
are material to the Group:

Summarised consolidated statement of financial
position of Huabao Flavours Group

e B WK

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

33. TEMB AT ZFHE (&)

(a) EXRFEFMEEDS

B E2021F12A31BIEFE - 3
THIEESEEEE RS REA
AR #219,409,0007T (20204 :
A R #250,472,0007T) @ Edh Rk H
EEEBROERARRENBA
Al (EEROER]) 2 EEH M4
EEELEEERFIABEEARE
212,381,0007T (20204 : AR
245,651,0007T) ° R E b K /B 2 &)
RIFEIE SR T E KX ©

AT HIIARE B A B AR IEZE I
BENMBEARNMKEERRBE

EHEROEE 2GRSV BRRKRMY
3

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2021 2020
20215 20204

Current mE
Assets BE 6,295,078 6,612,514
Liabilities =i (532,664) (476,740)
Total current net assets MEEEHLE 5,762,414 6,135,774
Non-current JERED
Assets BE 2,094,057 1,734,214
Liabilities afE (19,569) (20,140)
Total non-current net assets ERBEELTE 2,074,488 1,714,074
Net assets EEFH 7,836,902 7,849,848
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Notes to the Consolidated LEMBHmRME
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 33. TEMBARZHFE (&)
(CONTINUED) -
(a) Material non-controlling interests (Continued) (a) EXRFEEHIMER (E)
Summarised consolidated income statement and EEROEBAZGARBERRES
consolidated statement of comprehensive income 2HEHRERBE

of Huabao Flavours Group

Year ended 31 December

BEZ12A31BLEE

2021 2020

20215 2020%F

Revenue o 1,941,375 2,094,460
Profit before income tax & F51 A & T 1,181,624 1,388,767
Income tax expense FriSi & A (158,066) (188,839)
Profit for the year REZ AN 1,023,558 1,199,928
Other comprehensive income Hi2mEmkas (34,776) (34,075)
Total comprehensive income FHEKEREE 988,782 1,165,853

Total comprehensive income allocated to DT IEE S R H

non-controlling interests 2HENERTE 212,381 245,651
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests [ 3£ 12 | 14 4 25 R 15 2 A% 7] 14,330 14,838
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

(@) Material non-controlling interests (Continued)

e B WK

(B BAIEAES -
33. XEME AR ZFH1E (&)

Summarised consolidated statement of cash flows

of Huabao Flavours Group

A B AARETTIIR)

(a) EARFEFMEES (F)
EAROVEESRERESREREE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A318LEE
2021 2020
2021F 2020%F
Cash flows from operating activities RETHZHERE
Cash generated from operations BEELEZRS 1,382,699 1,306,178
Income tax paid B ATSH (133,862) (217,583)
Net cash generated from operating CEEREL VIR TR
activities 1,248,837 1,088,595
Net cash (used in)/generated from KEEE (A, EE
investing activities 2R e HE (1,347,738) 1,553,939
Net cash used in financing activities BEEBFTA IR S F (1,011,263) (1,217,118)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and ReRESZEEY
cash equivalents CR2) EinEE (1,110,164) 1,425,416
Cash and cash equivalents at the FHzRekBReEEY
beginning of the year 3,395,528 1,994,785
Effects of currency translation on BEEBREHT SR
cash and cash equivalents ReEBYNTE (14,332) (24,673)
Cash and cash equivalents at RERZREER
the end of the year REEEY 2,271,032 3,395,528

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k AR 2 7] 2021 Annual Report &5



Notes to the Consolidated e SRR M
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 34. KATHBMBARR KR FEES
RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY s
Statement of financial position of the Company P NUNETE: LR 3 O

As at 31 December

M®12A318
Note 2021 2020
Bt & 20214 20204
ASSETS BE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RIB AT ZIRE 1,017,981 1,047,913
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables B 5 K H b fE YW IE 45,363 1,715
Amounts due from subsidiaries NG E/ S 5,365,652 5,677,138
Cash and cash equivalents RekReEEY 755,865 384,434
6,166,880 6,063,287
Total assets HWEE 7,184,861 7,111,200
EQUITY s
Capital and reserves attributable to &KX T #EFFF A
the Company’s equity holders BiERAR #E
Share capital fi& AR 328,619 318,636
Reserves fF (@ 2,095,783 480,489
Retained earnings REBEF 4,276,355 3,600,049
Total equity RS 6,700,757 4,399,174
LIABILITIES =K
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Borrowings EX = 1,692,855
Current liabilities REBEE
Borrowings = 310,688 488,151
Amounts due to subsidiaries N NGIE 171,390 526,876
Trade and other payables B 5 R E MR A 2,026 4,144
484,104 1,019,171
Total liabilities waE 484,104 2,712,026
Total equity and liabilities HEZNREE 7,184,861 7,111,200
The statement of financial position of the Company was RANTZ BB REE R20228E3 425
approved by the Board of Directors on 25 March 2022 and HREBEERIAETRE -
was signed on its behalf.
Mr. XIA Liqun Ms. CHOY Man Har
EREEE BEXBEzE
Director Director

EF EF
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(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (RS EREPEN ME2EHUARETLIIR)
34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 3. XRAMNMBRRARRZABES
| RESERVE MOVEMENTS OF THE COMPANY (#8)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Reserve movements of the Company (a) NAIREES
Capital ~ Share-hased Currency
Contributed Share Capital redemption  compensation Other translation
surplus  premium reserve reserve reserve  reserves reserve Total
NRBA
EXEE EBK L4

R4E8  ROEE  ARER it hefRE  AbEE  AEEE &3t

At 1 January 2020 R20205181A 29,853 429,861 2411 4760 907 39,120 (20915) 752,997
Share-based payment R BERNXH

- value of consultancy service -ERRBEE - - - - % - - 9%
Share-based payment R BERNXH

-~ share options lapsed -BRM BRE - - - - (1,005) 1,005 - -
Currency translation differences EHaEER - - - - - - (272606)  (272,606)
At 31 December 2020 20208125318 296,853 429,861 241 4760 - 40,125 (293,521) 480,489
At 1 January 2021 R202151818 296,853 429,861 2 4,760 - 40,125 (293,521) 430,489
Issuance of new shares ok - 1753905 - - - - - 1753905
Currency translation differences ERpEER - - - - - - (138611)  (138,611)
At 31 December 2021 R2021%128318 296,853 2,183,766 21 4,760 - 40,125 (432,132) 2,095,783
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

e M BmRME

(BR=BEAEIN  AESBHUARETTIIR)

35. EEMAFEMER

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments () EERTHREAZHE
The remuneration of each director and chief executive of SEENTHAENEZE20214F
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2021 and K2020FE12A31BIEEE 28 £
2020 are set out below: /N
Year ended 31 December 2021 Year ended 31 December 2020
HEWNENRNALEE HE00E128318 LEE
Employer's Employer's
contribution ~ Share- contribution ~ Share-
topension  based  Other topension  based  Other
Name of directors Note  Fees Salaries Bonus  scheme benefits benefits  Total Fees Salaries  Bonus  scheme benefits benefis  Total
Ex K% =)
RER AER SRR RER
EEfS WE  He  He B4 HEMR  2FEA HeEA 0 &F%  we He KL HARR BT EMER fE
Executive directors: ~ #1TEE
Ms. Chu Lam Yiu AMELL ()~ 16,606 - 16,606 - - - 33212 17,786 - 17,78 - - T3 36309
Mr. Poon ChiuKwok ~ JERREI %4 - 2,09 - 1410 - - 3502 - 1,601 - 1,083 - - 2,684
Mr. Xia Liqun EfERE - 1473 3815 15 1,870 - 13233 - 625 3557 16 156 - 99%4
M. Lam Ka Yu REFLE 3,487 - - - - - 3887 373% - - - - - 373%
Independentnon-  BUFHTEE:
executive directors:
Mr. Lee Luk Shiu SHkEE 199 - - - - - 199 213 - - - - -
Ms. Ma Yunyan MERTL 199 - - - - - 19 213 - - - - -2
Mr.WuChiKeng — ElTE%E i) 149 - - - - - w3 - - - - -
Mr. YAN Jonathan Jun  Jonathan Jun Yan
RE 199 - - - - - 199 213 - - - - - 213
20839 9,565 20,481 1425 1,870 - 54180 22373 70826 21343 1,09 156 737 53534

(i) Ms. Chu Lam Yiu is also the chief executive officer of the
Company.

(i)~ Mr. Wu Chi Keung resigned on 30 September 2021.

No directors waived any emoluments during the year
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no
emoluments had been paid by the Group to the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as
a compensation for loss of office.

() KMBLLIHREAEENEFERT
= o

(i)  BAESREER2021F9 A30HRM »

A Z20214F K2020F12A8318 1k
FE G BEISWHETMENE -

#H E20214F K2020512 8318 1t
FE AEBENERZEEL NG
YEB DA £ B /Y 428 sk 1F A& BB
HIE -

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& B2t AR A7 2021 Annual Report %3k

257



258

Notes to the Consolidated

Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

35. BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

)

Directors’ retirement benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no
retirement benefits paid to the directors of the Company
by a defined benefit pension plan operated by the
Group in respect of the director’s services as a director
of the Company and its subsidiaries or other services in
connection with the management of the affairs of the
Company or its subsidiary undertaking.

Directors’ termination benefit

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and
2020, no payments to the directors of the Company
as compensation for the early termination of the
appointment.

Consideration provided to third parties for
making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
Company did not provide any consideration to any third
party for making available director’s services.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no
loans, quasi-loans or other dealings in favour of directors
of the Company, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors.

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

Save as disclosed in Note 32, during the year ended
31 December 2021 and 2020, no other significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to
the Group’s business to which the Company was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated)

36. Events occurring after the reporting period

(a)

In January 2022, the Company has been informed by
Huabao Flavours that Ms. Chu, the chairlady, CEO,
executive Director and controlling shareholder of the
Company, and Mr. LAM Ka Yu (“Mr. Lam”), the son of
Ms. Chu, the Co-chairman and executive Director of the
Company, and a director of Huabao Flavours, are under
investigation for suspected disciplinary violations and
are placed under residential surveillance at designated
locations (the above events are collectively referred as
“the Event”). For details, please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 24 January 2022, 26 January
2022 and 27 January 2022 respectively.

Up to the date of this report, the Company has not been
provided with any details of the nature of the suspected
violations of Ms. Chu and Mr. Lam that were being
investigated. The production and business operation of
the Group remains normal. Further announcement(s) will
be made to keep the shareholders of the Company and
the public informed of the development in this matter in
due course.

In response to the Event, the Group conducted a review
of the bank loan contracts that had not expired as at
the date of this report and found that there were loan
contracts of approximately RMB220 million (the "Loans")
which contained clauses referring to the occurrence of
similar events and that such occurrence "may endanger
or impair the lender’s rights and interests under the
Loan Contracts" or "may affect the performance of the
borrower’s obligations under the loan contracts" and
entitles the bank the right to demand early repayment.
The Group has not received any form of early repayment
notice from the relevant banks. The Group has sufficient
cash readily available for repayment of the Loans
and even if the Group were to repay the Loans early,
this would not adversely affect the Group’s overall
operations.

On 8 March 2022, Huabao Flavours further acquired
27% equity interests in Shanghai Yifang from
independent third parties for a total consideration of
RMB121.5 million in cash (the “Acquisition”). After
completion of the Acquisition, Shanghai Yifang would
become an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company and the accounts of Shanghai Yifang would
be included in the scope of the Company’s consolidated
financial statements.
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36. REWREE

(a)

(b)

RABINR2022F 18 I EEER
MEBEAN ARRZER  BEH
TE HTESRZERRERL
T MERZETZ2RF - NAF 28
BER HTESREERNHES
MEFEE ((MHREE]D EFRER
NESREZIEIURASES I
WHITHETEMEREE VA LE
HHEBIZEN] HBEBLER
N A BIA202249F1 248 ~ 2022
F1H26H K2022F1827HHIA

%o

BEARSHIL AABLARER
HEBRLE MM ELEERETH
EMSHELRFENIEE Z E [
B AKRENEEMEBELE B A
REFLEE - ARARKELE-—FR
T AHEARARBBRREARAL
ERFEENER -

HEZEE AEEHEIEARS
BHEABHNRITERARETR
E BEAEPHEHARE22ET
([ZEEF]DNEREGRANFRK
HMUZEHNBEATESDER
RRIEBEEERAEERESR THE
IR ERERAERER
ARTEKHEITIME TRTAE
EESRIRRERNGER - BATASE
E R A Y B BRI R T EM R AR
AEFEBN - AEEMEXREHERE
ARERARNEEZSER  BFEAR
EEFZRAEEXSER BN
TEHAEEEREBERBK T
@,

2022463888 F EFERMHUAR
BI215B LR B HEMB LS
ZHE— W EBZEF27%E
("UREE") - EURBE TR 1R - BB
K AERQABNEEZEIEEEWNE
A EBEANEEBEMALRAD
RIZAHU SRR EE -

Huabao International Holdings Limited =& B2t AR A7 2021 Annual Report %3k

259



Five Year Financial Summary LFEHBRE

(All amount in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S BEHEPEN  MESEHUARET LY
RESULTS E
= Nine Months
Year ended ended Year ended Year ended  Year ended
31 March 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2018 2019 2020 2021

HZE2018F #HZE2018%F HZE2019F #HZE2020%F #HE20215F
38318 12A318 12A318 12A318 12A31H

WFE LEE A H&FE FEFE IEFE
Revenue BT 3,628,116 3,058,707 4,241,040 3,854,058 3,882,683
Gross Profit EFI 2,463,927 1,949,805 2,745,410 2,442,407 2,296,662
Profit before income tax T EI &R 1,859,553 1,374,957 1,745,817 948,821 1,147,377
Income tax expenses FTiS % (349,687) (320,805) (372,076) (280,382) (251,593)
Profit for the year RE[E B A 1,396,120 1,190,991 1,373,741 668,439 895,784
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EENREE
As at As at As at As at As at
31 March 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2018 2018 2019 2020 2021

N20184 R2018% R2019% MN20204F 7202145
3A318 12A318 12A318 12A318 12A31H

Total assets BEE 14,300,910 19,175,430 17,963,635 17,678,054 18,025,129
Total liabilities waE (1,182,573)  (5,430,012)  (4,364,162)  (3,983,805)  (2,306,310)
Net assets FEE 13,118,337 13,745,418 13,599,473 13,694,249 15,718,819
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Five Year Financial Summary LFHBRE

(All amounts in RMB thousands unless otherwise stated) (S BEHEPEN  MESEHUARET LY
OTHER FINANCIAL INFORMATION H 1 B 7 BB
As at As at As at As at As at =
31 March 31 December 31 December 31 December = 31 December
2018 2018 2019 2020 2021
20184 20184 420194 20204 20215
3H31H 12A31H 12H31H 12H31H 12A31H
Earnings per share, basic BhEF  EX
(RMB cents) (ANREED) 40.66 32.75 35.78 13.46 21.70
Earnings per share, diluted SREF - #E
(RMB cents) (NRED) 40.66 32.75 35.78 13.46 21.70
Aggregated dividend per share &2 F 25k
(HKD cents) £ (L) 253 18.8 18.8 9.0 8.4
Aggregated special dividend BR2F R
per share (HKD cents) B B (G&AL) 5.7 18.9 - 6.0 =
Financial year-end share price WHEEHEER
(HKD) & ET) 5.20 333 2.86 10.68 14.40
EBIT ratio EBIT= 47.7% 42.1% 40.8% 23.4% 28.7%
EBITDA ratio EBITDAZR 52.4% 46.9% 47.0% 43.4% 43.5%
ROE ROE 12.0% 8.8% 9.4% 3.5% 5.2%
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Glossary

AGM
Board
Broad Far

Broad Far Group

Bye-laws
CEO

CG Code

CGU

Chemactive

China, Mainland or
PRC

Company or Huabao
Director(s)
Executive Director(s)

FCG

FCPA (Aust.)

HKFCG

Group or Huabao
Group

Guangdong Jiahao

Guangdong Jinke

Guangdong Jinye

Guangdong Jinye
Group

Guangdong Tobacco

Guangdong Tobacco
Company

Annual general meeting
The board of directors of the Company
Broad Far Limited

Broad Far and its subsidiaries and related
companies

Bye-laws of the Company
Chief Executive Officer

Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules

Cash-generating unit

Chemactive Investments Limited

The People’s Republic of China

Huabao International Holdings Limited
The director(s) of the Company
Executive director(s) of the Company

Fellow member of The Chartered
Governance Institute

Fellow member of CPA Australia Ltd.

Fellow member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute

The Company and its subsidiaries

Guangdong Jiahao Foodstuff Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Jinke Reconstituted Tobacco
Leaves Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Golden Leaf Technology
Development Co., Ltd.

Guangdong Jinye and its subsidiaries and
affiliated companies

China Tobacco Guangdong Industrial Co.,
Ltd.

Guangdong Tobacco and its subsidiaries
and related companies
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Glossary

Guangdong Zhaoging
Guangzhou Hua Fang

HKD or HK$

Hong Kong or HKSAR

HNB

Hong Kong Stock
Exchange

Hongta Tobacco

Hongta Tobacco Group

Huabao Flavours

Huabao Flavours
Company

Huabao Kongque

INEDs

Interim Period

Jiahao

Jiahao Foodstuff

Jiangxi Xianghai

Listing Rules

Model Code

Owada Flavours

Zhaoqing Perfumery Co., Ltd (Guangdong)
Guangzhou Hua Fang Tobacco Flavors Ltd.

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the People’s Republic of China

Heat-not-burn

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Hongta Tobacco (Group) Co., Ltd.

Hongta Tobacco and its subsidiaries and
related companies

Huabao Flavours & Fragrances Co., Ltd., a
joint stock limited company established
in the PRC with limited liability and an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company

Huabao Flavours and its subsidiaries and
related companies

Shanghai H&K Flavors & Fragrances Co.,
Ltd.

Independent Non-executive Director(s) of
the Company

For the six months ended 30 June 2021

Jiahao Foodstuff Limited and its subsidiaries

Jiahao Foodstuff Limited

Jiangxi Xianghai Biological Technology Co.,
Ltd.

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Main Board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in
Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules

Owada Flavours (Guangzhou) Co., Ltd.
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Glossary

Pandemic
Reporting Period

R&D
RMB

RTL

Scheme Mandate Limit

SFO

Shareholder(s)

Share(s) or ordinary

share(s)

Shenzhen Tobacco

Shenzhen Stock
Exchange

STMA
u.s.

usb

Weizhijia
Weizhijia Group

Xiamen Amber

Yunnan Hehe

Yunnan Tianhong

Novel Coronavirus Pneumonia pandemic

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Research and development
Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC
Reconstituted Tobacco Leaves

The Maximum number of Shares in respect
of which share options may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and
any other share option scheme(s) of the
Company

the Securities and Futures Ordinance,
Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong

Shareholder(s) of the Company

Ordinary share(s) of HKDO0.10 each in the
capital of the Company

Shenzhen Tobacco Industrial Co., Ltd

Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the PRC

State Tobacco Monopoly Administration
United States of America

US dollars, the lawful currency of the
United States of America

Yingtan Weizhijia Food Co., Ltd.
Weizhijia and its subsidiaries

Xiamen Amber Daily Chemical Technology
Co., Ltd.

Yunnan Hehe (Group) Co., Ltd.

Yunnan Tianhong Flavor & Fragrance Co.,
Ltd.

Huabao International Holdings Limited =8 BIFX 12k AR 2 7] 2021 Annual Report &5

ey

AR

ZiE/ e
fin & I& 18

&

Bt 3
AR
BEER

FEIEERE

EHEEE
fix 1

R

P f7 =X B A

RINEE

RN 75

R B
BEH
S
e

K2R
K2 REE
EFI3% 31

i
Ft
op
=

A
=
b
M

MAEMRRSHREST

B Z=2021F12A8318 1
ZEE

MR RERE

AR HBEUEEEE

BEEE

SRR AT & R R B
fll 2N 2 AR B At &R
BB ERR BB
ER

EBEDESTIZEEEFR
BB &)
ViN/NECTd 353

KRB ASFREESDE
0.107L Ay & @R

FYEETXBRAEMERA
R BRYIE 75 R 5 P

BREEZEER
XA RE

Xt XBEDEAEEN

EBERZREmMBRAF
R Z K N E 8 A A
BRI EAERXBRO AR

A

EFAM(RE) BRNHBR

NC]

EHREERERAR



Huabao International Holdings Limited
=ZEEREREBER DA



	封面
	目錄
	公司資料
	財務摘要
	集團簡介及企業文化
	總裁報告書
	管理層討論及分析
	董事及高級管理層履歷
	企業管治報告
	投資者關係報告
	董事會報告
	獨立核數師報告
	綜合財務狀況表
	綜合收益表
	綜合全面收益表
	綜合權益變動表
	綜合現金流量表
	綜合財務報表附註
	五年財務摘要
	詞彙
	封底



